Agenda
For enquiries on this agenda, please contact:
Marian Morrison, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 0208 547 4623/email;
marian.morrison@kingston.gov.uk

Health and Wellbeing Board
Date:

Thursday 28 March 2019

Time:

7:00 pm

Place:

Guildhall, Kingston Upon Thames

Members of the Board
Councillors:
Councillor Liz Green (Co-Chair), Councillor Rowena Bass, Councillor Ed Fram,
Councillor Dave Ryder-Mills, Councillor Margaret Thompson and Councillor Diane White
Representatives from Kingston CCG, GP Chambers, Healthwatch and the
Voluntary Sector:
Dr Naz Jivani (Co- Chair), Dr Phil Moore, Dr Peter Smith, Dr Liz Meerabeau, Patricia
Turner
Council Officers (non voting):
Iona Lidington (Lead Officer for HWB), Pauline Maddison and Stephen Taylor
Advisory Members (non voting):
Siobhan Clarke – Your Healthcare, Tonia Michaelides – Kingston CCG,
Dr Mark Potter– South West London and St George’s Mental Health Trust,
Jane Wilson – Kingston Hospital NHS Trust, Gwen Kennedy – NHS England,
Dr Anthony Hughes – Kingston GP Chambers

Everyone is welcome to attend the meeting
This agenda is available to view on: www.kingston.gov.uk
You can also access this agenda through the Modern.gov app or by scanning the QR code
with your smartphone.

2

3

4

Agenda
1.

Questions
A 30 minute question and answer session at the start of the meeting –advance
notice of questions is encouraged.

2.

Declarations of Interest
Members of the Board are invited to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests
and any other non-pecuniary interests (personal interests) relevant to items on
this agenda

3.

Apologies for Absence and attendance of Substitute Members

4.

Minutes
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2018

5.

Partners' Updates and Work Programme

Appendix A

To note the updates and work programme
6.

The Local Health and Care Plan - Verbal Update
Julia Travers, Director of Commissioning, Kingston CCG will give a
verbal update on progress

7.

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
Transformation Plan

Appendix B

To endorse the SEND Transformation Plan as a working plan for
publication on the Local Offer and Council Websites
8.

Ofsted and CQC local Area SEND Inspection - Written Statement Appendix C
of Action
To update the Board on progress with the Written Statement of Action

9.

Board Membership - representation of Children's Services
To consider a proposal to strengthen the Board representation of
Children’s Services

Appendix D

5
10.

Urgent Items Authorised by the Co-Chair

11.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

The following resolution is included as a standard item which will only be relevant if any
exempt matter is to be considered at the meeting for which the Committee wish to
resolve to exclude the press and public:
To exclude the public from the meeting under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it is likely that exempt information, as defined
in paragraph xx of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act, would be disclosed and the public
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.

6

Welcome to this meeting
The following information explains the way some things are done at the meeting and some of
the procedures.
Information about the Health and Wellbeing Board
The Health and Social Care Act gives Health and Wellbeing Boards statutory duties to
encourage integrated working and to exercise the functions of a local authority and its partner
clinical commissioning groups. In addition the Act permits a local authority to arrange for a
Health and Wellbeing Board to exercise any functions that are exercisable by the authority.
The Health and Wellbeing Board will work collectively to ensure that people in Kingston
experience services of the highest quality and that promote their good health and wellbeing. It
will maintain a focus on outcomes across the wide range of areas that impact on health and
wellbeing. Through its strategic oversight role it will promote integrated working and strategy
development to improve health and wellbeing and narrow the gaps in health inequalities.
Accessibility





All meetings have access for people who may have mobility difficulties. If there are stairs,
a lift or stairlift is available. Disabled parking spaces are available on site.
Toilet facilities will be easily accessible from the meeting room.
For people who are deaf or have hearing impairments, there is an induction loop
(depending on the building, this may only be available in the first 2 or 3 rows).
A large print copy of the agenda can be requested in advance.

Emergency evacuation arrangements - If the fire alarm sounds, please leave the building by
the nearest exit. If you require assistance please remain seated and an Officer will assist you
from the building.
Recording of the meeting - This meeting will be recorded and the recording will be available
on the web site (www.kingston.gov.uk) with the agenda and minutes.
Filming - Residents and journalists/media wishing to film meetings are permitted to do so but
are asked to give advance notice of this and respect any concerns expressed by people on
being filmed.
Information for members of the public - Details on access to the meeting, asking questions,
speaking on items, call in and other information are just after the list of items.
There is a Question Time of up to 30 minutes from 6:30pm – 7:00pm.
Running order - Items may be taken in a different order depending on the interests of the
members of the public present at the meeting. Please fill out a green form, available at the start
of the meeting, if you would like to request that a particular item is heard earlier.
Contact for further information - For further about Council Committees and meetings
please contact: Marian Morrison, Democratic Services Officer Tel: 0208 547 4623/email;
marian.morrison@kingston.gov.uk

A1

Appendix A

Health & Wellbeing Board
28 March 2018
Partners’ Update and the Board’s Work Programme
Public Health, Adult Social Care, Growth (Planning and Regeneration), Kingston CCG,
Kingston Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, South West London and St George’s Mental
Health Trust, Voluntary Sector (Kingston voluntary Action and Healthwatch)
Portfolio holder - Leader of the Council

Purpose
To alert the Board to emerging local and national policy and legislation, development
opportunities and useful resources, to provide updates on matters of interest and support
the Board with forward work planning.
●
●
●
●
●

Public Health
Kingston Clinical Commissioning Group
Kingston Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Healthwatch Kingston
Kingston Voluntary Action

The Board is asked to note this update and the work programme.

PUBLIC HEALTH
Health & Care Plan
1.

The Healthy and Safe Communities Team have been supporting the
development of the Kingston Health and Care Plan. This will set out the case for
transformation for local health and care services, what we know about local care
in relation to population needs, the engagement we have done with local
residents and an action plan based around a life-course approach. Following the
system workshop on 4th March 2019 we are leading the development of the
"Live Well" section which has priorities around supporting people to have good
physical and mental health, preventing ill health, management of long term
conditions and reducing health inequalities. We will also feed into the "Start well"
and "Age Well" sections being led by other teams. Kingston CCG will update the
Health & Wellbeing Board about overall progress with the plan at this evening’s
Health & Wellbeing Board. The action plan will be shared by the end of March for
system leaders to review. The overall Kingston Health and Care Plan will
ultimately be combined with Richmond's to form the overall plan for the Kingston
and Richmond Local Transformation Board.

Community Resilience Event
2.

A2

Kingston's South of the Borough neighbourhood ran a community resilience
workshop for residents on the 7th March 2019 which attracted 47 attendees. The
aim of the workshop was to inform residents of how they can work alongside
local services to be able to respond as a community to adverse events; as well
as looking for effective ways to engage with residents in emergency situations.
Partner agencies represented included the Environmental Agency, The
Metropolitan Police, The London Fire Brigade, London Ambulance Service, RBK
Emergency Planning and Connected Kingston (Kingston borough’s social
prescribing offer). We believe the event was the first of its kind in London and will
be evaluated in full to see if further events will be useful in other Kingston
neighbourhoods to build community resilience and help inform Community Plans
we are developing with residents later this year.
Mental Health: Funded Time To Change Hub

3.

As announced on the 25th February, Kingston has been named as one of eight
areas to receive funding to become a Time to Change hub. This will build on our
work to date on an unfunded hub to tackle mental health stigma locally and
change how we all think and act about mental health locally.

4.

Kingston will be provided with £25,000 funding. £15,000 will be used to
coordinate the activities of the hub and £10,000 for a Champions’ Fund, where
local people with lived experience of mental illness can bid for funding to run
stigma busting events and activities within their area. We are arranging a number
of training opportunities for local partners and champions to support our hub so
that we can support local champions to bid for the champions fund.

5.

In Kingston, the hub will be led by local champions working jointly with Kingston
Council as Time to Change hub host, Healthwatch Kingston as the Time to
Change Hub coordinator, Mind in Kingston and over 20 other local organisation
from the voluntary sector, the health service and businesses. For more
information about the Time to Change hub in Kingston visit
www.healthwatchkingston.org.uk/TTCkingston

6.

One of the priorities of the hub is employee mental health and a number of our
partners, are in the process of applying for the Time to Change employers
charter. We also worked in partnership with Time to change in our most recent
Student mental health conference to encourage local schools to sign up to time
to change. An evaluation of the event found that student found the talk by the
time to change champion at the conference one of the most helpful things.

7.

Partners already signed up to Kingston's hub include Camden and Islington
mental health trust (CANDI), Your Healthcare, Achieving for Children, Kingston
First, The Fircroft Trust, Kingston Voluntary Action, South West London and St
George's Mental Health NHS Trust, Hestia Housing & Support, YMCA London
South West, Kaleidoscope Kingston Recovery Hub, Staywell, Kingston Hospital,
Kingston and Richmond Clinical Commissioning Groups, Kingston LGBT Forum,
Kingston Churches Action on Homelessness, Balance CIC, Samaritans, Kingston

A3
Citizen’s Advice Bureau, Homestart Richmond, Kingston and Hounslow and Fast
Minds.

Connected Kingston Launch
8.

9.

10.

11.

The system-wide social prescribing model for Kingston, Connected Kingston,
was formally launched on Thursday 14th March on National Social prescribing
Day. The new Connected Kingston digital social prescribing platform was
celebrated as well as the 171 community champions who have been trained to
have asset-based conversations with community members and to support them
to use the platform to connect people to local community activities and services.
Kingston Voluntary Action held the first part of their annual conference to
promote and discuss Connected Kingston with voluntary and community sector
partners in the week running up to the launch. A social media campaign was also
promoted and launched Connected Kingston via the Council and voluntary sector
partners. The Connected Kingston Facebook Page launch post reached 473
people on National Social Prescribing day.
Controlling Migration Fund:
In 2017, we secured £338,528 Controlling Migration Funding from the MHCLG
for 10 (1 year) projects to deliver a range of integration projects for vulnerable
refugees and migrants with 5 partners reaching 429 beneficiaries and 46
volunteers to date.
In February 2019, we secured further funding from the Controlling Migration Fund
totalling £164,443 to reach 584 vulnerable refugees and migrants and 26
volunteers to continue the Migrant Advocacy and Healthy Eating projects and for
new projects such as the English language classes at the New England Seafood
Company, the Refugee Employment Project and targeted activities for North and
South Koreans.
Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme (VPRS)
We have resettled 37 individuals to date since March 2016. We are expecting a
family of 4 in May which will bring the total to 41 individuals.

KINGSTON CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
Moving Forward Together – CCGs in south west London, merger
discussions
12.

There are a number of new developments, both nationally and locally, that mean
it’s a good time for CCGs in south west London to review the way we work:
● We have been working together as six CCGs for over a year and we think we
can do things better together, for the benefit of our patients
● The national NHS Long Term Plan and its emphasis on the new primary care
networks, and the indication that NHS England expects to see CCGs coming
together in each STP area. For SW London this means that we are exploring
what functions we could hold across SWL as a single CCG
● Strengthening of local health and care partnerships, and the development of
the six local health and care plans.

A4

13.

CCG governing bodies across south west London have met to talk about how we
approach this change. A key part of the discussions were that we should
delegate to borough level, to ensure local accountability and delivery. We also
need to keep a clear focus on how we all deliver better health and care for the
people in each of our boroughs, and move more resource to frontline health and
care services.

14.

CCG chairs and the south west London management team have proposed and
agreed a series of principles, and these can be grouped into the following
headings:
●
●
●
●
●

15.

We will continue to be a clinically-led organisation
We will maintain our focus on today
We will streamline how we operate
We will design an organisation with the future in mind
We will move forward together, and engage people in how we
do this

It was also agreed:
● We needed to begin conversations with each GP membership with an initial
case for change
● That the GP membership, and CCG staff would be involved in designing the
way we work going forward
● We would create a governance oversight committee which will include lay
members
● A leadership forum would be created for senior CCG staff
CCG Time to Change pledge

16.

Sarah Blow, Accountable Officer, signed a Time to Change pledge on behalf of
Kingston and Richmond CCGs, on 26 February at Thames House.

17.

The campaign is run by Mind and Rethink Mental Illness, and by signing up, we
are demonstrating our commitment to change how we think and act about mental
health and ensure that colleagues who are facing these problems feel supported
in our workplace. We have recruited 13 staff volunteers as mental health
champions who will receive dedicated training in the next few months. We are
also planning a range of activities which include, mental health workshops,
mindfulness sessions, training for line managers and healthy workplace
initiatives. We have also published a range of resources and information on our
staff intranet site.
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework ratings for mental health,
dementia, learning disabilities and diabetes

18.

The CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework provides information to
healthcare organisations, professionals and patients about how their local NHS
services are performing and is used by national teams to drive organisational
improvement through focused support.

A5

Service Area

Kingston

Cancer

Outstanding

Maternity

Outstanding

Mental Health

Good

Dementia

Good

Learning Disabilities

Requires Improvement

Diabetes

Requires Improvement

19.

Learning disabilities: this rating looks at reliance on specialist inpatient care for
people with a learning disability and/or autism, the proportion of people with a
learning disability on the GP register receiving an annual health check and the
proportion of the population on a GP learning disability register. We will be
appointing a GP clinical lead who will develop and support delivery of a
programme of work to drive improvement in this area.

20.

Diabetes: this rating measures treatment targets and also the availability of
structured education programmes for people with diabetes. We are developing a
plan to improve recording of diabetes education programmes in primary care.

21.

Further information can be found here:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/clinical-priority
-areas/
Cancer outcomes – annual assessment outcome for CCG commissioned
cancer services

22.

The annual assessment outcomes for CCG commissioned cancer services
2018/19 for Kingston Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Royal Marsden NHS
Foundation Trust and St George’s Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust have been
shared.

23.

I am pleased to report that ‘routine surveillance’ has been the outcome for all
three trusts. This confirms that the services are either 100% compliant with no
risks identified, or for services that have not reached 100% compliance, the
regional teams have identified that this is not a material issue.
Macmillan GP for Kingston and Richmond

24.

Dr Shanaz Meeran, GP partner at Sheen Lane Medical Centre, has been
appointed as Macmillan GP for Kingston and Richmond. She will promote the
priorities of our cancer strategy to ensure that cancer is detected in its early
stages and that support is available for patients who are living with and beyond
cancer.

25.

Dr Meeran is an established GP trainer with an interest in cancer, education and
dermatological disorders. Dr Meeran hopes to make a real difference to patient
care by supporting GPs in timely diagnosis and appropriate referral. She will also
seek to improve communication with secondary care teams.

A6
Public sector equality duties annual report

26.

At its January meeting, the Executive Management Team approved the CCG’s
annual equalities duty report, which highlights the progress made by the CCG in
delivering its statutory equality duties during 2018.

27.

The Equality Act 2010 requires the CCG, annually, to publish information,
demonstrating its compliance with section 149(1) of the Equality Act 2010.

28.

The report content builds on last year’s and includes narrative on workforce data
in relation to equalities, evidence of engagement activities reaching groups with
protected characteristics and equalities information in relation to key work areas
e.g. commissioning, safeguarding and primary care.

29.

Equality work planned for 2019 includes:
1. Review effectiveness of our shared process for equality analysis.
2. Identify opportunities to run an equality delivery audit across both CCGs and
where appropriate with a local provider(s).
3. Explore sharing staff equality training and development resources with local
NHS partners.
4. Consider incorporating training on equality duty in the GP education half
days, one for clinicians and one for practice managers on equality duty.
5. Review our community outreach programme to ensure the focus is on
patients and local people who face barriers to who face specific barriers to
being involved in our work and whose specific needs must be considered.
6. Implement the workforce disability equality standard.
Commitment to improving end of life care

30.

GP practices in the borough will now be able to display a ‘daffodil mark’ as a sign
of commitment to improving end of life care, as part of a new partnership
between the Royal College of GPs and the terminal illness charity Marie Curie.

31.

Dr Catherine Millington-Sanders, South West London Lead for End of Life Care,
has been part of the team working on this.

32.

The mark, synonymous with the charity, is based on a new set of criteria called
the Daffodil Standards – a set of eight quality improvement statements designed
to support primary care teams in delivering care to patients living with an
advanced, serious illness or at the end of their lives, and their loved ones. By
adopting the Standards, GP practices commit to making improvements in at least
three of eight core aspects of care each year, with the aim of having reviewed all
of them after three years.
Connecting your Care

33.

Health and social care providers are working to improve the way they connect
care for patients across south west London.

34.

For people registered with a GP in Kingston, Connecting your Care will be joining
up GP and hospital records for four south west London hospitals, so that GPs,
along with doctors and nurses, will be able to immediately see important

A7
information about their patients through a secure system, to help them make
more informed decisions about their care.

35.

The four hospitals that are linked into the system are:
○
○
○
○

Kingston Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Croydon Health Services NHS Trust
St George’s Healthcare NHS Trust
Epsom & St Helier University Hospitals

36.

In the future, we will also be working with other health and social care providers
to share a more detailed care record for patients across south west London. This
will include the treatment they receive from community NHS services, mental
health services and some social care services.

37.

Materials to support the launch are available in GP practices and a programme of
media and social media activity is planned. Patients can opt out of Connecting
your Care by visiting www.swlondon.nhs.uk/connectingyourcare and
downloading the opt-out form. Paper copies of the forms have also been sent to
GP practices and the PALS teams within the participating hospitals.
Finance Update

38.

Highlights from the Month 10 Finance Report include:
● Kingston CCG expects to meet all financial targets, as at month 10, including
the planned surplus of £1.06m.
● The CCG plans to meet the Mental Health Investment Standard, increasing
mental health by 3.5% in 2018/19.

KINGSTON HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
March 2019

39.

This paper provides the Health and Wellbeing with an update on performance
and key risks at the Trust, in particular
● Winter pressures and the impact on performance
● Financial performance
● Workforce recruitment and retention in some specific areas and long term
supply
QUALITY AND PERFORMANCE
Operational Performance Targets

40.

The Trust achieved the RTT and performance targets for February despite the
challenging Winter pressure. There was a notable rise in admissions in February
that created some challenges around patient flow and in particular bed
availability. Some escalation beds to manage the increased activity were
required and staff worked effectively to discharge early in the day to ensure the
fewest number of beds were needed. Despite the rise in attendance and
admissions the emergency care performance was 2% better than same time last

A8
year. Good performance in ambulance turnaround times releasing crews in a
timely way to be able to response to emergency calls were also maintained.

41.

Cancer performance remains in line with national targets.

42.

Mortality rates remain consistently low with a January SHMI of 0.82.

43.

Audit of the WHO Surgical Safety Checklist, a nationally mandated intervention
to deliver safe surgery has demonstrated an improvement in 2018/19 as
compared to 2016/17. Results show 100% compliance with the checklist (2016/7
– 95.7%) and 99.6% compliance with post theatre list debrief 99.6% (2016/7
83.5%).
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE and Estate
Finance Position - Month 10

44.

The Trust financial forecast is that the £6m deficit Control Total for 2018/19 will
be achieved.

45.

In addition to closely monitoring our non-elective performance, and the
associated cost pressures, the most significant financial risks to the year-end
position relate to further over-performance against the plan.
Mental Health Assessment Unit

46.

In December 2018, the Trust applied for, and received, £3.3m of funding to
establish a Mental Health Assessment Unit within the Emergency Department.
This is now open and is providing a much improved service for patients
presenting to the Trust with an acute mental health issue whether alongside
physical health issue or not.
Fire-safety Works

47.

The fire prevention works continue and significant improvements have been
made in several areas across the Trust. It is expected that these works will
complete in the 2019/20 financial year.
WORKFORCE
Workforce Targets

48.

The Trusts Workforce KPIs remain strong. At February the position was:
●

Vacancies 6.7% against target of 6%

● Turnover 14.4 against target of 15.75%
49.

The results of the Staff Survey have been published with very positive scores for
the Trust which is now ranked 7th amongst the Picker group of Acute Trusts
(15th last year); the national rankings are still awaited.

A9

KINGSTON VOLUNTARY ACTION
KVA Health Conference 6th March
50.

Our fifth health conference took place on 6th March 2019 and looked at two areas
of our work, Connected Kingston and food poverty.
Connected Kingston

51.

in the run up to the launch of National social prescribing day, 14th March, at the
conference we reflected on the progress since our previous health conference in
April 2017 when we first looked at the Connect –Well model from Mid Essex. The
progress we have made

52.

At the conference it is was reported that Community Champion training has been
delivered to 180 staff across the borough including council staff teams, GP
practice staff as well as voluntary and community organisations. Training is being
delivered by KVA staff as well as RBK staff.

53.

Over 130 services are now listed on the digital tool.

54.

For KVA, we are now looking at how we maintain the momentum around
Connected Kingston, how the digital tool is developed further and how to raise
awareness of Connected Kingston across the borough. There are opportunities
to develop Connected Kingston and Social Prescribing in Kingston through
working with CCG colleagues on the development of Primary Care Networks and
the NHS Long Term Plan.

55.

KVA together with colleagues from Public Health attended the first Community
Resilience Workshop meeting at Southborough School on 7th March 2019 to
promote the Connected Kingston service and we are looking at other
opportunities to publicise the service.
Food Poverty

56.

At the health conference we presented a report on food poverty in Kingston, ‘Food
for Thought’ - Food insecurity in 21st century Kingston We heard from several
local organisations on the work they are doing in the borough to address food
poverty and insecurity.

57.

‘Food for Thought’ - Food insecurity in 21st century Kingston is the result of a
range of engagement activities with several local voluntary and community
organisations and their beneficiaries during the second half of 2018. The plan

A10
was written and from the plan four main aims have emerged, which if
implemented, would make a difference to the lives of Kingston residents
experiencing food insecurity:

1. To develop a consistent, co-ordinated, strategic, co-production approach
that links to new and existing initiatives locally (e.g. Connected Kingston,
Trailblazers, Healthy Start, Foodbank etc.)
2. To explore how the underlying causes of food insecurity can be
challenged.
3. To develop innovative, sustainable ways to build food security to improve
the health of residents in the borough.
4. To address the issues facing vulnerable and disadvantaged groups who
are at risk of experiencing food insecurity.
58.

The plan also sets out a range of proposals based on the four aims.
● Determine which agency (ies) would lead on activities
● Set up a reference group, possibly a Kingston Food Partnership, of existing –
and potentially new - contributors and other stakeholders, using a simple
version of the plan as part of a ‘launch’
● Highlight food insecurity at the Annual KVA Health Conference in early 2019
as a way of consolidating commitment to a realistic and meaningful set of
actions
● Agree measurable targets with those involved in implementation.

59.

The feedback from the conference and the pledges we received on the day have
identified several key stakeholders interested in developing a partnership to
address food insecurity in Kingston -so we have already progressed on some of
the activities. Yet we have not identified any additional resource to aid
implementation and for that reason no timescales have been included in the plan.

60.

Overall, the picture locally is that there is enough food in the borough to feed our
community. The challenge is to bring together the relevant stakeholders/partners
to look at ways to work together, to understand that experiencing food insecurity
is not just about feeling hungry or not being able to access healthy food. Food
insecurity is a symptom of more complex causes which requires joined-up
solutions.
Mental health

61.

Part of our remit under the current Health and Social Care Engagement contract
is to respond to national, regional and local policy changes that impact on health
and wellbeing. To meet this requirement across the local voluntary sector, in
terms of offering and disseminating information across our networks and
established communication channels, various mental health steering and
strategy groups are attended by KVA.

A11
● Attendance and input at the Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy
Planning and Implementation Group (Adult and CYP)
● Attendance and input at the Time to Change steering group
● Emotional Wellbeing Board (CYP)
● KVA representative is’ Time to Change Champion’ trained
● Attendance and input at K & R LSCB, member of CYP mental health
group of LSCB

62.

The challenge for KVA as we move to a new contract with Public Health with a
focus on Connected Kingston, is that there is likely to be reduced resource to
maintain the same level of engagement in some of these mental health steering
and strategy groups.

HEALTHWATCH KINGSTON
63.

64.

65.

Healthwatch Kingston: The ways we work diagram
HWK attended a ‘Theory of Change’ training hosted by KVA recently and has
since d
 eveloped a headline diagrammatic representation of our work areas. This
was shared with local stakeholders at our February HWK Open Meeting and an
updated version is provided as Appendix 1 of this update.
HWK Open Meetings and Task Group Activities
HWK continues to run our bi-monthly Open Meetings (next meeting is on Monday
15 April, 12noon to 4.30pm at the Kingston Quaker Centre – all welcome) where
we hear updates p
 ertinent to our current work from commissioners and providers
and then share our own work developments.
HWK currently has four Task Groups made up from local volunteers. These are:
● Community Care Task Group (currently planning an evaluation of user
experiences of the social prescribing platform, Connected Kingston)
● Hospital Services Task Group (currently researching patient experiences of
discharge from Kingston Hospital, with a particular focus on communication)
● Mental Health Task Group (currently researching service user experiences of
the iCope: Kingston Psychological Therapies Service, provided by Camden
and Islington NHS Foundation Trust)
● Youth Out Loud! (YOL! is made up of young people from Kingston and
Richmond working with Healthwatch Kingston and other partners including
Healthwatch Richmond, Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames, Kingston
and Richmond Clinical Commissioning Group and Achieving for Children).
Our aim is to support youth voices and understand how young people would
improve local services. YOL! have just completed the Kingston Hospital 15
Steps Challenge which invited feedback on pediatric wards and are currently
finalising a YOL! film to promote engagement to young people from across
Kingston (and Richmond). A YOL! launch event has been confirmed for
Monday 8 April – please register attendance at
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/youth-out-loud-launch-event-tickets-58258982
184

66.

67.

A12
HWK has recently facilitated the second Kingston Safeguarding Adults
Community Reference Group out of the Kingston Quaker Centre.

In addition, HWK is in the process of finalising Task Group research priorities for
2019-20 and is developing a new Learning Disabilities Task Group of people with
a learning disability, their families and carers.
All Age Learning Disabilities Partnership Board

68.

HWK provides an independent chair (co-chaired with people living with a learning
disability) and administration support to this group to check local commissioning
and provision of services meets the needs of people with a learning disability,
their families and carers.
Kingston Hospital Quality Report 2018-19

69.

70.

HWK is in the process of providing feedback to Kingston Hospital on their draft
Quality Report.
‘Thrive Kinston’ Mental Health Strategy Planning and Implementation
Group
HWK p
 rovides an independent chair and administration support to this group to
check local commissioning and provision meets the needs of people who use
mental health services.
Time to Change Kingston Hub

71.

Time to Change (TTC) Kingston has recently become a funded hub as part of the
Tranche 3 funding round. HWK will continue to work with our local partner
organisations as the TTC Kingston Hub Coordinator to coordinate a programme
of proposed delivery for 18 months (March 2
 019 to August 2020). There is an
assumption (as set out in our bid proposal, that TTC activities will continue in
Kingston after this ‘funded’ period through local volunteer TTC Champions. HWK
is progressing plans for recruitment to the TTC Champions Fund Coordinator
post, which will be shared with the TTC Steering Group and other partners. It is
anticipated this post will begin in June.
Time to Change Employer Pledge and Disability Confident Schemes

72.

Detailed action plans have been developed for HWK attainment of these
schemes by the end of December 2019.
SW London and St George’s Hospital (SWLSTG) Strategic Partnership
Proposal

73.

HWK has been successful in our partnership application for this £2k fund to
deliver community mental health awareness in 2019-20. Activities will include:
○ Reaching out to our young people in the Tamil and Korean communities by
promoting a Youth Out Loud! (YOL!) film, raising mental health awareness at

A13
a launch event in October 2019 as part of the SWLSTG World Mental Health
Day events. The film will be subtitled in Tamil and Korean to ensure we
reach as wide an audience as possible. This is a key opportunity to reach out
in BAME communities in Kingston and will build on the work of our YOL!
team
○ Working in partnership with Mind in Kingston, Kingston Mencap, Fast Minds,
Kingston Mental Health Carers’ Forum and Time to Change Kingston
Champions (as part of our Time to Change Kingston Hub Coordinator role),
to run activities/events in Kingston to raise awareness of mental health and
wellbeing, services and self-help amongst young people and people living
with a learning disability, their families/carers and also vulnerable people.

NHS Long Term Plan (LTP)/Health and Care Plan (HCP) engagement funded by NHS England (NHSE) via Healthwatch England (HWE)
74.

SWL Health and Care Partnership are continuing to work with SWL Healthwatch
to finalise our specific roles and focus as part of this engagement. This is an
iterative process. The Kingston and Richmond Comms and Engagement Group
has prioritised recent agenda time to discuss this (19 Mar). Healthwatch
Kingston (HWK) and Healthwatch Richmond (HWR) have requested that NHS
SWL and Kingston and Richmond CCG HCP leads clarify the health focus of the
HCP engagement asap - this is linked to availability of the local HCP which is
due at the end of March. A timeline for delivery of outputs for this work is also
being finalised. To date the engagement structure is:
● Prep for SWL Clinical Conference (local literature/intelligence review and
possibly focus group work)
● SWL Clinical Conference (local HW representation at event of patient
experience/feedback shared with clinicians)
● Local HCP engagement (hopefully linked to LTP).

75.

SWL HW have agreed to share the coordination work and small amount of
NHSE/HWE funding available. SWL HW Chief Officers are keen to clarify the
required health focus of each local HW engagement as part of the above because
the deadline for reports to NHSE/HWE is 30 June 2019.
Involvement in other health and social care governance and transformation

76.

HWK continues to sit on a variety of influential local committees and groups to
ensure that local people have a say in decisions such as Kingston CCG
governing body and the primary care commissioning committee.

A14

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD WORK PROGRAMME
77.

Members of the Board are invited to put forward suggestions for inclusion on
future agendas which will be considered by the Co-Chairs.

Current scheduled items:
6 June 2019 - Private member only workshop meeting (not open to the public)
3 September 2019
Kingston Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report 2018/19
SEND Transformation update
CAMHS Transformation Plan update
19 November 2019
28 January 2020
17 March 2020
Unscheduled items:
● Refresh of the Dementia Strategy
● Food Poverty Action Plan
● “Prevention is better than Cure our vision to help you live well for longer”, DHSC
white paper published 5 Nov
● Update on Mental Health Champions
Board Members are requested to send any additional items to Marian Morrison,
Democratic Services Officer (marian.morrison@kingston.gov.uk).

Community Care Task Group:
We support this volunteer group
to create projects that analyse
people’s views and experiences of
community care services and
then write reports with
recommendations for
improvement.

Mental Health Task Group:
We support this volunteer group to
create projects that analyse people’s
views and experiences of mental
health services and then write
reports with recommendations for
improvement.

Kingston All Age Learning
Disability Partnership Board: We
support this group to check local
commissioning and provision of
services meets the needs of
people with a learning disability,
their families and carers.

Healthwatch Kingston upon Thames
was established under statute by the Government.
We are the independent health and social care
champion contracted by the Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames to involve local people in
commissioning, provision and scrutiny of health
and social care services.
We are also funded by the NHS and other
organisations to deliver specific projects.
This diagram shows the ways we work.
Youth Out Loud!: We support this volunteer
group of young people aged 13 to 17 years to
review health and care services.
We do this in partnership with Healthwatch
Richmond upon Thames.

Health and Social Care
Governance and
Transformation: We sit on a
variety of influential local
committees and groups to
ensure that local people have a
say in decisions. We provide
support to local and South West
London transformation plans.

‘Thrive Kingston’ Mental Health
Strategy Planning and Implementation
Group: We support this group to check
local commissioning and provision
meets the needs of people who use
mental health services.

Healthwatch Kingston is the Time to Change Kingston Hub Coordinator
We work in partnership with local Time to Change Champions, local organisations and local business
to reduce local mental health related stigma and discrimination.

Other services
we provide
We signpost
people to local
health and social
care providers.
We talk to people
at community
events to involve
them in our work
and listen to their
views and
experiences of
health and social
care services.

A15

Hospital Services Task Group:
We support this volunteer group
to create projects that analyse
people’s views and experiences of
hospital services and then write
reports with recommendations for
improvement.

Learning Disability Task Group:
We are developing this volunteer group of people with a
learning disability, their families and carers to create
projects that analyse people’s views and experiences of
health and social care services and then write reports
with recommendations for improvement.

We host the
Kingston Adult
Safeguarding
Community
Reference Group.

Health & Wellbeing Board

B1

Appendix B

28 March 2019
SEND Transformation Plan
Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services
Report by Interim Director of Children’s Services

Purpose
To brief the Health and Wellbeing Board on the SEND Transformation Plan
It is recommended that The Health and Wellbeing Board: -

endorses the SEND Transformation Plan as a working plan for publication on the Local
Offer and Council websites.

Key Points
A.

The delivery of an action plan (i.e. the SEND Transformation Plan, attached at
Annex 1) that brings Kingston’s spending on high needs to a sustainable level that
matches spending on high needs to the income it expects to receive in future years
is a condition stipulated by the Department of Education of the £3m DSG advance
Kingston received in 2018/9.

B.

In addition to the financial situation, there is a need to improve the quality of
education provision for children and young people with SEND in Kingston.
Proposals to deliver this service improvement, including issues identified in the
Ofsted and CQC Local Area SEND inspection in September 2018 and detailed in
the subsequent Written Statement of Action (WSoA), are incorporated in the SEND
Transformation Plan.

C.

It was resolved at the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee
meeting on 22 November 2018 that a consultation process on the draft
Transformation Plan be undertaken, the results of which would inform the Council’s
budget decision-making process for 2019/20.

D.

The results of the consultation process on the draft SEND Transformation Plan
were noted and considered at the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education
Committee on 7 February. At the same meeting the draft Transformation Plan was
approved in principle, subject to approval by Full Council at its meeting in February
of the related budget provisions for 2019/20, and to the Transformation Plan being
regularly reviewed and updated at the SEND Partnership Board (six meetings per
year). The Plan is to be published on an iterative basis on the Local Offer and
Council websites, with effect from the start of the new financial year.

E.

At the Full Council meeting on 26 February, the related budget provisions for
2019/20 were approved.

Context
1.

There are approximately 3,700 children and young people with special
educational needs and disability (SEND) aged 0 to 25 living in, or going to school

B2
in Kingston; 1,200 children and young people living in Kingston have an
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). Over the past 4 years the total number
of EHCPs in RBK has increased each year by between 7 and 12%.

2.

Expenditure on services funded by the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) has
exceeded Government grant allocation since and including 2014/5. The
accumulated overspend is forecast to be £11.1m by the end of 2018/9, and
would be £14.1m without the £3m Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) advance
provided by the Department for Education (DfE) in the current financial year.
Without significant changes to the local system of providing education for
children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities
(SEND), the accumulated overspend is forecast to be £38m by 2022.

3.

The cause of the overspend is the mismatch between the amount of funding
provided by Government in the High Needs Block (HNB) of the DSG and the cost
of delivering related services. 95% of these services relate to education provision
for children and young people with SEND.

4.

Research conducted by London Councils and published in autumn 2018 reported
that in financial year 2017/8 100% of the 30 London boroughs responding to the
survey spent more on High Needs than they received in their High Needs Block
allocation. The Local Government Association estimates that the national SEND
funding gap for councils in 2018/9 is £500m, and that this will reach £800 million
by 2019/20 and potentially £1.6 billion by 2020/21. The House of Commons
Education Committee launched an inquiry into Special Educational Needs and
Disability, including the level and distribution of funding for SEND provision, in
April 2018. The inquiry is ongoing.

5.

Kingston continues to lobby government for an increase in financial support
relating to SEND. This is directly through bilateral meetings with senior
Education Ministers and Department of Education Officers, via representative
organisations such as London Councils and the Local Government Association,
and through joint communications with neighbouring boroughs and their MPs.

Proposal and Options
6.

It was agreed at the Health and Wellbeing Board on 15th November 2018 that
governance arrangements of the SEND Transformation Plan would be overseen
by the Health and Wellbeing Board to secure full engagement from partner
organisations such as the CCG, health providers, and voluntary sector
organisations in order to promote constructive debate, scrutiny and challenge. It
was agreed that The Board is well placed to strategically oversee the delivery of
the plan as it is the forum where leaders from the local health and care system
work together to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population,
including children and young people with disabilities.

7.

It was resolved at the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee
meeting on 22 November 2018 that the oversight of the SEND Transformation
Plan would be by the Health and Wellbeing Board and that the Health and
Wellbeing Board would be authorised to oversee the implementation of the
SEND Transformation Plan and to refer any recommendations to the Children’s
and Adults’ Care and Education Committee.

8.

It was discussed at the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee
meeting on 22 November 2018 that there would be service-specific accountability
for the SEND Transformation Plan through the governance arrangements of
individual organisations with responsibility for particular activities within the plan:
for example, the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee for

B3
actions allocated to the Council and Achieving for Children. As the formal
responsibility for Special Educational Needs and for the Schools Budget lies with
this Committee, any recommendations the Health and Wellbeing Board may
make must necessarily be routed through the Children’s and Adults’ Care and
Education Committee for formal approval.

Consultations
9.

A number of different consultations took place between March and July 2018.
These included engagement with children and young people, school leaders and
staff, school governors, families and the voluntary sector. Details of materials
used and findings can be found on the SEND Consultation Hub on the Local
Offer website (www.afcinfo.org.uk/local_offer). These were in addition to the
consultation conducted via Schools Forum in autumn 2017.

10.

The most recent round of consultation ran from 13 December 2018 to 20 January
2019. The draft Transformation Plan, which was published on the Council
website in November, was additionally made available in an easy read form. The
first easy read version was sent out by email on 21 December. The consultation
comprised a survey available online, in hard copy and in easy read versions and
three community drop in sessions providing the opportunity to access
information, discuss and feedback on the draft Plan with Officers. There were
also twelve focus groups held with children and young people, and a number of
1:1 interviews with young people aged over the age of 18 years. Associated
materials are available online at
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=39731#mgDocuments as
Annexes 1 to 6 of the papers for the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education
Committee on 7 February 2019

11.

The online consultation was hosted in the SEND Consultation Hub area of the
AfC Local Offer website. This and other access arrangements were advertised
via:
i. direct mail to all Kingston families including a child or young person in receipt of
an Education, Health and Care Plan and / or included on the Disability Register
ii. the Council’s and AfC’s social media channels and websites
iii. the network of local voluntary sector organisations
iv. early years providers, schools and colleges
v. the school governor information service

12.

26 people attended the community drop in sessions, 95 returned a completed
survey, and 136 children and young people attended focus groups and 1:1
interviews.

13.

The findings of the consultation process can be found online as papers published
for the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee on 7 February
2019 at
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=39731#mgDocuments. A
summary is provided as Annex 9, an easy read version as Annex 8, and a
redacted version of the actual online submissions as Annex 10. Key headlines
are:
i.

Support for children and young people with special educational needs is a
statutory duty and must be funded. Rather than cutting services the Council
should lobby central government for adequate funding and find resources
from elsewhere in the Council’s budget/ assets

ii.

B4
More local provision is welcomed, but must be high quality. Comparable
provision must be established before reductions in out of borough/
independent placements are implemented

iii.

Early intervention is recognised as impactful but to be successful it must be
adequately resourced, and it cannot and must not replace statutory support

iv.

Annual reviews of EHCPs are important and must be focussed on children
and young people’s needs, not driven by a target to reduce provision

v.

EHCP Coordinators / SEN Caseworkers need training and support to
produce quality documentation and support parents to navigate the process;
better retention would be helpful in building relationships

vi.

Achieving for Children and Kingston Council need to regain the trust and
confidence of some parents of children and young people with special
educational needs

vii.

Children and young people want teachers and professionals to be honest,
supportive and work together

viii.

Children and young people want their individual needs and learning styles to
be understood and responded to, including appropriate learning
environments; a wide range of interesting and fun lessons and leisure
Opportunities

ix.

Young people want support post 16, work experience and support to prepare
for adulthood.

Timescale
14.

If the Health and Wellbeing Board endorse the SEND Transformation Plan as a
working plan for publication on the Local Offer and Council websites, it will be
published at the beginning of the new financial year.

15.

The SEND Transformation Plan will return to the Children’s and Adults’ Care and
Education Committee and the Health and Wellbeing Board on a six monthly
basis.

16.

The financial aspects of the SEND Transformation Plan will be considered on an
annual basis as part of the Council’s budget setting process.

17.

The SEND Transformation Plan responds to the DfE’s stipulation from March
2018 that it covers a three year period. Discussions with the Department of
Education regarding the content and duration of the Plan continue.

18.

Comment on the major differences between the draft SEND Transformation Plan
published in November 2018 and that attached as Annex 1 to this report,
together with responses to the key headlines of the consultation findings, are
summarised in Annex 3.

Resource Implications
19.

The SEND Transformation Plan includes detail on resource and financial
implications. If no action is taken the overspend on SEND will be greater than
could be met from the Council's general fund and reserves. The specific and
fundamental financial implication of not agreeing and implementing a plan which
brings expenditure on SEND into balance with the DSG is that the Council may
not be able to set a balanced budget.

Legal Implications

B5

20.

The Council sets a Schools Budget for its area in consultation with the Schools
Forum. The Schools Budget covers funding for individual school budgets,
provision for children and young people with high needs, early years provision
and other statutory education services relating to individual pupil education such
as education welfare and admissions. The Schools Budget is supported by the
Dedicated Schools Grant (‘DSG’). The DSG is the main source of income for the
Schools Budget. The Council is required to use the DSG only for the purposes of
the Schools Budget and in accordance with conditions published by the
Secretary of State. Local authorities can add to the Schools Budget from local
sources of income.

21.

The High Needs Block of the DSG is provided to fund educational provision for
children and young people with SEND and provision for children who need
alternative education outside school.

22.

New duties on local areas regarding provision for children and young people with
special educational needs were set out in the Children and Families Act 2014,
which came into force in September 2014. These include the replacement of
statements of special educational needs with Education Health and Care Plans
(‘EHC plans’). An EHC plan is one document which sets out a child's or young
person's special educational needs; the outcomes sought for him or her; the
special educational provision required by him or her; and any health care
provision and/or social care provision reasonably required by the learning
difficulties and disabilities which result in him or her having special educational
needs.

23.

There are new general statutory duties under the Children and Families Act to
support and involve children and young people; to promote the integration of
educational provision and training provision with health care provision and social
care provision; to make joint commissioning arrangements and to cooperate with
partners; and to keep education and care provision in the authority’s area under
review and consider the extent to which it is sufficient.

Risk Assessment
24.

The SEND Transformation Plan, attached as Annex 1, includes risk
assessments of proposed actions.

Equalities Assessment
25.

This is attached at Annex 2 to this report

Health Implications
26.

The SEND Transformation Plan incorporates proposals with very positive
implications for the health of children and young people with SEND. These
include the intention to assess needs in a more holistic and regular way, and to
plan and deliver support in a more joined up and coordinated fashion across the
agencies involved. In addition, the focus on early intervention will mean that in
some cases health needs will be considered earlier in the life of the child or
young person than previously, and are likely therefore to have escalated less
before appropriate intervention is realised.

27.

B6
Another aspect of the plan with very positive health implications is the centrality
of enhanced therapy provision within the proposals for an improved local offer. In
addition many actions included in the WSoA which has been co-produced by AfC
and the CCG to address the areas of weakness identified in the SEND
inspection, are included in the SEND Transformation Plan. Progress on
implementing the WSoA will be monitored through the engagement of the CCG
in the delivery of the SEND Transformation Plan and through the Kingston CCG
Governing Body.

Environmental & Air Quality Implications
28.

No implications arising from the specific recommendations of this report.

Benefits to the Community
29.

The aim is to bring expenditure on services in year into balance with the
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) by 2021/22, and for the Local Area to better
meet its statutory obligations for SEND.

Author of report - Pauline Maddison, Interim Director of Children’s Services,
pauline.maddison@achievingfoprchildren.org.uk
Background papers held by - Ashley Whittaker, Programme Director, 020 8891 7551
ashley.whittaker@achievingforchildren.org.uk
Annex 1: SEND Transformation Plan
Annex 2: EQIA
Annex 3: Changes to the RBK SEND Transformation Plan, Nov 2018 to March
2019
o

None

other than those referred to in this report

Kingston upon Thames
SEND Transformation Plan
2019/20 to 2021/22
B7

1

CONTENTS
Introduction

Page 3

2

Our context and financial challenges

Page 5

3

Our vision for 2020 and beyond

Page 8

4

How we will work together

Page 10

5

Governance arrangements

Page 11

6

How we will transform services

Page 14

6.1

Workstream 1: Strategy and governance

Page 15

6.2

Workstream 2: Commercial thinking

Page 24

6.3

Workstream 3: Local provision

Page 28

6.4

Workstream 4: Early intervention and transition

Page 34

6.5

Workstream 5: Assessment and planning

Page 40

6.6

Workstream 6: Home to school travel

Page 49

7

Finances

Page 54

8

Glossary

Page 65

2

B8

1

1. INTRODUCTION
As a local partnership we are committed to supporting children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities to achieve the
very best outcomes. We want every child and young person to have an educational experience that empowers and inspires them, unlocks and
nurtures their talents, and provides a solid foundation for a happy and fulfilling life.
Like many areas across the country, public services in Kingston are facing unprecedented financial challenges. We must deliver vital services
regardless of the increasing and more complex needs of some of our most vulnerable residents, and growing expectations of the essential
services we provide. The financial challenge is particularly acute in the services we provide for children with special educational needs and
disabilities (SEND) both in our general resources and in the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) provided by the government. This year, we expect
to overspend our high needs grant allocation by £1.3m, taking into account a £3m advance from the Department for Education and a £1
million transfer from the schools block to the high needs block. This will bring our cumulative DSG deficit to over £11 million, and we know that
it is likely that the need for these services will continue to grow as it has done over the last four years.

Children, young people, parents, carers and professionals have provided feedback on local provision for children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities; the vision for future services; and priorities for transformation through a series of consultation events and
activities between 2016 and 20191. The local area inspection of SEND services in September 2018 shows us where we must focus our effort as
a partnership to deliver the system change that is needed. This plan brings together our initial ideas for transforming the delivery of SEND
services. We are committed to continuing to develop our engagement with children, young people and families in developing the detail of the
plan so that they are able to inform the decisions we make.

1

https://www.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/local-offer/information-and-advice/send-consultation-hub-and-resource-bank

3

B9

The current financial challenges are an opportunity to fundamentally rethink and transform the way that we deliver local services for children
and young people with special educational needs and disabilities and we will do all we can to deliver the high-quality services our children
need within the financial resources provided. This can only be achieved by working together as a whole system, rather than a collection of
individual services so that we can make better use of our collective resources and the strengths of our local communities.

Our plan offers no quick fixes and recognises that transforming the system will take time to deliver, and a commitment from all stakeholders to
finding the best solutions, based on our shared principles to develop resilience in families and communities; promote inclusion; expand local
education, health and care provision; and encourage independence.
Achieving for Children will lead the partnership responsible for delivering this three-year transformation plan and will report regularly on
progress and achievements to the Health and Wellbeing Board. The plan is, however, only the beginning; the real test is how we take this
opportunity to build on our strengths as individual organisations and collaborate to transform the local system so that, together, we are able
to achieve more for children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities.

B10

4

2. OUR CONTEXT AND CHALLENGES
There are 3,577 children and young people with SEND aged 0 to 25 in Kingston upon Thames; 1,130 of these children and young people (32%)
have an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) to describe and put in place the educational provision and support that they need. The main
presenting needs in local EHCPs are: disorders on the autistic spectrum (35%), speech, language and communication needs (21%); and social,
emotional and mental health needs (14%). The highest proportion of EHCPs and SEND support is for children and young people aged 11 to 15
(39%) and in particular males aged 12 to 14.

The DSG high needs block for Kingston is expected to overspend by £1.3 million in 2018/19 even after action taken to manage the budget
position. This takes into account a one off advance payment of £3 million by the Department for Education and £1.3 million transferred from
the general school block into the high needs block. It is forecast that the cumulative DSG overspend will be over £11 million by the end of
2018/19, as a result of expenditure on high needs provision exceeding the grant allocation in every year since 2014/15. If the need for EHCPs
and other SEND provision continues to rise at its current rate, and spending on high needs provision continues at its current level, the
overspend on the DSG will increase to £7 million in 2019/20, £9 million in 2020/21 and £11 million in 2021/22. By 2022, the accumulated
overspend would reach £38 million.
5

B11

The total number of EHCPs increased by 8.8% in 2017/18 compared to the previous year. This has been the trend in every year since 2014/15.
Although this is below the national average increase of 11.3%, it places significant financial pressure on the Council and its strategic partners.
Funding to support children and young people with SEND, from their early years to age 25, comes from the high needs block of the DSG. The
DSG is provided by the government to every upper-tier local authority to fund local early years provision, maintained schools and free schools,
as well as educational provision and support for children and young people with SEND. The total DSG for Kingston in 2018/19 is £135 million of
which £22 million is allocated for high needs provision. 95% of the high needs block is required for children and young people with EHCPs. The
level of DSG for each upper-tier local authority is calculated using a national funding formula based on the total size of the child population,
the level of deprivation and educational attainment scores; the formula is not adjusted to reflect the prevalence of SEND within the local
authority area. Local distribution of DSG funding is managed by the Schools Forum which includes representatives from schools within the
borough.

This is not just an issue in Kingston; it is a national issue. A recent survey by London Councils found that local authorities in London are
collectively predicted to overspend on their high needs provision by £94 million in 2018/19 - equivalent to a 13.6% funding gap. The impact on
the Council’s funding position in Kingston is significant. If the Council and its partners take no action, the continued DSG deficit will result in an
overall deficit on the Council’s balance sheet. The DSG deficit will be greater than the Council’s general fund and earmarked reserves, which
means that it would be a financially unsustainable organisation. To avoid this situation, the Council needs to work with its partners to try to
deliver the DSG high needs block within existing funding, or maintain a sustainable balance sheet position by transferring resources from the
other essential services that the Council is required to deliver. The Council no longer receives Revenue Support Grant, so Kingston is a
self-sufficient local authority, generating its resources from council tax, business rates and other income generation.

Parental preference for independent and non-maintained schools has been the most important factor in the increase in the number of appeals
to the First-Tier SEND Tribunal since the introduction of the SEND reforms initiated by the Children and Families Act 2014. 22 tribunal appeals
were made in the 12-month period up to September 2018. The very large majority of these related to parental preference for an independent
school placement; 9% related to a refusal to assess a child or young person for an EHCP; and 18% related to a refusal to issue an EHCP
following assessment. In the same period, 37% of tribunal appeals led to a negotiated agreement with parents or carers, 26% were conceded
by the local authority, and in 26% of cases the tribunal found in favour of the parents. In just 5% of cases did the tribunal find in favour of the
6

B12

In Kingston, the largest proportion of children and young people with EHCPs are educated in mainstream nurseries and schools (33%); 9% are
in specialist resource provisions within mainstream schools; 25% are in maintained or academy special schools; and 14% are in post-16
education provision in colleges or vocational schemes, such as traineeships and apprenticeships. The remaining 13% of children and young
people are educated in independent and non-maintained special schools. This is higher than the outer London average of 6.5% and the
national average of 4.9%. Notably, this 13% of independent school placements accounts for 20% of spend from the high needs block. The large
majority of independent and non-maintained special schools are located outside Kingston and are often some distance from the borough. The
fees for these schools are much higher than mainstream schools, specialist resource provisions, or local special schools. The distance from the
borough also means that travel times for children and young people are increased and additional financial pressures are placed on home to
school transport which is funded by the local authority outside the DSG. As a result, the home to school transport budget is forecast to
overspend by £313,000 by the end of 2018/19.

local authority. Learning from conceded and lost tribunal cases evidences the need for an improved local SEND offer, including improved
education provision that is able to meet children’s and young people’s needs, as well as improvements to the overall quality of the EHCP
assessment and planning process to explicitly evidence how individuals’ needs can be met in local provision.

7

B13

In September 2018, Ofsted and the CQC inspected Kingston’s local area arrangements for children and young people with SEND. The
inspection identified some positive findings in relation to early years’ provision, relationships with schools, emotional health services, the
participation of children and young people in service development, and the joint commissioning of services. It also recognised that educational
outcomes for children have improved with a reduced gap in progress and attainment between children with SEND and their peers at key stage
2, and positive achievements for young people with learning difficulties and disabilities post-16. However, the inspection also found notable
deficits in relation to the quality and overall consistency of EHCPs, the timeliness and impact of EHCP annual reviews, the strategic leadership
of health services for children and young people with SEND, and the relationship between statutory services and parents, including the
effectiveness of the relationship with the Parent-Carer Forum. The inspection findings require the Council and Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) to submit a written statement of action explaining how we will work together to tackle the significant weaknesses identified in these
areas. The Council, Achieving for Children and the CCG have accepted all the findings of the inspection and have produced a joint plan of action
to ensure improvements are delivered at pace. This includes strengthening local governance and accountability arrangements and creating the
additional management capacity needed to deliver change.

3. OUR VISION FOR 2020 AND BEYOND
Our vision is that every child and young person with SEND is supported to engage in learning and has an educational experience
that inspires them, unlocks and nurtures their talents, and provides a solid foundation for a happy and fulfilling life.
Underpinning the vision is a set of shared ambitions that stakeholders have signed up to achieving by 2020. These will be essential for the
successful delivery of this plan and will be the principles that guide how we make decisions and implement transformation across all aspects of
the SEND system.
● Children, young people, parents and carers are listened to and engaged in the design and delivery of strategies, services and the support
provided to them. Parents and carers are an integral part of the team supporting their child and their views and unique knowledge is
essential to all professional decision-making.

● The whole system, with education, social care and health services at the core, works together and with families to understand and respond
to children and young people’s needs in a coherent way, with each partner contributing to robust assessments, plans and funding
arrangements, and monitoring the impact of their services and support. There is a particular focus on working better together for children
and young people with SEND who are also vulnerable in other ways, including those who are looked after, missing education, excluded from
school, or at risk of exploitation and criminal behaviour.
● Provision is high quality and delivered by well trained and supported professionals who work effectively together and use evidence to
inform their work, promote resilience and achieve positive outcomes for children and young people with SEND; services that cannot
demonstrate this positive impact are re-provided or re-commissioned.
8

B14

● Local provision is expanded so that children’s education, health and care needs can be met locally; it is focussed on achieving the best
possible outcomes for children and young with SEND, maximising their independence and preparing them for successful adulthoods.

● The community is supported to meet the needs of all children and young people by embracing diversity and inclusion, so that all children
and young people with SEND have the opportunity to play, learn and grow-up together locally.
An important first task for all partners will be to formally adopt the vision and supporting values through the Health and Wellbeing Board, and
for these to be widely and actively promoted to all stakeholders through existing partnership networks and communication channels.

B15

9

4. HOW WE WILL WORK TOGETHER
Achieving the vision and the ambitions set out in this plan will require change in all parts of the SEND system in Kingston, as well as the active
engagement of all stakeholders, including children, families, voluntary sector organisations and service-providers, so that we are better able to
work in a collaborative way. To support this approach, we have proposed a set of values to guide our work. These values will help us to
maximise our chance of success, diagnose where problems are likely to occur, and identify those areas where we should share our learning,
assets and resources to achieve the best possible outcome for children and young people.

We will focus on the outcomes we need to achieve, rather than on the specific interests of our individual organisations.
We will mobilise the whole of our organisations to deliver the changes needed to work collaboratively and transform services.

Align

We will prioritise the shared use of our financial resources so that we achieve the best deals and maximise value for money.
We will align our processes to reduce duplication and create joined-up pathways that make sense to children and families.

Engage

We will actively collaborate to plan, design and deliver services and will jointly own and apply the decisions we make.
We will use our professional networks to ensure all stakeholders have an equal voice in the transformation of services.

Invest

We will share the risks and benefits of transforming services, including investing resources now to secure longer-term rewards.
We will invest in our workforce so that they have the capabilities needed to deliver quality and financially sustainable services.

Innovate

We will support and constructively challenge each other to generate new ideas and creative solutions to the challenges we face.
We will evaluate the impact of our transformation and proactively share our learning and the opportunities it provides.

10

B16

Lead

5. GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS
Delivering the outcomes required in the plan by April 2022 will require robust governance arrangements that secure full engagement from all
partner organisations and promote constructive debate, scrutiny and challenge. The Kingston Health and Wellbeing Board is ideally placed to
strategically oversee the delivery of the plan as it is the forum where leaders from the local health and care system work together to improve
the health and wellbeing of the local population.

The SEND Partnership Board will be accountable to the Health and Wellbeing Board for the successful coordination and delivery of the plan.
Individual partner organisations will remain subject to their own governance arrangements in relation to the activities allocated to them in the
plan, particularly where these require policy changes. For the Council and Achieving for Children, this will be the Children’s and Adults’ Care
and Education Committee; for decisions relating to health commissioning for children with disabilities, this will be the CCG governing body.
The activities in the plan are organised into six workstreams. Each worksteam is led by a senior leader from Achieving for Children who will be
a member of the SEND Partnership Board. We are inviting colleagues from across the partnership and a parent representative to become
co-leads to jointly lead the workstreams. Membership of each workstream will be between six and ten people from across the partnership
with responsibilities for, or interest in, delivering transformation across the local SEND system.

11

B17

To drive the progress of the plan, we will refresh the SEND Partnership Board. It will be chaired by the Chief Executive of the Royal Borough of
Kingston upon Thames and will bring together senior leaders from the services responsible for delivering the activities in the plan, with the
Parent-Carer Forum, Parent Panel, voluntary sector organisations, and local experts. A representative from the Department for Education will
provide support and challenge from a national perspective and bring evidence of good practice and what works elsewhere. Children and young
people with SEND will contribute to the Board’s work supported by a participation officer from Achieving for Children. The SEND Partnership
Board will be responsible for ensuring effective engagement from all stakeholders, including families, so that the detail of the plan is informed
by their views and the likely impact of change.

A Delivery Group will be responsible for overseeing the detailed progress of the transformation plan, identifying any overlaps and common
issues between workstreams, developing strategies to overcome challenges or barriers to delivery, and monitoring the financial recovery. The
Delivery Group will comprise the workstream chairs and senior officers from the Council able to support and challenge the delivery of the
plan’s activities to ensure they happen with pace and focus. The Delivery Group will be chaired by the Council’s Director of Corporate and
Commercial Services. It will help to ensure that the Board operates effectively, makes productive use of its members’ time and will facilitate
their focus on collaboration and wider ownership of the SEND transformation. It will also manage the risks associated with delivering the plan
and advise, support and challenge the workstream leads on the risk strategies and mitigating actions that are required. A summary of the key
risks that have been identified and the management plan for these risks is shown at the end of each workstream section in this plan.

B18

12

Governance diagram

B19

13

6. TRANSFORMING SEND SERVICES
We have established six workstreams to lead the work that we need to do as a partnership to deliver the plan. The following section of the
plan sets out the scope of each workstream; explains the progress that we have already made; and gives an overview of activities over the next
three years to achieve the required improvements to the quality of services and operate within a sustainable budget. The risks to achieving the
transformation are also identified within each workstream.
Progress in delivering the transformation will be tracked on a monthly basis by the Delivery Group and summarised in a highlight report to the
SEND Partnership Board to ensure that activities remain on track to be delivered and the required transformational and financial outcomes are
achieved. Where issues cannot be resolved by the Delivery Group, they will be escalated to the SEND Partnership Board and, if necessary and
ultimately, to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

14

B20

Engaging with children, young adults and their families will be essential in delivering the transformation. This engagement will include
statutory consultation (where this is required), as well as co-production, the involvement of representative groups, and information sharing.
This plan sets out the broad activities that will be needed to transform services; however, each workstream will develop a detailed
engagement plan showing how the impact of change on children, young people and families will be assessed, and seeking views to inform
decision-making and prioritisation.

6.1 WORKSTREAM 1: STRATEGY AND GOVERNANCE
Workstream Lead: Ian Dodds - Managing Director, Achieving for Children; and parent/carer representative
Workstream objectives
The strategy and governance workstream will bring together system leaders to establish and drive a shared sense of purpose that enables and
empowers all partner organisations to transform their services for children and young people with SEND, and deliver the main activities in the
three-year plan. This includes:
● Establishing effective governance arrangements that secure full partner engagement and the robust scrutiny of progress

● Fostering productive and positive relationships between parents and carers and their service providers, including with the new
Parent-Carer Forum, to facilitate co-production and to understand and evaluate the impact of our transformation activities
● Establishing a shared approach to the analysis of local needs so that we are better able to forecast and plan local provision for children
and young people with SEND

Progress so far
Children, young people, parents, carers and professionals have provided feedback on local provision for children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities; the vision for future services; and priorities for transformation through a series of consultation events and
15

B21

● Leading system-wide cultural change to upskill professionals, generate a genuine shared sense of purpose, and facilitate new ways of
working within and across all partner organisations

activities between 2016 and 20192. In feedback, local families have given a clear message that we need to regain the trust and confidence of
some children and young people with special educational needs and their parents. We agree. Developing ways to make sure children and
young people and their families are heard better in our local system is an absolute priority of this plan and our Written Statement of Action.
We are committed to hearing from children, young people, parents and carers about the impact of SEND Support and EHCP provision and
whether it is making a positive difference - Workstream 5 is leading on this. We are also developing new ways to make sure children, young
people and families help to shape the services and strategies that underpin the support they receive. The national charity Contact are
responsible, working on behalf of the Department for Education, for setting up a new Parent Carer Forum (PCF) - this process began in October
2018. In the interim, we are developing a Parent Panel to help guide and support communication and consultation with parents and carers
during the absence of a PCF, and to help us better understand the needs of the wider SEND community. The Panel will comprise of up to 25
parents and carers of children and young people with SEND aged 0 to 25 and resident in Kingston upon Thames. Membership will be
representative of all children and young people in the borough. Coffee mornings to develop relationships between the SEN team and parents
and carers are held twice termly, these are well attended and enable operational managers and staff to receive helpful feedback.

Expected Impact

Success measure
Percentage (%) of identified stakeholders formally signed up
2

National
Baseline
Benchmark September
2017/18
2018
Not

0%

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Target

Target

Target

Target

80%

100%

100%

100%

https://www.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/local-offer/information-and-advice/send-consultation-hub-and-resource-bank

16

B22

The Council set up an Education Commission, independently chaired by Tony McArdle, to engage all local stakeholders in recommending how
to achieve the best possible outcomes for children and young people with SEND. The Commission reported in March 2019. This plan responds
to relevant recommendations made by the Commission. Findings from our consultation activity and the Commission alongside the findings of
the local area SEND inspection in September 2018 and our Written Statement of Action, provide a firm basis on which to refresh the current
SEND strategy which expires in March 2019.

to the vision, values and outcomes of the SEND
transformation plan.

collected

Percentage (%) of identified professionals completing
multi-agency training on working together to improve
outcomes for children and young people with SEND.

Not
collected

0%

50%

100%

100%

100%

Percentage (%) of parents and carers who say that the
SEND services and support that their child receives are
good or better.

Not
collected

Not
collected

40%

55%

70%

85%

Percentage (%) of children and young people who say that
the SEND services and support they receive are good or
better.

Not
collected

Not
collected

40%

55%

70%

85%

B23

Activities
Activity

Financial
investment
£

Lead

Start date

End date

SEND
Programme
Director

Jan-19

Feb-19

Vision and values
Achieve formal agreement from partner organisations to the vision and 0
values for SEND proposed at the SEND Future Conference, and develop a
Memorandum of Understanding between all partner organisations that
clearly sets out how they will work together to achieve those ambitions.

17

Hold a follow-up to the SEND Futures Conferences to raise awareness of 10,000
the transformation plan and ensure that all professionals are signed-up to
the vision, ways of working and activities.

SEND
Programme
Director

Dec-19

Jul- 2019

Establish and agree the terms of reference for the SEND Partnership 0
Board so that is able to secure full partner engagement in the
transformation plan and its delivery; agree the accountability and
reporting mechanisms between the SEND Partnership Board and Health
and Wellbeing Board.

SEND
Programme
Director

Dec-18

Jan-19

Meet regularly as a SEND Partnership Board to drive the delivery of the 0
transformation plan, ensuring that there is a culture of strong support and
constructive challenge focused on joining up services, sharing resources,
managing risks together and finding creative solutions to challenges.

Chair, SEND
Partnership
Board

Jan-19

Apr-22

Review the governance arrangements for decision-making on children’s 0
and young people’s SEND placements, including shared arrangements
such as the Joint Agency Panel, to reduce duplication and ensure there is
a continual focus on improving outcomes at reduced cost.

Associate
Director:
Strategy and
Transformation

Nov-18

Feb-19

SEND
Programme
Director

Jan-19

Apr-22

Governance arrangements

B24

Cultural change
Identify the systems leadership, cultural change, behaviours and skills 0
required to enable all stakeholders to achieve the activities in the plan
and support each partner organisation to deliver them.

18

Map the stakeholders involved in the SEND system and implement a clear 0
communications and engagement plan so that there is shared ownership
of the vision, values, ways of working and activities that will successfully
deliver the transformation plan and required outcomes.

SEND
Programme
Director

Dec-18

Jan-19

Support Contact (national charity) with the development of a new local 0
Parent-Carer Forum fulfilling the requirements of the Children and
Families Act 2014 and leading to an effective working relationship that
promotes meaningful engagement, parental buy-in and co-production of
sustainable solutions.

Associate
Director:
Business
Development

Oct-18

Sep-19

Work with children and young people to audit how they have their say 0
and are involved in decisions about their own support; and the
information available to them about processes

Associate
Director:
Business
Development

Jan-19

Jul-19

Work with families to audit the engagement, participation and feedback 0
mechanisms in place across the partnership to understand what is
working well, what we are concerned about and identify gaps.

Associate
Director:
Business
Development

Dec-18

Jul-19

Establish a shared understanding of co-production and levels of 0
participation and develop a local model that enables the engagement of
as many families as possible in co-production and service planning.

Associate
Director:
Business
Development

Dec-18

Jul-19

Promote the Local Offer website so that more children, young people, 0
parents, carers and professionals are aware of its value as a one-stop

Associate
Director:

Dec-18

Jul-19

Engagement and co-production

B25

19

shop for local services.

Business
Development

Strategy and policy development
Head of Policy Feb-19
and Research

May-19

Review and revise local policies and guidance relating to SEND provision 0
as a result of an independent legal review of the existing framework, local
inspection outcomes, parental feedback and the learning from tribunals.

Head of Policy Feb-19
and Research

Jul-19

Build on the existing transitions protocol between children’s services and 0
adult services to develop a preparing for adulthood strategy and plan that
promotes independence from the earliest stage and informs the design
and delivery of services by all organisations in the SEND partnership.

Head of Policy Jan-19
and Research

Jul-19

Expand the current range of key performance indicators to create a data 8,000
observatory with information from all service providers to unlock new
intelligence and insight and inform prioritisation and the development of
new strategies.

Head of
Intelligence

Jan-19

Jun-19

Establish processes to develop a shared local understanding of trends and 0
predict future needs that is used to forecast and inform integrated
service planning and delivery, including analysing gaps in the local SEND

Head of
Intelligence

Jan-19

Jun-19

B26

Refresh the SEND strategy to set out the shared vision and ambitions of 0
all stakeholders and ensure this is closely aligned to the SEND
transformation plan, the improvements required from the local area
SEND inspection and the findings of the Kingston Education Commission.

Intelligence and insight

20

offer. This activity will be developed in partnership with the Education
Commission.
Sustainable funding
Establish a shared understanding of local funding responsibilities for each 0
partner organisation to ensure these are aligned with the expectations in
the SEND Code of Practice (2014).

Associate
Director: SEND

Feb-19

Apr-19

Review funding agreements and protocols between partner organisations 0
at an individual EHCP level in line with the agreed funding responsibilities;
redraft protocols and funding matrices where needed.

Associate
Director: SEND

Feb-19

Apr-19

B27

Risk analysis
These risks and the risk management actions are owned by the chair of the strategy and governance workstream.
Risk

Impact

Strategy

Action(s)

Risk score

Lack of partner engagement and
shared ownership of the plan.

There is no or limited traction in
delivering the system change and
behaviours that are necessary to
transform services and achieve
better outcomes for children and
young people with SEND within the
financial resources available.

Mitigate

Provide strong leadership of the
SEND Partnership Board at Chief
Executive level. Achieve early sign-up
from all key partner agencies to the
vision, shared values and key
activities in the SEND transformation
plan. Obtain support and have
oversight from the Health and

Moderate

21

Wellbeing Board. Put in place regular
meetings and reporting to share
progress and achievements.
There is a lack of focus and pace in
delivering activities, and drift and
delay in decision making. There is
duplication and mixed messaging
from partnership boards and other
organisations working in this arena,
including the Health and Wellbeing
Board, SEND Partnership Board and
the Education Commission.

Mitigate

Develop governance structures that
Low
all clearly understood and adhered to
by all stakeholders. Ensure there is
effective stakeholder representation
on the SEND Partnership Board and
six workstreams. Develop a protocol
between the SEND Partnership Board
and the Education Commission to
avoid duplication. Establish a detailed
communications plan.

Inability to appoint an effective and
engaged Parent-Carer Forum that is
able to work collaboratively in the
SEND partnership.

The voices and opinions of parents
and carers do not inform strategic
decision-making. Implementation of
the plan is not successful as parents
are not informed, aware or signed
up to the system change required.

Mitigate

Close working with Contact to source
a new Parent-Carer Forum (PCF).
Review of the lessons learned from
Achieving for Children’s working
relationship with the previous PCF,
and system-wide implementation of
learning to ensure co-production.
PCF membership of the SEND
Partnership Forum and workstreams.

Moderate

Lack of capacity and capability to
drive and deliver transformation.

Key activities in the plan cannot be
delivered within the timescales
necessary. Partner organisations,
parents and carers lose faith in their
ability to achieve system change.

Mitigate

Sufficient resources from all partner
organisations are allocated to deliver
the activities in the plan. There is
strong senior leadership of the six
workstreams. A programme to upskill
the workforce to deliver the plan.

Moderate

22

B28

Ineffective governance of the SEND
Partnership Board and
workstreams.

Additional resources and expertise
are sourced externally where this is
required.
No agreement with schools and the
Schools Forum to transfer funding
between DSG blocks.

There is a significant financial gap in Accept
the plan for 2019/20, 2020/21 and
2021/22 which will need to be met
from other activities in the plan. The
Council is required to request a
disapplication of the Schools Forum
decision from the Secretary of State
for Education which is against the
current policy position of the
administration.

There is ongoing engagement with
individual schools and the Schools
Forum about funding allocation.
Discussions continue with the
Department for Education on the
national DSG funding formula.
Contingency plans are established to
allocate the funding shortfall to other
actions within the plan.

High

B29

23

6.2. WORKSTREAM 2: COMMERCIAL THINKING
Workstream Lead: Lucy Kourpas - Finance Director, Achieving for Children; and Associate Director Corporate and Commercial, RB Kingston
Workstream Objectives
The commercial thinking workstream will focus on developing commercially aware approaches across all partner organisations to drive cost
reduction and ensure that commissioned provision maximises value for money from our shared resources. This includes:
● Establishing the shared principles needed to embed commercial approaches across the SEND partnership, including bringing together
financial, commissioning and business insight from across the partnership to share commercial expertise and identify the total
resources needed to successfully achieve financial sustainability.

● Supporting Achieving for Children to embed commercial thinking and approaches in its placement brokerage service, including building
quality assurance mechanisms into its contract management so that it secures good value for money, and reduces spending on its
independent school placements and the costs of top-up funding to mainstream and special schools.
Progress so far
A review of contract management processes to ensure that they provide effective quality assurance of SEND placements and derive maximum
value for money for all funding organisations in the SEND partnership has been completed. Price negotiations with the largest single local
24

B30

● Develop broader partnerships and commissioning collectives to leverage cost savings and achieve better value for money from the
purchase of placements and other services, including the implementation of new funding models such as payment by results and social
investment.

provider of placements for children and young people from Kingston have reduced costs for post-16 provision. Price negotiations have also
been held with independent and non-maintained special schools. New contracts were issued to these schools in 2017/18 which delivered
some cost reductions. Achieving for Children has a placement commissioning and brokerage service primarily focused on its care placements
and supported accommodation for care leavers. The service was extended in September 2018 to include a full-time brokerage specialist for
SEND placements.
Expected impact

Success measure

National
Baseline
Benchmark September
2017/18
2018

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Target

Target

Target

Target

Not
collected

20.4%

17%

14%

11%

8%

Percentage (%) DSG high needs block spent on top-up
funding for mainstream and special schools.

Not
collected

18.1%

17%

16%

15%

14%

Average cost of independent and non-maintained school
placements.

Not
collected

£40,610

£38,000

£36,000

£34,000

£32,000

Average cost of mainstream and special school placements.

Not
collected

£6,115

£5.900

£5,900

£5,900

£5,900

25

B31

Percentage (%) of DSG high needs block spent on
independent and non-maintained school placements.

Activities
Activity

Investment
required
£

Lead

Start date

End date

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Dec-18

Apr-19

Assess commercial expertise across organisations in the SEND partnership 10,000
and develop the workforce capabilities and capacity needed to work more
commercially and create cost efficiencies.

Associate
Director:
Workforce

Jan-19

Mar-19

Scope opportunities, develop business cases and implement plans to 0
establish collective commissioning arrangements that leverage maximum
cost savings in SEND services.

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Jan-19

Apr-19

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Feb-19

Apr-19

Shared approaches
Develop and establish shared principles and expectations to embed 0
commercial approaches across the SEND partnership, including rooting all
activity in local needs analysis and service planning priorities.

(Complete for
post 16)

Commissioning capacity
B32

Placement brokerage
Explore and implement new funding mechanisms to reduce costs or 0
attract new resources, such as incentivised funding models, payment by
results and social impact bonds.

26

Complete contract reviews with all current independent and 12,000
non-maintained special school providers, mainstream and special schools
in receipt of top-up funding, to achieve cost reductions.

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Jan-19

Apr-22

Risk analysis
These risks and the risk management actions are owned by the chair of the commercial thinking workstream.
Impact

Strategy

Inability to recruit and retain
professionals with commercial and
contract management expertise in
the placement commissioning and
brokerage service.

There is insufficient capacity or skill Mitigate
in the placement commissioning
and brokerage service to negotiate
and
manage contracts with
providers that reduce costs.

Job profiles, salary levels and the Moderate
recruitment process attract good
candidates with commercial expertise
and experience. There is an effective
induction, development and support
package available to all professionals
involved in placement brokerage.

Commercial negotiations with SEND Placement costs are not reduced to Mitigate
providers are unproductive.
the expected level, meaning that
additional savings have to be found
from other areas of the plan.

There is an effective induction, Moderate
development and support package
available to all professionals involved
in placement brokerage. Expertise in
commercial contract management is
secured from the Council or brought
in from an external consultant on a
risk and reward basis.

27

Action(s)

Risk score

B33

Risk

6.3. WORKSTREAM 3: LOCAL PROVISION
Workstream Lead: Pauline Maddison, Director of Children’s Services, Kingston Council; and task and finish group leads
Workstream Objectives
The local provision workstream will lead the development of capacity and quality in local education, health and social care services for children
with SEND so that the needs of as many children and young people as possible are met in their local communities, reducing our reliance on
mainstream and special schools outside the borough and on higher-cost provision in independent and non-maintained special schools. This
includes:
● Developing specialist education places in Kingston that are the first choice of children, young people and families, including expanding
local specialist resource provisions and establishing new special schools to meet identified needs.

● Reviewing local alternative education provision to determine the most effective and sustainable model for the future.
● Establishing a high quality local therapy offer that supports children and young people to make good progress towards their goals and
maximise their opportunities for inclusion and independence.

Progress so far
In feedback to our consultation activity, local families and professionals gave a clear message that more local provision would be welcome, but
it must be high quality. We agree. This workstream benchmark with outstanding providers and popular independent provision and lead
28

B34

● Reviewing the quality of local provision for young people aged 16 to 25 and developing new high quality and meaningful post-16
education, training and employment pathways, including consideration of the local adult learning offer.

developments across the whole system to deliver high quality provision and placements. In March 2018, we consulted on plans to increase the
number of school places for children with SEND at specialist resource provisions in local mainstream schools and at special schools. 146 places
have been, or will be, created as a result. The consultation resulted in a change to the funding and contracting of specialist resource provisions
so that there is a clear expectation to deliver outreach support for the inclusion of pupils in neighbouring schools. Our joint applications with
Richmond Council to the Department of Education to run a local competition to establish and run two new special schools as part of the
Special Free School Presumptive Route has been approved: one school is for children and young people with autistic spectrum disorders
situated in Kingston; the other school is for children and young people with social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) needs situated in
Richmond. Pathways and support to prepare young people with SEND for adulthood have also been strengthened through the development of
employment-based routes and vocational training programmes. We are working on a new model for local therapies provision.
Expected impact
2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Target

Target

Target

Target

Total number of school places in specialist resource
provisions in mainstream schools in Kingston.

Not
collected

228

228

266

304

342

Total number of school places in special schools in Kingston.

Not
collected

335

335

367

399

431

Percentage (%) of children and young people with SEND
who are permanently excluded from school.

Not
collected

50%

25%

0%

0%

0%

Percentage (%) of young people aged 16 to 25 with SEND in
vocational training schemes, including apprenticeships,
traineeships, supported internships and employment.

Not
collected

17%

20%

25%

30%

35%

29

B35

Success measure

National
Baseline
Benchmark September
2017/18
2018

% of SEND commissioning activity involving children and
young people

Not
collected

% of SEND commissioning activity involving parents/carers

Not
collected

Activities
Activity

Financial
investment
£

Lead

Start date

End date

Specialist school places
Associate
Jan-19
Director: School
Place Planning

Apr-19

Complete the Special Free School Presumptive Route following 0
Department for Education approval to proceed for two new local schools
(one Kingston and one Richmond)

Associate
Oct-18
Director: School
Place Planning

Jan-20

Develop a marketing campaign for the SEND offer local to promote the 15,000
high quality of local SEND provision in mainstream schools, specialist
resource provisions and special schools.

Associate
Director:
Business
Development

Jun-19

30

Jan-19

B36

Produce a ten-year SEND provision plan that identifies the numbers and 12,000
types of early years, school and post-16 places needed and makes
recommendations for how and where these should be provided.

Increase the number of specialist resource provision places to reflect the To
be Associate
Jan-19
confirmed
Director:
School
needs identified in the ten-year SEND provision plan.
Place Planning

Apr-22

Pathways for young people aged 16 to 25
Develop a local post-16 learning offer for specific groups most likely to To
be Associate
Director:
use residential provision maximising the use of the adult education confirmed
Commissioning
curriculum and community assets such as libraries.

Apr-19

Jul-19

Develop the 14-19 offer in Achieving for Children to provide information, 7,500
advice and guidance on pathways into training and employment for
young people with EHCPs.

Feb-19

Apr-19

Review the funding and delivery model for alternative education provision 0
to ensure it provides good value for money and whether it could be better
targeted for children and young people with SEND, including investigating
mechanisms for recharging schools for the costs of permanent exclusion.

Associate
Feb-19
Director: School
Place Planning

Apr-19

Redirect top-up funding to provide all schools with specialist therapeutic 0
consultations so that they can modify and improve their school spaces and
environments for learners with SEMH needs, enabling a reduction in
funding for EHCPs for these students.

Strategic Lead: Apr-19
Educational
Inclusion

Sep-19

Associate
Feb-19
Director: Health
Services
and

Sep-19

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Alternative education provision

Develop in consultation with children, young people, parents/carers and TBC
professionals an improved local therapies offer based on the findings of the
needs assessment and gap analysis, including a strategy to provide
31

B37

Therapies

therapeutic support beyond the statutory model.

Chief Nurse

Risk analysis
These risks and the risk management actions are owned by the chair of the local provision workstream:
Impact

Strategy

The free school presumptive route
does not successfully secure
providers to establish the two
special free schools approved to
proceed by the Department for
Education.

There are insufficient local special Accept
school places to meet the needs
identified in the ten-year SEND
provision plan, making the Council
more reliant on maintained and
special schools outside the borough
and on non-maintained and
independent school provision.

A detailed marketing programme High
evidences the need for local special
school provision and demonstrates
the full benefits of the opportunity to
potential providers.

Support from schools for the local
SEND
provision plan is not
consistent or sufficient to create the
additional school places required.

There are insufficient local special Mitigate
school places to meet the needs
identified in the ten-year SEND
provision plan, making the Council
more reliant on maintained and
special schools outside the borough
and on non-maintained and
independent school provision.

There is effective engagement and Moderate
communication with schools through
existing networks to agree the local
provision plan. Proposals are based
on a detailed analysis of local needs.
Good consultation with schools and
other stakeholders lead to strong
proposals and well managed plans to
develop new provision.

There are substantial delays to the There are insufficient local special Mitigate
design and construction of special school places to meet the needs

Effective programme management of Moderate
building works by the Council and its

32

Action(s)

Risk score

B38

Risk

school buildings and provisions.

identified in the ten-year SEND
provision plan, making the Council
more reliant on maintained and
special schools outside the borough
and on non-maintained and
independent school provision.

contractors. Good liaison between
the Council and its contractors and
Achieving for Children enables the
development of contingency plans
where this is necessary.

The therapies needs analysis is Moderate
developed in conjunction with local
health commissioners and providers.
The evidence supports development
of local therapy solutions including
the provision of additional services
and upskilling the workforce. There is
wide buy-in to the plan at all levels of
the health commissioning sector,
including NHS London, the South
West London Alliance of CCGs, and
the Kingston and Richmond CCG.

Parents and carers do not accept
that local mainstream schools,
specialist resource provisions, and
special schools are able to meet
their child’s assessed needs.

There is a clear marketing strategy to High
promote the resources and facilities
available in local provision and the
outcomes they achieve for children
and young people with SEND. The
quality of local provision is actively
promoted by all practitioners in their
relationships with parents and
through their professional networks.

There is an increase in the number Mitigate
of disputed EHCPs and appeals to
the First-Tier SEND Tribunal on the
basis of parental preference. The
workload for SEND professionals is
increased and there is a potential
for the tribunal to direct that the
local authority makes alternative
and higher cost provision.
33

B39

Local therapy provision is unable to Children’s therapeutic needs cannot Mitigate
be delivered to meet the identified be met locally leading to
needs of children with disabilities.
placements in more specialist
school provision and at a higher
cost,

6.4. WORKSTREAM 4: EARLY INTERVENTION AND TRANSITION
Workstream Lead: Jo Sullivan-Lyons, Strategic Lead: Educational Inclusion, Achieving for Children; and primary and secondary headteacher
representatives
Workstream Objectives
The objective of the early intervention and transition workstream is to support education providers, families and other professionals to be
competent and confident in supporting children and young people with SEND across all education phases, from the early years to post-16, so
that they have the best possible educational experiences and their needs are met early without the need for an EHCP. This includes:

● Providing advice and support to parents, carers, teachers and other professionals to promote inclusion and support positive transitions
between school key stages and phases and into post-16 education or training, avoiding the need for higher cost provision.
● Developing effective links and working relationships with targeted and universal services so that families have access to support that
builds on their strengths and promotes resilience and independence.
● Supporting young adults to have a smooth and well-planned transition from children’s services to adult social care services.

Progress so far
Throughout our consultation activity, local families and professionals have agreed with us that early intervention can be impactful, but only if it
34

B40

● Upskilling the workforce to better understand the needs of children and young people with SEND and the strategies they can use to
provide support at the earliest stage so that their needs are met within mainstream settings wherever possible.

is adequately funded. Feedback has also clearly said that early intervention cannot and must not replace statutory support. We agree.
We have increased the support available to all education providers to improve inclusion. This includes introducing a one-stop-shop service to
provide information, advice and guidance and to signpost providers to specialist support services. We have also established a secondary phase
educational inclusion support service and are offering SEMH networks free to all primary and secondary schools. Revised threshold guidance
has been co-produced specifying the evidence-based interventions available to schools and post-16 providers; this has been supported by
holding specialist inclusion and intervention training for mainstream schools. An Early Intervention Panel was established in September 2018
aimed at providing early support to schools, so that children’s and young people’s educational needs can continue to be met within their
existing mainstream setting. A transitions protocol is in place to support early and joint planning for young adults who meet the eligibility
criteria for adult social care services. Information sharing events have been organised for parents and carers aim to support the transition
process at primary and secondary school and into Post 16 provision.

35

B41

Kingston Council have invested an additional £283,000 per year in early intervention since 2017-18. This investment is being targeted at
● A transition support team for SEN students from years 4-8 to ensure that there is continuity in high quality provision and consistency in
needs being met
● Increased teaching assistant support for primary schools to maintain high quality outcomes in the face of increased demand and case
complexity; and to enable more children and young people with EHCPs to remain in mainstream, rather than specialist, settings where
appropriate
● Staff time to source and quality assure alternative provision that schools could then commission themselves as part of a creative
package for students that are struggling in mainstream settings
● Increased capacity in schools to support children and young people with social, emotional and mental health needs
● Further enhance joint working with autism spectrum disorder specialist teams within Achieving for Children, supporting schools and
other services to understand and meet the needs of children and young people with autistic spectrum disorder
● Quality assured mentoring and coaching for disaffected secondary age pupils, aligned with our vision for young people, either on an
individual or group basis

Expected impact

Success measure

National
Baseline
Benchmark September
2017/18
2018

18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Target

Target

Target

Target

Not
collected

0%

30%

50%

70%

90%

Percentage (%) of children and young people reviewed by
the Educational Inclusion Support Service who are
supported to remain in mainstream education.

Not
collected

0%

30%

50%

70%

90%

Percentage (%) of children and young people reviewed by
the Early Intervention Panel who receive support that
prevents the need for an EHCP.

Not
collected

0%

30%

40%

50%

70%

Percentage (%) of children and young people with EHCPs
who are educated in mainstream schools and settings.

34.0%

31%

30%

35%

40%

45%

Percentage (%) of children and young people with EHCPs
who are educated in specialist resource provisions in
mainstream schools.

5.1%

9%

10%

11%

12%

13%

Total number of children and young people aged 0 to 25
with an EHCP.

Not
collected

1,124

< 1,165

< 1,235

< 1,275

<1,315

36

B42

Percentage (%) of children and young people reviewed by
the Early Intervention Panel who are supported to remain in
mainstream education.

Activities
Activity

Investment
required
£

Lead

Start date

End date

Early intervention
Strategic Lead: Jan-19
Educational
Inclusion

Jul-19

Establish the skills and capacity in special schools and specialist resource 54,000
provisions to provide expert outreach support to education providers.

Lead
School Mar-19
Improvement
Adviser: SEND

Jun-19

Develop a learning and development programme to upskill professionals 16,000
working in schools and colleges in supporting children and young people
with SEND, based on the intelligence gathered from the Educational
Inclusion Support Service.

Head
of Jan-19
Learning and
Development

Apr-19

Review and plan the support needed by families to build their resilience 0
so that more children and young people with SEND at risk of requiring
residential school placements are supported to remain at home.

Strategic Lead: Jan-19
Educational
Inclusion

Apr-22

Evaluate the impact of early intervention initiatives to inform the design 0
and development of future service provision, including monitoring the
direct impact of the Early Intervention Panel.

Strategic Lead: Apr-19
Educational
Inclusion

Apr-22

Transition

37

B43

Establish and facilitate a local system of peer-to-peer inclusion audits that 0
support inclusive practice in mainstream settings.

Build on the existing transitions protocol between children’s services and 0
adult services to develop a preparing for adulthood strategy that
promotes independence from the earliest stage and informs the design
and delivery of services by all organisations in the SEND partnership.

Head of Policy Jan-19
and Research

Apr-19

Increase the numbers of young people with post-16 EHCPs on vocational 0
pathways, including apprenticeships, traineeships and supported
internships to support them in their transition into employment.

Associate
Director
Commissioning

Oct 18

Sept 19

Establish and implement a process, as part of the preparing for adulthood 0
strategy, to review all EHCPs at Year 11, to determine whether a young
person’s needs would be better supported post-18 by a managed case
transfer to adult social care services.

Associate
Director
Commissioning

Apr-19

Apr-22

B44

Risk analysis
These risks and the risk management actions are owned by the chair of the early intervention and transition workstream.
Risk

Impact

Strategy

School professionals do not support
inclusion and early intervention, or
there is inconsistent support across
schools.

Children and young people with Mitigate
SEND cannot be supported within
mainstream schools or specialist
resource provisions, meaning that
they have to be transferred to
special schools or non-maintained
38

Action(s)

Risk score

There is effective engagement and Low
communication with professionals
through the SENCO network. There is
an effective learning, development
and support offer to schools to
support inclusive practice. The shape

of the offer is informed by learning
from EHCP assessments, tribunals
and other feedback.

There is insufficient capacity, skill Mitigate
and expertise within the inclusion
service to support schools with
targeted interventions.

Job profiles, salary levels and the Moderate
recruitment process attract good
candidates with inclusion expertise
and experience. Flexible working
arrangements are available including
secondments from schools. There is
an effective induction, development
and support package available to all
professionals involved in targeted
interventions.

Transition arrangements between Young adults with SEND do not Mitigate
children’s services and adult social receive the support they need in a
care services are not implemented. timely way from the appropriate
services. Ineffective transition and
working arrangements between
children’s services and adult social
care lead to fragmentation and
build higher costs into the system.

The preparing for adulthood strategy Moderate
and transitions protocol facilitates
early consideration and planning for
young people’s transition. Funding
responsibilities are made clear within
the protocol and are agreed in each
individual case.

Inability to recruit and retain
professionals who are able to
provide expert outreach support to
schools and providers.

39

B45

and independent schools at a higher
cost.

6.5. WORKSTREAM 5: ASSESSMENT AND PLANNING
Workstream Lead: Charis Penfold, Director of Education Services, Achieving for Children; and Designated Clinical Officer, Kingston Clinical
Commissioning Group
Workstream Objectives
The objective of the assessment and planning workstream is to drive improvements in the timeliness and overall quality of EHCPs so that they
are specific about the educational provision, support and outcomes to be achieved for each child or young person, with equal emphasis given
to their health and social care needs. This includes:
● Streamlining the process for the development of EHCPs, ensuring that plans are completed within statutory timescales to a consistently
high standard, and are based on detailed and well-evidenced assessments by all professionals.

● Establishing a robust framework for the annual review of EHCPs so that: statutory expectations are met; the process is inclusive of all
stakeholders; there is a thorough review of the outcomes and continuing needs of each child or young person; and the provision
supports children and young people to make good educational progress and promotes independence.
● Ensuring the views, wishes and feelings of children and young people with SEND, and their parents and carers, are heard and
responded to at all stages of the assessment and planning process, including improving customer care standards and the timeliness of
responses.

40

B46

● Establishing effective quality assurance mechanisms for EHCPs that are inclusive of all organisations and professionals contributing to
the EHCP in line with the SEND Code of Practice (2014).

Progress so far
A review of the EHCP assessment and planning process has been completed using feedback from parents and carers to better understand the
customer journey and experience of local services. Feedback in consultation activity has been clear that local families feel EHCP coordinators
and SEN Caseworkers need more training and support to produce quality documentation and support parents to navigate and engage with the
process. We have designed and completed a skills audit for the team that has informed the design of a workforce development programme for
EHCP coordinators and case workers within the SEND service. SENDIASS is working closely with the SEND Service Manager to share themes
from their interaction with parents and carers which identify where things are working well and where improvement is needed
A full quality assurance process of all EHCPs is planned which will be completed be senior leaders in the SEND service and teachers seconded
from schools.

To hear the views of children, young people and families, we are developing new ways of capturing feedback after all new assessments have
been completed and through the annual review process. We will also include mechanisms to better capture the views of providers to assess
the impact of EHCPs and more widely. We are also developing mechanisms to hear the voices of parents and carers whose children and young
people are at SEND support.

41

B47

New systems and resource have been established to better meet statutory obligations on annual reviews. In feedback to our consultation
activity, local families and professionals agreed that annual reviews are important. A clear message was given that annual reviews must be
focussed on young people’s needs, not driven by a target to reduce provision. We agree. We are developing our approach to annual reviews so
that they serve a number of purposes - to assess the impact of provision on children’s progress; to assess whether there should be any change
in provision - this could be an increase in level of support or a decrease - and highlight any possible challenges in the placement; to ensure
accountability for providers who are overseeing the provision in the EHCP and to help plan transitions. A specialist officer has been recruited to
lead on a programme of annual reviews. There are plans to expand this team to include an annual review coordinator to support the process.
The initial focus for annual reviews has been on independent school placements and EHCPs at key stage and phase transition points at Year 5,
Year 9 and in post-16.

Expected impact

Success measure

National
Baseline
Benchmark September
2017/18
2018

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Target

Target

Target

Target

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of parents and carers who feel their input is
reflected in the EHCP/ have been fully engaged in
assessment and writing of plan

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of new EHCPs issued within 20 weeks
including exceptions.

61%

75%

75%

80%

85%

90%

Percentage (%) of EHCPs evaluated to be good or better as
part of the local quality assurance framework for SEND.

Not
collected

Not
collected

50%

65%

80%

90%

Percentage (%) of audited plans containing health
information meet required standard set out in QA
framework

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of audited plans containing social care
information meet required standard set out in QA
framework

Not
collected

Not
collected

B48

Percentage (%) of CYP who feel their input is reflected in the
EHCP

42

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of audited plans where health advice
identified impact on outcomes for children and young
people

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of parents who feel EHCP accurately reflects
child's needs

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) education settings feel EHCP accurately
reflects child's needs

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) health providers feel EHCP accurately
reflects child's health needs

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of children and young people who feel the
plan will help them to make significant progress towards
outcomes

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of parents who feel plan would help child
make significant progress towards outcomes

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of education settings who feel EHCP will help
child make significant progress towards outcomes

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of health providers who feel EHCP will help
child make significant progress towards health outcomes

Not
collected

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of education settings who feel provisions in
the plan will succeed in ensuring that the CYP reaches the
outcomes set out

Not
collected

Not
collected

43

B49

Percentage (%) of audited plans where health advice was
provided within statutory timescales

Percentage (%) of EHCP annual reviews completed within 12
months.

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of children and young people receiving SEND
support are satisfied with their level of engagement in the
ADPR cycle.

Not
collected

Percentage (%) of parents receiving SEND support are
satisfied with their level of engagement in the ADPR cycle.

Not
collected

11%

25%

55%

75%

100%

Total number of appeals submitted to the SEND tribunal.

Not
collected

15

15

12

8

5

Percentage (%) of appeals where the SEND tribunal hearing
is in favour of the local authority.

Not
collected

13%

13%

30%

50%

70%

B50

Activities
Activity

Investment
required
£

Lead

Participation and feedback

Develop mechanisms to capture feedback from children and young people
with EHCPs and their parents/carers on their views on their needs,
provision and progress towards outcomes and their experience of the
process
44

Director
Education
Services and
Associate
Director
Business

Start date

End date

Development

Develop mechanisms to capture feedback from children and young people
at SEND Support and their parents/carers on their views on their needs,
provision and progress towards outcomes and their experience of the
ADPR process

Director
Education
Services and
Associate
Director
Business
Development

B51

Develop mechanisms to capture feedback from professionals and partners
on their confidence in provision set out in EHCPs to meet the needs of
children and young people

Director
Education
Services and
Associate
Director
Business
Development

EHCP quality
Review all EHCPs to identify any specific weaknesses or lack of specificity in 50,000
the quality of assessments and/or plans; develop a programme to improve
the quality of plans where this is required.

Associate
Director:
SEND

Nov-18

Nov-19

Develop and deliver a multi-module training programme to drive up the 15,000
quality and consistency of EHCPs, ensuring this reflects the expectations in
Children and Families Act 2014, including the need for plans to work
towards the independence of all children and young people.

Associate
Director:
Workforce

Dec-18

Mar-19

Develop quality assurance processes for EHCPs across all partner 2,500
organisations involved in assessment and planning, ensuring there is

Director
of Jan-19
Improvement

45

Jul-19

regular feedback to professionals to promote continual improvement.

Annual reviews
Associate
Director:
SEND

Jan-19

Jun-19

Establish a priority programme for annual reviews focused on independent 0
school placements and key stage and phase transition points; develop good
practice guidelines and processes for annual reviews to assess whether
plans are achieving the agreed outcomes, promoting resilience and
independence, and provide good value for money.

Associate
Director:
SEND

Nov-18

Apr-21

Upgrade the SEND electronic case management system so that it better 25,000
supports the EHCP assessment, planning and annual review process.

Head
Business
Systems

of Apr-19

Jul-19

Risk analysis
These risks and the risk management actions are owned by the chair of the assessment and planning workstream.
Risk

Impact

Strategy

Inability to recruit and retain There is insufficient capacity, skill Mitigate
experienced professionals within and expertise within the SEND
46

Action(s)

Risk score

Job profiles, salary levels and the Moderate
recruitment process attract good

B52

Support all partner organisations to fully engage with annual EHCP reviews 0
through attendance at mandatory training, so that the process is
meaningful and leads to the robust re-assessment and review of children’s
and young people’s needs and provision.

candidates with SEND expertise and
experience.
Flexible
working
arrangements are available including
secondments from schools. There is
an effective induction, development
and support package available to all
SEND professionals.

Annual EHCP reviews and updates
to plans following quality assurance
require substantial changes to
plans.

There is insufficient capacity within Mitigate
the SEND service to make required
changes to EHCPs. Proposed
changes to plans result in parental
challenge, disputed EHCPs and
appeals to the SEND tribunal, which
may result in higher cost provision.

The management structure for the Moderate
SEND service is reviewed to provide
additional capacity. Additional annual
review officers are recruited. There is
a priority programme for annual
EHCP reviews and quality assurance
and this is well coordinated and
managed by a project manager.
There is engagement with parents
and carers. Assessments and plans
were well evidenced by all
contributing professionals.

Annual EHCP reviews do not reduce
the costs of individual plans to an
affordable funding level that meets
the child’s or young person’s needs.

There is a significant financial saving Mitigate
attached to this activity in 2019/20,
2020/21 and 2021/22. These
savings cannot be delivered.
Proposed changes to plans result in
increased
parental
challenge,
disputed EHCPs and appeals to the
SEND tribunal, which may result in
higher cost provision.

The management structure for the High
SEND service is reviewed to provide
additional capacity. Additional annual
review officers are recruited. There is
a priority programme for annual
EHCP reviews and quality assurance
and this is well coordinated and
managed by a project manager.
There is engagement with parents
and carers. Assessments and plans

47

B53

the
SEND service, including service to drive up the quality of
educational psychologists, case EHCPs and maximise the benefit of
workers and annual review officers. the annual EHCP review process.

were well evidenced
contributing professionals.
The SEND service does not have the
systems, processes and support it
needs to drive up the quality of
EHCP assessments and plans.

The quality of EHCP assessments Mitigate
and plans does not improve at the
required pace. EHCPs do not
robustly and sufficiently evidence
how and where children’s and
young people’s education, health
and care needs can be met. This
may result in increased parental
challenge, disputed EHCPs and
appeals to the SEND tribunal, which
may result in higher cost provision.

by

all

There is a priority programme for Low
annual EHCP reviews and quality
assurance and this is well coordinated
and managed by a project manager.
A dedicated project manager leads
the upgrade to the electronic case
management system.

B54

48

6.6. WORKSTREAM 6: HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL
Workstream Lead: Eamonn Gilbert, Associate Director - Commissioning, Achieving for Children
Workstream Objectives
This service is not funded from the DSG but is included in this plan for completeness as it is an important element of the SEND offer for
children, young people and their families and must be part of the whole SEND transformation programme. The objective of the home to school
transport workstream is to lead the establishment of a delivery model for the home to school travel of children and young people with SEND
ensuring that it actively supports opportunities to promote and achieve independence. This includes:
● Agreeing a revised strategy, eligibility criteria and policy framework for the operation of home to school travel that enables the service
to meet children’s and young people’s needs, supports independence, and is financially sustainable.

● Ensuring efficient and cost-effective home to school travel arrangements are in place by September 2019 when the current contract for
bus transport comes to an end.

Progress so far
Achieving for Children (AfC) and Kingston Council agreed a revised SEN Transport policy in February 2019. The revised policy moved away from
the traditional model of funding taxis and buses, to provide the Council with a broader range of transport solutions and support packages that
promotes independence and prepares young people for adulthood in line with the ambitions of the Children and Families Act 2014. Two key
arrangements that have been used to deliver bus and taxi routes are coming to an end. Following a detailed options appraisal that looked at
49

B55

● Implementing new commissioning arrangements for all home to school travel that supports the delivery of the strategy and which
considers options for new funding models, such as dynamic purchasing systems, payment by results and use of the voluntary sector.

options for service delivery (in house/outsource/hybrid), a detailed business case for a hybrid service, including a mix of contractual
arrangements and inhouse support has been developed.
The ambition for the travel service is to ensure that all young people are supported to develop the skills to travel as independently as they are
capable of. This will assist young people to reach their potential both in and out of school and in to adulthood. The level of travel skill will vary
between pupils and will depend on individual children’s needs. For some pupils this may mean that they are able to confidently use public
transport, others may increase in confidence to be able to use collection points or travel without a personal assistant and for some pupils it
may mean that they can travel with their peers rather than individually. The service will also work with families to improve resilience and
confidence and ensure that where possible families have a role in planning transport. The programme of support will be tailored to assess
what a young person and their family may be capable of achieving and working jointly with young people, their families and partners towards
this objective. Success in achieving increased travel skills will be celebrated through the annual travel awards.
Expected impact
2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Target

Target

Target

Target

Percentage (%) of children and young people in receipt of
home to school transport who travel independently to
school following independent travel training.

Not
collected

1%

1%

3%

5%

7%

Percentage (%) of children and young people in receipt of
home to school transport who travel to school with their
parent(s) or carer(s) including as a result of the parental
bursary scheme.

Not
collected

5.5%

5.5%

8%

12%

14%

Percentage (%) of children and young people in receipt of
home to school transport who travel to school by bus from a
collection point.

Not
collected

12.5%

12.5%

15.5%

17.5%

20.5%

50

B56

Success measure

National
Baseline
Benchmark September
2017/18
2018

Activities
Activity

Investment
required

Start date

End date

Finalise the staffing model, terms and conditions and oversee the TUPE £0
process and timescales for staff joining Achieving for Children with
Kingston HR

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Feb-19

Mar-19

Confirm technology partnership

£0

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Mar-19

Mar-19

Introduce targeted bursaries for parents and carers to transport their own £0
children to school or college

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Mar-18

Apr-19

Extend use of collection points on specific routes, subject to consultation £0
responses and Council decision

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Apr-19

Apr-19

Review fleet lease arrangements

£0

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Apr-19

Apr-19

Establish new Taxi DPS framework

£0

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Apr-19

Sep-19

51

B57

Lead

Revisit options appraisal and update market viability study to confirm £0
preferred delivery model

Associate
Director:
Commissioning

Apr-20

Sep-20

Risk analysis
These risks and the risk management actions are owned by the chair of the home to school travel workstream.
Impact

Strategy

The SEND transport market is
insufficiently developed to respond
to the required operating model
and desired outcomes.

Children and young people with Mitigate
SEND continue to travel to school
using bus and taxi transport rather
than access travel opportunities
that promote their independence
and life skills. The financial cost of
home
to
school travel is
unsustainable.

There is a clear communication of the Moderate
strategy and policy for SEND
transport. There is a detailed service
specification. Market engagement
and development events are held as
part of a well-run procurement. The
financial business case to provide all
or parts of the service in-house is
developed.

Children, young people and parents Children and young people with Mitigate
are reluctant to take-up and use the SEND continue to travel to school
new travel options.
using bus and taxi transport rather
than access travel opportunities
that promote their independence
and life skills. The financial cost of
home
to
school travel is

There is good consultation with Moderate
parents and carers on the options for
home to school travel. The PCF and
individual parents are engaged in the
development of the strategy and
policy. The ambitions of the service
to promote independence are clearly

52

Action(s)

Risk score

B58

Risk

unsustainable.

articulated in all communications
with children, young people and
parents.

B59

53

7. FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
There is significant and escalating financial pressure in relation to the provision of high needs education services at both a local and national
level. At the 31st March 2019 the Council expects to carry forward a cumulative debt of over £11m in relation to education services.
Significant savings have already been achieved during 2018/19 but if we do not take further action this debt will continue to escalate to
unaffordable levels and put at risk the Council’s ability to deliver the local services that Kingston residents deserve.
We plan to tackle this funding gap in three ways:
● We are committed to continuing to provide cashflow to protect high needs services whilst expenditure is brought in to line with
available grant funding,
● We will invest in local services to ensure that they are both high quality and cost efficient,
● We will challenge ourselves to ensure that our systems are efficient and affordable.

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£m

£m

£m

£m

ACTUAL

FORECAST

FORECAST

FORECAST

High needs budget

26.701

23.149

23.399

23.649

Forecast spend including new demand before actions

30.028

30.334

32.434

34.301

3.327

7.185

9.035

10.652

Saving required to balance the high needs block
54

B60

The following table summarises the position for this financial year, the position if the Council takes no further action and the projected position
after the implementation of this recovery plan. The savings identified for 2018/19 have been fully achieved this year.

Financial impact of workstream actions
-1.281

-0.966

-1.066

-1.116

Commercial Thinking Workstream

-0.140

-0.635

-0.930

-1.220

Local Provision Workstream

-0.361

-0.875

-1.250

-1.552

Early Intervention and Transition

-0.145

-0.500

-1.000

-1.500

Assessment and Planning Workstream

-0.100

-1.750

-3.350

-5.264

Total financial impact of actions

-2.027

-4.726

-7.596

-10.652

Cumulative financial impact of actions

-2.027

-6.753

-14.349

-25.000

1.300

2.459

1.440

0.000

Alternative funding

-0.846

0.000

0.000

0.000

Cumulative DSG funding shortfall

11.144

13.604

15.043

15.044

B61

Strategy and Governance Workstream

In year high needs funding shortfall after savings

INVESTMENT IN OUR LOCAL SERVICES
As part of this plan, Kingston intend to invest locally to ensure that we have sufficiently skilled local staff and a good local infrastructure to
support pupils achieve their potential. This should in turn make the funding we have go further through improving the efficiency of our local
processes, improving how we use our local resources and reducing dependence on the independent sector. The investment required will be
subject to ongoing review. The latest identified areas are as follows:
55

Lead Officer

Description

Kingston £ investment needed
2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£

£

£

£

Hold a follow-up to the SEND Futures Conferences to
raise awareness of the transformation plan and ensure
that all professionals are signed-up to the vision, ways
of working and activities.

0

10,000

0

0

Head of Intelligence

Expand the current range of key performance indicators
to create a data observatory with information from all
service providers to unlock new intelligence and insight
and inform prioritisation and the development of new
strategies.

0

8,000

0

0

Associate Director:
Workforce

Assess commercial expertise across organisations in the
SEND partnership and develop the workforce
capabilities and capacity needed to work more
commercially and create cost efficiencies.

0

10,000

0

0

Associate Director:
Commissioning

Create additional capacity (1.0 FTE per borough) in the
placement commissioning service to focus on the
brokerage of SEND school placements.

25,000

50,000

50,000

50,000

Associate Director:
Commissioning

Review contract management processes to ensure that
they provide effective quality assurance of SEND
placements and derive maximum value for money for
all funding organisations in the SEND partnership.

5,000

10,000

0

0

56

B62

SEND Programme
Director

Complete contract reviews with all current independent
and non-maintained special school providers,
mainstream and special schools in receipt of top-up
funding, to achieve cost reductions.

6,000

6,000

0

0

Associate Director:
School Place Planning

Produce a ten-year SEND provision plan that identifies
the numbers and types of early years, school and
post-16 places needed and makes recommendations
for how and where these should be provided.

0

30,000

0

0

Associate Director:
Develop a marketing campaign for the local SEND offer
Business Development to promote the high quality of local SEND provision in
mainstream schools, specialist resource provisions and
special schools.

0

15,000

2,500

2,500

Associate Director:
Commissioning

0

7,500

7,500

7,500

Develop the 14-19 offer in Achieving for Children to
provide information, advice and guidance on pathways
into training and employment for young people with
EHCPs.

Associate Director:
Health Services and
Chief Nurse

Develop, commission and/or provide an improved local
therapies offer based on the findings of the needs
assessment and gap analysis.

0

nya

nya

nya

Lead School
Improvement Adviser:
SEND

Establish the skills and capacity in special schools and
specialist resource provisions to provide expert
outreach support to education providers.

0

54,000

10,000

10,000

57

B63

Associate Director:
Commissioning

Head of Learning and
Development

0

16,000

0

0

Develop a learning and development programme to
upskill professionals working in schools and colleges in
supporting children and young people with SEND, based
on the intelligence gathered from the Educational
Inclusion Support Service.
Review all EHCPs to identify any specific weaknesses or
lack of specificity in the quality of assessments and/or
plans; develop a programme to improve the quality of
plans where this is required.

15,000

35,000

0

0

Associate Director:
Workforce

Develop and deliver a multi-module training
programme to drive up the quality and consistency of
EHCPs, ensuring this reflects the expectations in
Children and Families Act 2014, including the need for
plans to work towards the independence of all children
and young people.

0

15,000

0

0

Director of
Improvement

Develop quality assurance processes for EHCPs across
all partner organisations involved in assessment and
planning, ensuring there is regular feedback to
professionals to promote continual improvement.

0

2,500

0

0

Associate Director:
SEND

Create a multi-disciplinary review team with
educational and therapeutic expertise to undertake
annual EHCP reviews.

118,000

100,000

100,000

100,000

Head of Business
Systems

Upgrade the SEND electronic case management system
so that it better supports the EHCP assessment,

0

15,000

0

0

58

B64

Director of Education

planning and annual review process.
Associate Director:
School Place Planning

Increase the number of specialist resource provision
places to reflect the needs identified in the ten-year
SEND provision plan.

tbc

tbc

tbc

tbc

Associate Director:
Commissioning

Develop a local post-16 learning offer for specific
groups most likely to use residential provision
maximising the use of the adult education curriculum
and community assets such as libraries.

0

tbc

tbc

tbc

169,000

384,000

170,000

170,000

TOTAL

B65

EFFICIENT AND AFFORDABLE
It is important that over the duration of the plan the cost of services is brought more into line with the grant allocation. Services need to be
efficient and affordable. The workstreams already outlined in this plan detail how the budget for high needs services could be increased and
how the Council can maximise the impact on pupils of the limited funds that are available. The potential savings and cost avoidance impacts
are summarised in the table below. These impacts will be reviewed as the plan progresses and the workstreams develop more detailed plans
and proposals.

59

Success measure

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Target

Target

Target

Target

£

£

£

£

1,000,000

0

0

0

Work with schools and the Schools Forum to identify spend from the
DSG high needs block that can be reallocated to the DSG early years
WS1 block.

70,500

416,000

416,000

416,000

Work with schools and the Schools Forum to identify funding from
the DSG central services block that can be moved to the DSG high
WS1 needs block.

135,000

150,000

200,000

200,000

Rationalise central support services funded from the high needs block
and achieve efficiencies to release funding for other high needs
WS1 services.

25,000

100,000

100,000

100,000

WS1 Increase funding contributions from social care.

0

100,000

100,000

100,000

WS1 Increased funding contributions from health services.

0

100,000

100,000

100,000

Increase opportunities for early intervention and develop more
WS1 cost-efficient funding models.

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

Reduce spending on independent and non-maintained special school
placements by implementing more commercial commissioning and
WS2 contract management arrangements.

140,000

360,000

630,000

900,000

60

B66

Work with schools and the Schools Forum to identify funding from
the DSG schools block that can be moved to the DSG high needs
WS1 block.

0

75,000

100,000

120,000

Review all service level agreements with specialist resource
provisions to better control and manage the placement of pupils
WS2 within each provision and ensure they deliver good value for money.

0

200,000

200,000

200,000

The funding and delivery model for alternative education provision is
WS3 revised to provide a more targeted and cost-efficient service.

240,000

300,000

300,000

300,000

New school places are created in specialist resource provisions and in
WS3 special schools Kingston.

89,110

311,220

553,700

723,800

There is an improved post-19 education offer in local provision for
WS3 young people with SEND.

0

200,000

300,000

400,000

More young people aged 16 to 25 are engaged in vocational training
schemes
and
employment-based
pathways,
including
WS3 apprenticeships.

32,000

64,000

96,000

128,000

Early intervention strategies enable children’s and young people’s
needs to continue to be met within mainstream schools and post-16
WS4 settings.

145,000

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

The programme of annual EHCP reviews leads to more cost-effective
WS5 provision for children and young people with SEND.

100,000

1,400,000

2,800,000

4,514,000

Improvements to the timeliness and quality of EHCPs clearly evidence
how children’s and young people’s needs can be met within local
provision and reduce the likelihood of costly tribunal-directed
WS5 placements or provision.

0

350,000

550,000

750,000

61

B67

Reduce spending on top-up funding to mainstream and special
schools by implementing more commercial commissioning and
WS2 contract management arrangements.

TOTAL

2,026,610

4,726,220

7,595,700 10,651,800

Implement collection points for children and young people with SEND
WS6 who travel to school by bus.

0

84,000

84,000

84,000

Implement targeted independent travel training including options for
WS6 a payment by results funding model.

0

53,760

53,760

53,760

Expand and promote the bursary scheme to encourage and support
WS6 more parents to transport their own children to school.

0

22,000

22,000

22,000

WS6 Implementation of a Digital Purchasing System for taxi routes

0

64,167

146,751

146,761

WS6 Change operating model to deliver joint services with other boroughs

0

12,500

15,000

15,000

0

236,427

321,511

321,521

SEN TRANSPORT (NOT FUNDED VIA DSG)

MEASURING FINANCIAL PROGRESS
All these activities will be working towards reducing the funding gap in a measured way to ensure that the Council continues to effectively
meet the needs of children and young people. The focus will be on improving efficiency in all processes, ensuring that we maximise the value
we get from every pound spent as well as investing in the local offer and resources. This in turn should make the limited funding we receive go
further. It will be difficult to track back financial impact to specific activities as many actions will work towards achieving better value and as a
consequence reduce / avoid costs. The key indicators that we will use to measure whether we are achieving a positive direction of travel in
closing the funding gap will be:

62

B68

TOTAL

Indicator

How it indicates efficiency

Benchmark

Average high needs spend relative to High level value for money indicator
number of EHCPs (£)

and

sta

Funding gap (£)
As a % of Government Funding

Indicator of whether local and national 2018-19 baseline
expectations are aligned to inform neighbour average
lobbying

and

sta

% of budget spent in borough

Indicator of whether the local offer is 2018-19 baseline
meeting pupils needs / level of placement
sufficiency

and

sta

and

sta

Average cost of an in-borough Indicates whether cost of local school 2018-19 baseline
placement
placements are in line with comparators
- Mainstream
- Special
% of budget spent on state funded Indicates reduced reliance on the more 2018-19 baseline
establishments
expensive independent sector other than neighbour average
where it is not practical to meet need.
Indicates whether use of the independent
sector is in line with comparators
% of pupils with EHCPs supported in Indicates how successful we are in 2018-19 baseline
mainstream schools
supporting schools to support pupils neighbour average
relative to comparators
% plans with a detailed annual Indicates move towards a more outcome 2018-19 baseline
review
based system of support

63

B69

2018-19 baseline
neighbour average

% of pupils travelling independently Indicates how successful we are in 2018-19 baseline
(number and £)
preparing Kingston pupils for independent
travel relative to comparators
% increase in placements due to Indicates ability of the commissioning 2018-19 baseline
inflation uplift
function to negotiate with independent
providers
Average cost of an independent Indicates ability of commissioning function 2018-19 baseline
placement
to negotiate favourable rates relative to
comparators
and

sta

% of EHCPs per 0 - 25 population

Assessment threshold indicator

2018-19 baseline
neighbour average

and

sta

% of SEN Support per 5 - 25 Assessment threshold indicator
population
(borough based)

2018-19 baseline
neighbour average

and

sta

64

B70

% of post 16s supported in Indicator of how well young people are 2018-19 baseline
apprenticeships or at local college
being prepared for adulthood and how neighbour average
good the local offer is relative to
comparators

8. GLOSSARY
Child(ren) looked after

A child who is in the care of the local authority. They may be in a foster family, with
other family members or in residential care.

DCS

Director of Children’s Services

The statutory post within a local authority responsible for providing relevant and
responsive children’s services as required by legislation.

DSG

Dedicated Schools Grant

A ring-fenced government grant used to fund individual school budgets in maintained
schools, academies and free schools.

EHCP

Education, Health and Care Plan

A plan that details the education, health and social care support provided to a child
with special educational needs or disabilities.

HNB

High needs block

The budget within the dedicated schools grant that is used to fund support for children
with special educational needs and disabilities.

PCF

Parent-Carer Forum

A constituted group of parents and carers of children with disabilities who work with
the local authority and other providers to ensure that the services they provide meet
the needs of children with disabilities and their families.

PFA

Preparing for adulthood

The support provided to children and young people with special educational needs and
disabilities that helps them to develop their independence and the life skills they will
need as adults.

SEMH

Social, emotional and mental health
(needs)

A type of special educational need in which children have severe problems in managing
their emotions and behaviours.

SEND

Special educational needs and disability

A learning difficulty or disability that requires special educational provision to be made
for a child or young person.

SRP

Specialist resource provision(s)

Teaching and learning support within a mainstream school that provides support to
children with special educational needs and disabilities.
65

B71

CLA

B72

66

B73

Equality Assessment (EA)
Service Area:
Name of service/ function/ policy/
project being assessed:
Officer leading on assessment:
Other staff involved:

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)
Achieving for Children- Kingston SEND
Transformation Plan 2019-20 to 2020-21
Ashley Whittaker, Programme Director
● Ian Dodds, Managing Director
● Suzanne Payne, Associate Director for
Strategy and Transformation
● Henry Kilpin, Head of Strategy and
Programmes
● Zoe Williams, Head of Policy and Research
● Francis Arokiasamy, Kingston Equalities Lead

BACKGROUND
1. Briefly describe the service/ function/ policy/ project:
Introduction
Like many local authorities across the country, Kingston Council (and Achieving for Children
as the commissioned provider for children’s services on behalf of the Council) is facing
unprecedented financial challenges as a result of sustained reductions to budgets, the
increasing and more complex needs of some of the children and young people with SEND in
the borough, and continuing statutory duties.
This requires a new approach from both Kingston Council and Achieving for Children and as
such, the Kingston SEND Transformation Plan has been developed. This plan brings together
initial ideas for transforming the delivery of SEND services and is informed by the ideas
generated through three months of consultation and engagement with children, young
people and families including the SEND Futures Conference held in July 2018 which was
attended by families and professionals from across the borough. As a result of this
consultation and engagement, Achieving for Children published the SEND Futures: Our
Vision and Priorities for 2020 which has informed the draft SEND Transformation Plan.
The plan will be reviewed at the Kingston Children’s and Adults’ Education and Care
Committee on 7 February 2019. At this stage, Councillors may approve the plan in principle.
If so, the plan will then go to Kingston Full Committee on 26 February 2019 for
consideration and potential sign off and agreement for the financial elements.
Background, context and challenges in Kingston
There are 3,577 children and young people with SEND aged 0 to 25 in Kingston upon
Thames; 1,157 of these children and young people (32%) have an Education, Health and
Care Plan (EHCP) to describe and put in place the educational provision and support that
they need. The main presenting needs in local EHCPs are: autistic spectrum conditions
(35%), speech, language and communication needs (21%); and social, emotional and
mental health needs (14%). The highest proportion of EHCPs and SEND support is for
children and young people aged 11 to 15 (39%) and in particular males aged 12 to 14.

1

B74

The total number of EHCPs increased by 8.8% in 2017/18 compared to the previous year.
This has been the trend in every year since 2014/15. Although this is below the national
average increase of 11.3%, it places significant financial pressure on the Council and its
strategic partners. Funding for the local authority to support children and young people
with SEND, from their early years to age 25, comes from the high needs block of the
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The DSG is provided by the government to every upper-tier
local authority to fund local early years provision, maintained schools and free schools, as
well as educational provision and support for children and young people with SEND. The
total DSG for Kingston in 2018/19 is £135 million of which £22 million is allocated for high
needs provision. 95% of the high needs block is required for children and young people with
EHCPs. The level of DSG for each upper-tier local authority is calculated using a national
funding formula based on the total size of the child population, the level of deprivation and
educational attainment scores; the formula is not adjusted to reflect the prevalence of
SEND within the local authority area. Local distribution of DSG funding is managed by the
Schools Forum which includes representatives from schools within the borough.
The DSG for Kingston is expected to overspend by £2.2 million by the end of 2018/19. This
takes into account an advance payment of £3 million by the Department for Education and
£1.4 million transferred from the general school block into the high needs block. It is
forecast that the cumulative DSG overspend will reach £13 million by the end of 2018/19,
as a result of expenditure on high needs provision exceeding the grant allocation in every
year since 2014/15. If the need for EHCPs and other SEND provision continues to rise at its
current rate, and spending on high needs provision continues at its current level, the
overspend on the DSG will increase to £9 million in 2019/20, £11 million in 2020/21 and
£13 million in 2021/22. By 2022, the accumulated overspend would reach £46 million.
This is not just an issue in Kingston; it is a national issue. A recent survey by London Councils
found that local authorities in London are collectively predicted to overspend on their high
needs provision by £94 million in 2018/19 - equivalent to a 13.6% funding gap. The impact
on the Council’s funding position in Kingston is significant. If the Council and its partners
take no action, the continued DSG deficit will result in an overall deficit on the Council’s
balance sheet. The DSG deficit will be greater than the Council’s general fund and
earmarked reserves, which means that it would be a financially unsustainable organisation.
To avoid this situation, the Council needs to work with its partners to try to deliver the DSG
high needs block within existing funding, or maintain a sustainable balance sheet position
by transferring resources from the other essential services that the Council is required to
deliver. The Council no longer receives Revenue Support Grant, so Kingston is a
self-sufficient local authority, generating its resources from council tax, business rates and
other income generation.
In Kingston, the largest proportion of children and young people with EHCPs are educated
in mainstream nurseries and schools (33%); 9% are in specialist resource provisions within
mainstream schools; 25% are in maintained or academy special schools; and 14% are in
post-16 education provision in colleges or vocational schemes, such as traineeships and
apprenticeships. The remaining 13% of children and young people are educated in
independent and non-maintained special schools. This is higher than the outer London
average of 6.5% and the national average of 4.9%. Notably, this 13% of independent school
placements accounts for 20% of spend from the high needs block. The large majority of
independent and non-maintained special schools are located outside Kingston and are

2

B75

often some distance from the borough. The fees for these schools are much higher than
mainstream schools, specialist resource provisions, or local special schools. The distance
from the borough also means that travel times for children and young people are increased
and additional financial pressures are placed on home to school transport which is funded
by the local authority outside the DSG. As a result, the home to school transport budget
which is funded from the Council’s general fund, rather than the DSG, is forecast to
overspend by £350,000 by the end of 2018/19.
Parental preference for independent and non-maintained schools has been the most
important factor in the increase in the number of appeals to the First-Tier SEND Tribunal
since the introduction of the SEND reforms initiated by the Children and Families Act 2014.
22 tribunal appeals were made in the 12-month period up to September 2018. The very
large majority of these related to parental preference for an independent school
placement; 9% related to a refusal to assess a child or young person for an EHCP; and 18%
related to a refusal to issue an EHCP following assessment. In the same period, 37% of
tribunal appeals led to a negotiated agreement with parents or carers, 26% were conceded
by the local authority, and in 26% of cases the tribunal found in favour of the parents. In
just 5% of cases did the tribunal find in favour of the local authority. Learning from
conceded and lost tribunal cases evidences the need for an improved local SEND offer,
including improved education provision that is able to meet children’s and young people’s
needs, as well as improvements to the overall quality of the EHCP assessment and planning
process to explicitly evidence how individuals’ needs can be met in local provision.
In September 2018, Ofsted and the CQC inspected Kingston’s local area arrangements for
children and young people with SEND. The inspection identified some positive findings in
relation to early years’ provision, relationships with schools, emotional health services, the
participation of children and young people in service development, and the joint
commissioning of services. It also recognised that educational outcomes for children have
improved with a reduced gap in progress and attainment between children with SEND and
their peers at key stage 2, and positive achievements for young people with learning
difficulties and disabilities post-16. However, the inspection also found notable deficits in
relation to the quality and overall consistency of EHCPs, the timeliness and impact of EHCP
annual reviews, the strategic leadership of health services for children and young people
with SEND, and the relationship between statutory services and parents, including the
effectiveness of the relationship with the Parent-Carer Forum. The inspection findings
require the Council and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to submit a written statement
of action explaining how we will work together to tackle the significant weaknesses
identified in these areas. The Council, Achieving for Children and the CCG have accepted all
the findings of the inspection and have produced a joint plan of action to ensure
improvements are delivered at pace. This includes strengthening local governance and
accountability arrangements and creating the additional management capacity needed to
deliver change.
Detailed proposals
In the context of the financial position in Kingston and the need to reduce forecast growth
in EHCPs and SEND support, as well as the need to improve the quality of provision, the
transformation plan seeks to address five key issues over the next three years:
1. Developing new approaches to early intervention so that children with SEND are

3

B76

2.
3.
4.
5.

supported to remain in mainstream schools
Increasing the range and maintaining the quality of local education, health and care
provision for children and young people with SEND
Improving business insight and implementing more commercial approaches to the
commissioning of SEND placements and support
Engaging all stakeholders, including all parents and carers, in reforming the SEND
system and changing attitudes and behaviours
Promoting independence and strengthening transition for children and young
people with SEND through school phases and into their adulthoods

The vision from the plan is: that every child and young person with SEND is supported to
engage in learning and has an educational experience that inspires them, unlocks and
nurtures their talents, and provides a solid foundation for a happy and fulfilling life.
This vision was developed and presented at the SEND Futures Conference in July 2018. The
conference was attended by stakeholders from across the whole SEND system, including
parents and carers. Underpinning the vision is a set of shared ambitions that stakeholders
have signed up to achieving by 2020. These will be essential for the successful delivery of
this plan and will be the principles that guide how we make decisions and implement
transformation across all aspects of the SEND system.
● Children, young people, parents and carers are listened to and engaged in the
design and delivery of strategies, services and the support provided to them.
Parents and carers are an integral part of the team supporting their child and their
views and unique knowledge is essential to all professional decision-making.
● Local provision is expanded so that children’s education, health and care needs can
be met locally; it is focussed on achieving the best possible outcomes for children
and young people with SEND, maximising their independence and preparing them
for successful adulthoods.
● The whole system, with education, social care and health services at the core, works
together and with families to understand and respond to children and young
people’s needs in a coherent way, with each partner contributing to robust
assessments, plans and funding arrangements, and monitoring the impact of their
services and support. There is a particular focus on working better together for
children and young people with SEND who are also vulnerable in other ways,
including those who are looked after, missing education, excluded from school, or at
risk of exploitation and criminal behaviour.
● Provision is high quality and delivered by well trained and supported professionals
who work effectively together and use evidence to inform their work, promote
resilience and achieve positive outcomes for children and young people with SEND;
services that cannot demonstrate this positive impact are re-provided or
re-commissioned.
● The community is supported to meet the needs of all children and young people by
embracing diversity and inclusion, so that all children and young people with SEND
have the opportunity to play, learn and grow-up together locally.
Governance of the plan
Delivering the outcomes required in the plan by April 2022 will require robust governance
arrangements that secure full engagement from all partner organisations and promote

4

B77

constructive debate, scrutiny and challenge. The Kingston Health and Wellbeing Board is
ideally placed to strategically oversee the delivery of the plan as it is the forum where
leaders from the local health and care system work together to improve the health and
wellbeing of the local population.
To drive the progress of the plan, we will refresh the SEND Partnership Board. It will be
chaired by the Chief Executive of the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames and will bring
together senior leaders from the services responsible for delivering the activities in the
plan, together with the Parent-Carer Forum, voluntary sector organisations, and local
experts. A representative from the Department for Education will provide support and
challenge from a national perspective and bring evidence of good practice and what works
elsewhere. Children and young people with SEND will contribute to the Board’s work
supported by a participation officer from Achieving for Children. The SEND Partnership
Board will be responsible for ensuring effective engagement from all stakeholders,
including families, so that the detail of the plan is informed by their views and the likely
impact of change.
The SEND Partnership Board will be accountable to the Health and Wellbeing Board for the
successful coordination and delivery of the plan. Individual partner organisations will
remain subject to their own governance arrangements in relation to the activities allocated
to them in the plan, particularly where these require policy changes. For the Council and
Achieving for Children, this will be the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education
Committee; for decisions relating to health commissioning for children with disabilities, this
will be the CCG governing body.
The activities in the plan are organised into six workstreams. Each worksteam is led by a
senior leader from Achieving for Children who will be a member of the SEND Partnership
Board. Membership of each workstream will be between six and ten people from across the
partnership with responsibilities for, or interest in, delivering transformation across the
local SEND system.
A Delivery Group will be responsible for overseeing the detailed progress of the
transformation plan, identifying any overlaps and common issues between workstreams,
developing strategies to overcome challenges or barriers to delivery, and monitoring the
financial recovery. The Delivery Group will comprise the workstream chairs and senior
officers from the Council able to support and challenge the delivery of the plan’s activities
to ensure they happen with pace and focus. The Delivery Group will be chaired by the
Council’s Director of Corporate and Commercial Services. It will help to ensure that the
Board operates effectively, makes productive use of its members’ time and will facilitate
their focus on collaboration and wider ownership of the SEND transformation. It will also
manage the risks associated with delivering the plan and advise, support and challenge the
workstream leads on the risk strategies and mitigating actions that are required. A
summary of the key risks that have been identified and the management plan for these
risks is shown at the end of each workstream section in this plan.
The workstreams, rationale, proposals and activities are set out below:
Workstream 1: Strategy and Governance

5

B78

Rationale

The strategy and governance workstream will bring together system leaders to
establish and drive a shared sense of purpose that enables and empowers all
partner organisations to transform their services for children and young people with
SEND, and deliver the main activities in the three-year plan. This includes:
●
●

●

●

Proposals

●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Activities

Establishing effective governance arrangements that secure full partner
engagement and the robust scrutiny of progress
Leading system-wide cultural change to upskill professionals, generate a
genuine shared sense of purpose, and facilitate new ways of working within
and across all partner organisations
Fostering productive and positive relationships between parents and carers
and their service providers, including with the new Parent-Carer Forum, to
facilitate co-production and to understand and evaluate the impact of our
transformation activities
Establishing a shared approach to the analysis of local needs so that we are
better able to forecast and plan local provision for children and young
people with SEND
Work with schools and the Schools Forum to identify funding from the DSG
schools block that can be moved to the DSG high needs block.
Work with schools and the Schools Forum to identify spend from the DSG
high needs block that can be reallocated to the DSG early years block.
Work with schools and the Schools Forum to identify funding from the DSG
central services block that can be moved to the DSG high needs block.
Rationalise central support services funded from the high needs block and
achieve efficiencies to release funding for other high needs services.
Increase funding contributions from social care.
Increased funding contributions from health services.
Increase opportunities for early intervention and develop more
cost-efficient funding models.

Vision and values
● Achieve formal agreement from partner organisations to the vision and
values for SEND proposed at the SEND Future Conference, and develop a
Memorandum of Understanding between all partner organisations that
clearly sets out how they will work together to achieve those ambitions.
● Hold a follow-up to the SEND Futures Conferences to raise awareness of the
transformation plan and ensure that all professionals are signed-up to the
vision, ways of working and activities.
Governance arrangements
● Establish and agree the terms of reference for the SEND Partnership Board
so that is able to secure full partner engagement in the transformation plan
and its delivery; agree the accountability and reporting mechanisms
between the SEND Partnership Board and Health and Wellbeing Board.
● Meet regularly as a SEND Partnership Board to drive the delivery of the
transformation plan, ensuring that there is a culture of strong support and
constructive challenge focused on joining up services, sharing resources,
managing risks together and finding creative solutions to challenges.
● Produce a working agreement between the SEND Partnership Board and
the Education Commission that sets out how the two bodies will work

6

B79

●

collaboratively to drive change throughout the SEND system.
Review the governance arrangements for decision-making on children’s and
young people’s SEND placements, including shared arrangements such as
the Joint Agency Panel, to reduce duplication and ensure there is a
continual focus on improving outcomes at reduced cost.

Cultural change
● Identify the systems leadership, cultural change, behaviours and skills
required to enable all stakeholders to achieve the activities in the plan and
support each partner organisation to deliver them.
● Map the stakeholders involved in the SEND system and implement a clear
communications and engagement plan so that there is shared ownership of
the vision, values, ways of working and activities that will successfully
deliver the transformation plan and required outcomes.
Engagement and co-production
● Facilitate the development of a new local Parent-Carer Forum fulfilling the
requirements of the Children and Families Act 2014 and leading to an
effective working relationship that promotes meaningful engagement,
parental buy-in and co-production of sustainable solutions.
● Establish a shared approach to ensuring that the wishes and feelings of
children, young people and their families are at the heart of service
planning and delivery, including the development of a local model that
enables the engagement of as many families as possible in co-production
and service planning.
● Enhance the Local Offer website so that it provides a one-stop-shop for
children, young people, parents, carers and professionals on local SEND
provision that closely reflects the ambitions set out in this plan; ensure that
universal and community providers, such as libraries and children’s centres,
are aware of this information and are able to help parents and carers to
understand what is available in the local offer.
Strategy and development
● Refresh the SEND strategy to set out the shared vision and ambitions of all
stakeholders and ensure this is closely aligned to the SEND transformation
plan, the improvements required from the local area SEND inspection and
the findings of the Kingston Education Commission.
● Review and revise local policies and guidance relating to SEND provision as
a result of an independent legal review of the existing framework, local
inspection outcomes, parental feedback and the learning from tribunals.
● Build on the existing transitions protocol between children’s services and
adult services to develop a preparing for adulthood strategy and plan that
promotes independence from the earliest stage and informs the design and
delivery of services by all organisations in the SEND partnership.
Intelligence and insight
● Expand the current range of key performance indicators to create a data
observatory with information from all service providers to unlock new
intelligence and insight and inform prioritisation and the development of
new strategies.
● Establish processes to develop a shared local understanding of trends and

7

B80

predict future needs that is used to forecast and inform integrated service
planning and delivery, including analysing gaps in the local SEND offer. This
activity will be developed in partnership with the Education Commission.
Sustainable funding
● Work with schools and the Schools Forum to establish an agreement that
maximises high needs funding through the redistribution of DSG funds
between the different funding blocks.
● Establish a shared understanding of local funding responsibilities for each
partner organisation to ensure these are aligned with the expectations in
the SEND Code of Practice (2014).
● Review funding agreements and protocols between partner organisations
at an individual EHCP level in line with the agreed funding responsibilities;
redraft protocols and funding matrices where needed.
Workstream 2: Commercial Thinking
Rationale

The commercial thinking workstream will focus on developing commercially aware
approaches across all partner organisations to drive cost reduction and ensure that
commissioned provision maximises value for money from our shared resources.
This includes:
●

●

●

Proposals

●

●

●

Activities

Establishing the shared principles needed to embed commercial approaches
across the SEND partnership, including bringing together financial,
commissioning and business insight from across the partnership to share
commercial expertise and identify the total resources needed to
successfully achieve financial sustainability.
Develop broader partnerships and commissioning collectives to leverage
cost savings and achieve better value for money from the purchase of
placements and other services, including the implementation of new
funding models such as payment by results and social investment.
Supporting Achieving for Children to embed commercial thinking and
approaches in its placement brokerage service, including building quality
assurance mechanisms into its contract management so that it secures
good value for money, and reduces spending on its independent school
placements and the costs of top-up funding to mainstream and special
schools.
Reduce spending on independent and non-maintained special school
placements by implementing more commercial commissioning and contract
management arrangements.
Reduce spending on top-up funding to mainstream and special schools by
implementing more commercial commissioning and contract management
arrangements.
Review all service level agreements with specialist resource provisions to
better control and manage the placement of pupils within each provision
and ensure they deliver good value for money.

Shared approaches
● Develop and establish shared principles and expectations to embed
commercial approaches across the SEND partnership, including rooting all
activity in local needs analysis and service planning priorities.

8

B81

Commissioning capacity
● Assess commercial expertise across organisations in the SEND partnership
and develop the workforce capabilities and capacity needed to work more
commercially and create cost efficiencies.
● Scope opportunities, develop business cases and implement plans to
establish collective commissioning arrangements that leverage maximum
cost savings in SEND services.
Placement brokerage
● Create additional capacity (1.0 FTE) in the placement commissioning service
to focus on the brokerage of SEND school placements.
● Explore and implement new funding mechanisms to reduce costs or attract
new resources, such as incentivised funding models, payment by results and
social impact bonds.
● Review contract management processes to ensure that they provide
effective quality assurance of SEND placements and derive maximum value
for money for all funding organisations in the SEND partnership.
● Complete contract reviews with all current independent and
non-maintained special school providers, mainstream and special schools in
receipt of top-up funding, to achieve cost reductions.
Workstream 3: Local Provision
Rationale

The objectives of the local provision workstream are to develop capacity and quality
in local education, health and social care services for children with SEND so that the
needs of as many children and young people as possible are met in their local
communities, reducing our reliance on mainstream and special schools outside the
borough and on higher-cost provision in independent and non-maintained special
schools. This includes:
●

●

●
●

Proposals

●
●
●

Developing specialist education places in Kingston that are the first choice
of children, young people and families, including expanding local specialist
resource provisions and establishing new special schools to meet identified
needs.
Reviewing the quality of local provision for young people aged 16 to 25 and
developing new high quality and meaningful post-16 education, training
and employment pathways, including consideration of the local adult
learning offer.
Reviewing local alternative education provision to determine the most
effective and sustainable model for the future.
Establishing a high quality local therapy offer that supports children and
young people to make good progress towards their goals and maximise
their opportunities for inclusion and independence.
The funding and delivery model for alternative education provision is
revised to provide a more targeted and cost-efficient service.
New school places are created in specialist resource provisions and in
special schools Kingston.
There is an improved post-19 education offer in local provision for young
people with SEND.

9

B82

●

Activities

More young people aged 16 to 25 are engaged in vocational training
schemes and employment-based pathways, including apprenticeships.

Specialist school places
● Produce a ten-year SEND provision plan that identifies the numbers and
types of early years, school and post-16 places needed and makes
recommendations for how and where these should be provided.
● Lobby the Department for Education to maximise the chances of funding for
the two special free schools submitted as part of the Special Free School
Presumptive Route; develop options for alternative funding for these
schools if government funding is not approved.
● Develop a marketing campaign for the SEND offer local to promote the high
quality of local SEND provision in mainstream schools, specialist resource
provisions and special schools.
● Increase the number of specialist resource provision places to reflect the
needs identified in the ten-year SEND provision plan.
Pathways for young people aged 16 to 25
● Develop a local post-16 learning offer for specific groups most likely to use
residential provision maximising the use of the adult education curriculum
and community assets such as libraries.
● Develop the 14-19 offer in Achieving for Children to provide information,
advice and guidance on pathways into training and employment for young
people with EHCPs.
Alternative education provision
● Review the funding and delivery model for alternative education provision
● to ensure it provides good value for money and whether it could be better
targeted for children and young people with SEND, including investigating
mechanisms for recharging schools for the costs of permanent exclusion.
● Redirect top-up funding to provide all schools with specialist therapeutic
consultations so that they can modify and improve their school spaces and
environments for learners with SEMH needs, enabling a reduction in
funding for EHCPs for these students.
Therapies
● Develop, commission and/or provide an improved local therapies offer
based on the findings of the needs assessment and gap analysis.

Workstream 4: Early intervention and transition
Rationale

The objective of the early intervention and transition workstream is to support
education providers, families and other professionals to be competent and
confident in supporting children and young people with SEND across all education
phases, from the early years to post-16, so that they have the best possible
educational experiences and their needs are met early without the need for an
EHCP. This includes:
●

Upskilling the workforce to better understand the needs of children and
young people with SEND and the strategies they can use to provide support

10

B83

●

●

●

Proposals
Activities

●

at the earliest stage so that their needs are met within mainstream settings
wherever possible.
Providing advice and support to parents, carers, teachers and other
professionals to promote inclusion and support positive transitions
between school key stages and phases and into post-16 education or
training, avoiding the need for higher cost provision.
Developing effective links and working relationships with targeted and
universal services so that families have access to support that builds on
their strengths and promotes resilience and independence.
Supporting young adults to have a smooth and well-planned transition from
children’s services to adult social care services.
Early intervention strategies enable children’s and young people’s needs to
continue to be met within mainstream schools and post-16 settings.

Early intervention
● Establish and facilitate a local system of peer-to-peer inclusion audits that
support inclusive practice in mainstream settings.
● Establish the skills and capacity in special schools and specialist resource
provisions to provide expert outreach support to education providers.
● Develop a learning and development programme to upskill professionals
working in schools and colleges in supporting children and young people
with SEND, based on the intelligence gathered from the Educational
Inclusion Support Service.
● Review and plan the support needed by families to build their resilience so
that more children and young people with SEND at risk of requiring
residential school placements are supported to remain at home.
● Evaluate the impact of early intervention initiatives to inform the design
and development of future service provision, including monitoring the
direct impact of the Early Intervention Panel.
Transition
● Build on the existing transitions protocol between children’s services and
adult services to develop a preparing for adulthood strategy that promotes
independence from the earliest stage and informs the design and delivery
of services by all organisations in the SEND partnership.
● Increase the numbers of young people with post-16 EHCPs on vocational
pathways, including apprenticeships, traineeships and supported
internships to support them in their transition into employment.
● Establish and implement a process, as part of the preparing for adulthood
strategy, to review all EHCPs at Year 11, to determine whether a young
person’s needs would be better supported post-18 by a managed case
transfer to adult social care services.

Workstream 5: Assessment and planning
Rationale

The objective of the assessment and planning workstream is to drive improvements
in the timeliness and overall quality of EHCPs so that they are specific about the
educational provision, support and outcomes to be achieved for each child or young
person, with equal emphasis given to their health and social care needs. This
includes:

11

B84

●

●

●

●

Proposals

●
●

Activities

Streamlining the process for the development of EHCPs, ensuring that plans
are completed within statutory timescales to a consistently high standard,
and are based on detailed and well-evidenced assessments by all
professionals.
Establishing effective quality assurance mechanisms for EHCPs that are
inclusive of all organisations and professionals contributing to the EHCP in
line with the SEND Code of Practice (2014).
Establishing a robust framework for the annual review of EHCPs so that:
statutory expectations are met; the process is inclusive of all stakeholders;
there is a thorough review of the outcomes and continuing needs of each
child or young person; and the provision supports children and young
people to make good educational progress and promotes independence.
Ensuring the views, wishes and feelings of children and young people with
SEND, and their parents and carers, are heard and responded to at all
stages of the assessment and planning process, including improving
customer care standards and the timeliness of responses.
The programme of annual EHCP reviews leads to more cost-effective
provision for children and young people with SEND.
Improvements to the timeliness and quality of EHCPs clearly evidence how
children’s and young people’s needs can be met within local provision and
reduce the likelihood of costly tribunal-directed placements or provision.

EHCP quality
● Review all EHCPs to identify any specific weaknesses or lack of specificity in
the quality of assessments and/or plans; develop a programme to improve
the quality of plans where this is required.
● Develop and deliver a multi-module training programme to drive up the
quality and consistency of EHCPs, ensuring this reflects the expectations in
Children and Families Act 2014, including the need for plans to work
towards the independence of all children and young people.
● Develop quality assurance processes for EHCPs across all partner
organisations involved in assessment and planning, ensuring there is regular
feedback to professionals to promote continual improvement.
Annual reviews
● Support all partner organisations to fully engage with annual EHCP reviews
through attendance at mandatory training, so that the process is
meaningful and leads to the robust re-assessment and review of children’s
and young people’s needs and provision.
● Create a multi-disciplinary review team with educational and therapeutic
expertise to undertake annual EHCP reviews.
● Establish a priority programme for annual reviews focused on independent
school placements and key stage and phase transition points; develop good
practice guidelines and processes for annual reviews to assess whether
plans are achieving the agreed outcomes, promoting resilience and
independence, and provide good value for money.
● Upgrade the SEND electronic case management system so that it better
supports the EHCP assessment, planning and annual review process.

Workstream 6: Home to School Travel

12

B85

Rationale

This service is not funded from the DSG but is included in this plan for completeness
as it is an important element of the SEND offer for children, young people and their
families and must be part of the whole SEND transformation programme. The
objective of the home to school transport workstream is to recommend a future
delivery model for the home to school travel of children and young people with
SEND ensuring that it actively supports opportunities to promote and achieve
independence. This includes:
●

●

●

Proposals

●
●
●
●

Activities

●

●

●

●

Agreeing a revised strategy, eligibility criteria and policy framework for the
operation of home to school travel that enables the service to meet
children’s and young people’s needs, supports independence, and is
financially sustainable.
Implementing new commissioning arrangements for all home to school
travel that supports the delivery of the strategy and which considers
options for new funding models, such as dynamic purchasing systems,
payment by results and use of the voluntary sector.
Ensuring efficient and cost-effective home to school travel arrangements
are in place by July 2019 when the current contract for bus transport comes
to an end.
Implement collection points for children and young people with SEND who
travel to school by bus.
Implement targeted independent travel training including options for a
payment by results funding model.
Expand and promote the bursary scheme to encourage and support more
parents to transport their own children to school.
Implement a charging scheme to provide home to school travel for young
people aged over 18.
Consult on options for the future delivery of home to school travel for
children and young people with SEND, including options for revised
eligibility criteria, targeted mandatory independent travel training, a
parental bursary scheme, and the implementation of collection points.
Revise and seek Council approval for a new SEND home to school travel
policy based on the outcome of the consultation; implement the options set
out in the revised policy.
Implement new commissioning arrangements for home to school travel
that consider new funding models, such as dynamic purchasing systems and
payment by results solutions for independent travel training.
Develop an options appraisal and business case for the delivery of the bus
service element of the home to school travel offer; commission or directly
provide the service based on the outcome of the business case.

The SEND Transformation Plan is currently out for consultation with the public. Once this
consultation has closed, the plan, the consultation results, and the draft equality
assessment will be reviewed by Kingston Councillors at Full Council on 26 February 2019
and may or may not be agreed to take forward.

2. Why is the equality assessment being undertaken?

13

B86

The equality assessment is being undertaken to ensure that the implications of the SEND
Transformation Plan being considered by the Council and Achieving for Children are fully
understood so they can inform the decision-making process.
Results of consultation on the proposals have been included in this assessment.

3. What sources of information have been used in the preparation of this equality
assessment? (e.g national research, local needs assessment, user feedback) Please
provide the details in the table below:
Information source

SEND Consultation Hub

Kingston SEND
Transformation Plan
2019-20 to 2020-21
Kingston Data
Department for Education
Statistics for Schools and
Pupil Numbers
Spring School Census
2018
Achieving for Children
Annual Equalities Report
2017-18
Council for Disabled
Children SEND Data
Bulletin

Description and outline of the information source

Published on the Local Offer website, a summary of
consultations with school staff, School Governors, parents/
families and children / young people between March and July
2018, culminating in the SEND Futures Conference.
Proposed SEND Transformation Plan for Kingston.

Data relating to general population and school pupil
characteristics provided by Kingston Council.
Spreadsheet of information relating to all local authority
schools:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-schooland-pupil-numbers
Data from the spring school census in 2018:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/school-census
Annual report setting out how Achieving for Children meets
the Public Sector Equality Duty.
Data from the Council for Disabled Children:
https://councilfordisabledchildren.org.uk/sites/default/files/fie
ld/attachemnt/SEN%20data%20bulletin.pdf

ANALYSIS OF IMPACT
4. Assess the relevance of each protected characteristic group to the service/ function/
policy/ project and explain what the data, customer feedback, complaints or discussions
with stakeholder groups tells you about the impact.
Other questions to consider:
●
●
●
●
●

How well are diverse needs met?
Have any differences in access to services/functions been identified for any group?
Has the area identified any disadvantages experienced by groups, which need to be
addressed?
Have there been any complaints about a failure to receive an appropriate and fair service?
Is there any other evidence of differential impact or different outcomes which needs to be
addressed?

14

B87
●
●
●

Is there any evidence that participation in areas of public life is disproportionately low for any
particular relevant protected characteristic group?
Have the needs of disabled people been identified and addressed where these are different
from the needs of non-disabled people?
Have you identified any need to tackle prejudice or promote understanding between different
relevant protected characteristic groups?

Remember that equality assessment is not simply about identifying and removing negative effects
of discrimination but it is also an opportunity to identify ways to advance equality of opportunity
and to foster good relations.

NOTE: This assessment presents data relating to children and young people with an EHCP
but also to children and young people with SEND but do not meet the threshold to have an
EHCP and are registered as SEN Support. Under these circumstances the school (or nursery
if aged under 5) is responsible for developing an individual SEN support plan to meet their
needs. Every mainstream school has a special educational needs coordinator (SENCO) who
is responsible for organising extra help for pupils with SEN. The SENCO works with the class
teachers and subject teachers to plan the help each child will receive. The school will give
clear information about the extra help the child is getting and will meet with the parents/
carers at least three times a year to review how the child is progressing and what the next
steps will be. The school will also provide a report at least once a year on the child's
progress.
The data presented is the latest available- for children and young people receiving SEN
Support this is from the 2018 spring census.
Protected Group
Findings
Data
EHCPs
As at the end of December 2018, Kingston was responsible for
1,157 EHCPs.
Of these, children aged 11 to 15 have the highest proportion of
EHCPs (40.0%) followed by children and young people aged 16
plus (32.8%). 27.1% of children and young people with EHCPs
are aged five to ten and only 0.2% are aged 4 and under.
Age

The numbers in each age group are set out below:
Age range

Total

0 to 4

Less than five

5 to 10

313

11 to 15

463

16+

379

Total

1,157

15

B88

The next table sets out the numbers of children and young
people by school year group:
Year Description

Number

Nursery 2

Less than five

Reception

21

Year 1

40

Year 2

34

Year 3

71

Year 4

64

Year 5

83

Year 6

96

Year 7

88

Year 8

92

Year 9

100

Year 10

87

Year 11

74

Year 12

76

Year 13

68

Year 14

61

Age 19+

44

Age 20+

25

Age 21+

17

Age 22+

11

Age 23+

Less than five

Age 24+

Less than five

Total

1,157

Just 0.2% of children and young people with EHCPs are under
school age. 35.6% of children and young people with EHCPs
are in reception year to year six (primary school age). 38.1%
are in year 7 to year 11 (secondary school age) and 17.7% are
in year 12 to year 14 (sixth form age). 8.6% of children and
young people are aged 19+.

16

B89

SEN Support
The 2018 spring census shows that there were 2,076 pupils
receiving SEN support in Kingston.
Of these, children aged 5 to 10 are the largest age group
receiving SEN support (62.6%) followed by children and young
people aged 11-15 (27.7%). Only 6.8% are aged 4 and under.
The numbers in each age group are set out below:
Age Range

Total (Percentage)

0-4

142 (6.8%)

5 to 10

1,300 (62.6%)

11 to 15

577 (27.7%)

16+

57 (2.7%)

Total

2,076 (100%)

The next table sets out the numbers of children and young
people by school year group:
Year Description

Number

Nursery 1

13

Nursery 2

60

Reception

116

Year 1

185

Year 2

219

Year 3

220

Year 4

213

Year 5

251

Year 6

232

Year 7

139

Year 8

125

Year 9

104

Year 10

90

Year 11

70

17

B90

Year 12

25

Year 13

13

Year 14

Less than five

TOTAL

2,076

Just 3.5% of children and young people receiving SEN Support
are under school age. 69.1% of children and young people
receiving SEN Support are in reception year to year six
(primary school age). 25.4% are in year 7 to year 11 (secondary
school age) and 1.9% are in year 12 to year 14 (sixth form age).
Impact
The proposals are considered extremely relevant to age given
that they relate to children and young people.
The data shows that the proposals are likely to have a greater
impact on those aged 11-15 years old who have an EHCP in the
current cohort. This is also the most common age grouping for
those with an EHCP nationally.
For those receiving SEN Support, the age group most likely to
be impact are those aged five to ten years old. This aligns with
national data that shows SEN Support declines as age
increases. Those aged ten and under receiving SEN Support are
therefore most likely to be impacted by the proposals.
Data
EHCPs
The total number of EHCPs increased by 8.8% in 2017/18
compared to the previous year. This has been the trend in
every year since 2014/15.

Disability

By the end of December 2018, Kingston was responsible for
1,157 EHCPs. The main presenting need is Autistic Spectrum
Disorder (ASD) (34.5%), followed by Speech, Language and
Communication Needs (21.6%), and Social, Emotional and
Mental Health (13.2%). The table below sets out the needs
across the cohort of children and young people with SEND:
Special Needs Description

Number

Autistic Spectrum Disorder

399 (34.5%)

Speech, Language and Communication Needs

250 (21.6%)

Social, Emotional and Mental Health

153 (13.2%)

18

B91

Moderate Learning Difficulty

120 (10.4%)

Specific Learning Difficulty

55 (4.8%)

Physical Disability

50 (4.3%)

Severe Learning Difficulty

46 (3.9%)

Hearing Impairment

21 (1.8%)

Profound and Multiple Learning Difficulty

18 (1.6%)

Other Difficulty/ Disability

15 (1.3%)

Visual Impairment

11 (0.9%)

Multi-Sensory Impairment

Less than five (0.3%)

Behaviour, Emotional and Social Difficulties

Less than five (0.1%)

SEN support but specialist assessment of type of
need

Less than five (0.1%)

Unknown

Less than five (0.1%)

Total

1,157 (100%)

Within Kingston’s overall school population 2.8% have an
EHCP- slightly lower than the national average of 2.9%.
SEN Support
8.2% of pupils in Kingston’s overall school population (2,076
children and young people) receive SEN support compared to
11.7% nationally.
At the primary phase, 10.0% of pupils receive SEN support
compared to 12.4% nationally. The most common needs for
these pupils are:
●
●
●
●
●

Speech, Language and Communication Needs -39.5%
Specific Learning Difficulties -15.2%
Social, Emotional and Mental Health -14.3%
Moderate Learning Difficulties – 10.3%
Autistic Spectrum Disorder -9.2%

At the secondary phase, 5.4% receive SEN support, compared
to 10.6% nationally. The most common needs of these pupils
are:
●
●
●
●

Specific Learning Difficulties -28.4%
Social, Emotional and Mental Health -21.1%
Moderate Learning Difficulties- 15.5%
Autistic Spectrum Disorder -12.4%

19

B92

● Speech, Language and Communication Needs- 10.3%
Impact
The proposals are considered extremely relevant to disability
given that they relate to children and young people with SEND.
The most common type of need for those with an EHCP in
Kingston aligns with national data. This means that those with
ASD are most likely to be impacted by the proposals as these
form the largest group in the SEND cohort.
In terms of SEN Support, nationally Moderate Learning
Difficulties and Speech, Language and Communication Needs
are the most common types of disability/ difficulties across all
schools. This aligns with the data from Kingston if figures for
those with Speech, Language and Communication Needs in
primary and secondary education is combined.
Data
EHCPs
At the end of December 2018, Kingston was responsible for
1,157 EHCPs. There is a significant gender split with a far
higher proportion of EHCPs issued to males (71.7%) than
females (28.3%).
Gender (Sex)

SEN Support
Of the 2,076 children and young people receiving SEN support,
67.0% (1,390) are male and 33.0% (686) are female.
Impact
Given the gender breakdown in the SEND cohort, the
proposals, if implemented, would have more of an impact on
males than females. This aligns with national data both for
those with EHCPs and those receiving SEN Support.
The proposals are considered to be of low relevance to gender
reassignment.

Gender reassignment

Marriage and civil
partnership
Pregnancy and maternity

Race/ethnicity

Although data is not currently collected relating to gender
reassignment, anecdotal evidence from schools in the borough
has indicated a growing level of need in this regard.
The proposals are considered to be of low relevance to
marriage and civil partnership.
The proposals are considered to be of low relevance to
pregnancy and maternity.
Data
31.0% of all residents in Kingston are from a Black, Asian or
Minority Ethnic (BAME) background. Between 2011 and 2017,
the proportion of Kingston’s resident population from BAME

20

B93

groups has increased from 25.0% to 31.0%, and this growth is
expected to continue to 46.0% in 2036.
Kingston’s younger population are more diverse than the
population as a whole with 39.0% of those aged 0-19
(compared to 31.0% in all age groups). There has been a rise in
the 0-19 population between 2011 and 2017 of over 6,000 and
the projections for 2026 predict further growth of 5,000.
EHCPs
The table below sets out the race/ ethnicity of the 1,157
children and young people with an EHCP:
Race/ Ethnicity

Number (Percentage)

White

384 (33.2%)

Asian

83 (7.2%)

Mixed

58 (5.0%)

Black

35 (3.0%)

Any Other Ethnic Group

17 (1.5%)

Chinese

5 (0.4%)

Refused/ Not Obtained/ Unknown

575 (49.7%)

Total

1,157 (100%)

Of those whose race/ ethnicity is known, 65.9% are White. The
next largest group is Asian (14.3%) and those of Mixed
ethnicity (9.9%).
SEN Support
Of the 2,076 children and young people receiving SEN support,
51.8% (1,075) are White British and 48.2% are BAME (66.8%
are White including all White categories). This is a higher
proportion than the overall 0-19 population.
Impact
The proposals are considered relevant to ethnicity although
the lack of ethnicity data for all those with an EHCP means it is
difficult to fully assess the impact. Based on the information
available, there does not appear to be a disproportionate
impact on any specific ethnic group. The service will aim to
improve the collection of this data so a clearer understanding
of impact on different ethnicities is possible.

21

B94

It is also worth considering that the relationship between
ethnicity and SEND is complex, with many other variables such
as socio-economic status, language and cultural barriers
influencing children’s outcomes.
At an aggregate level, the national School Census shows the
following figures- see the table below:

Religion and belief
including non-belief
Sexual orientation

Ethnic group

Number/ Percentage

White

160,115/ 3.1%

Mixed

11,215/ 3.1%

Asian

19,040/ 2.6%

Black

13,980/ 3.6%

Chinese

655/ 2.3%

Other

3,090/ 2.6%

All pupils

210,850/ 3.0%

This suggests that black pupils are slightly more likely to have
EHCPs and Asian pupils are slightly less likely, on average.
However, there is more variation within some of these ethnic
groups than between them, so meaningful conclusions cannot
be drawn at this aggregate level.
The proposals are considered to be of low relevance to religion
and belief.
The proposals are considered to be of low relevance to sexual
orientation.

5. Summarise the key findings of the equality assessments of impact- have you identified
any data gaps in relation to the relevant protected characteristics and relevant parts of
the duty?
Other questions to consider:
●
●
●
●
●

Are there findings of unlawful discrimination?
Can you address any identified adverse impact?
Can you mitigate any negative impact?
Please provide rationale if you are unable to address any adverse impact.
Have you identified any ways of advancing equality in this area? For example, meeting diverse
needs?
● Is there a need for any actions to promote understanding between different protected groups?

Overall assessment of impact
The SEND Transformation Plan, if agreed and implemented, with undoubtedly have an
impact on children and young people from across the protected characteristic groups. The
data shows it is highly relevant to

22

B95

● age- as the changes will affect those aged 0 to 25 years of age;
● disability- as the changes relate to children and young people with SEND; and
● gender- as the changes disproportionately affect males than females.
It is also relevant to ethnicity but there is a lack of data, both locally and nationally, to fully
understand the level of relevance.
The impact of the specific proposals is analysed in detail below. It is clear that there will be
an impact- in some cases this is likely to be negative but in others it is likely to be positive.
As noted previously, the proposals in the SEND Transformation Plan are necessary as to
meet current demand, Achieving for Children have had to spend more than the funding
available. If the current level of increasing demand for high needs support continues
without action to reduce costs or increase funding, the deficit will continue to rise
significantly.
It is not sustainable to continue spending more than is received. The proposals set out in the
plan and highlighted in this equality assessment seek to address the deficit and to create a
more inclusive, local and targeted SEND education offer by intervening early and supporting
schools to be able to better meet the needs of their SEND pupils, while encouraging
resilience and independence.
Detailed assessment of impact
In addition to an assessment of the overall impact of the SEND Transformation Plan for
addressing the financial deficit, more detailed assessment of the impact of each of the
proposed options is set out below:
Workstream

Impact

Strategy and
Governance

Work with schools and the Schools Forum to identify funding from the DSG schools block
that can be moved to the DSG high needs block
Moving funding from the DSG schools block to the DSG high needs block would marginally
reduce the income that schools have to spend on the total school population. The overall
impact would depend on the level of reduction and would impact schools differently as the
reduction is not equal for all schools. This proposal is likely to have a small impact on all
school-age pupils in mainstream schools. Achieving for Children will work with schools to
try to minimise this impact.
Work with schools and the Schools Forum to identify spend from the DSG high needs
block that can be reallocated to the DSG early years block
Reallocation of funds from the DSG high needs block to the DSG early years block would
mean the hourly rate allocated to nurseries to pay for childcare for all children would be
lower than it otherwise would be. This would not necessarily mean a reduction, although it
could, rather it may mean a smaller increase. This proposal may have a small impact on
children aged under five as nurseries may be operating with a lower level of funding.
Work with schools and the Schools Forum to identify funding from the DSG central
services block that can be moved to the DSG high needs block
Moving funding from the DSG central services block to the DSG high needs block would
lead to a reduction in funding for specific central services including: the Emotional Health
Service, the Family Support Team, School Admissions, the 14-19 Commissioning Team,

23

B96

Individual Pupil Support, Governor Support and the Virtual School. The level of impact
would not be known until the reduction had been allocated across services but it is
expected that there could be a small impact on all children and young people (for example,
emotional health services) and some specific groups (for example, looked after children if
the virtual school is affected). Achieving for Children will work with schools to try to
minimise this impact.
Rationalise central support services funded from the high needs block and achieve
efficiencies to release funding for other high needs services
The central services include: Anstee Bridge, Education Welfare Service, Speech and
Language, SEN Team, Sensory Impairment, Portage, and Individual Pupil Support.
Rationalising central support services would not necessarily have an impact on any children
or young people as the proposal aims to deliver savings through efficiencies or asking
schools to commission these services directly, rather than through a reduction in the
service. As such, there is unlikely to be any impact.
However, if reductions in services were required, service redesigns would be undertaken
and equality assessments would be completed for each of the service redesigns to assess
impact.
The possible implications of reducing the overall budget for central services, is that schools
and service users may notice a reduction in the availability and/or quality of service. It may
also have a knock on effect of increasing the number of appeals from families and/or SEN
Tribunals.
Increase funding contributions from social care/ Increased funding contributions from
health services
These proposals would seek to ensure that all partners contribute equally to funding
services for children and young people with SEND. This is unlikely to have any impact as it
just relates to where funding is sourced from.
Increase opportunities for early intervention and develop more cost-efficient funding
models
This proposal aims to identify opportunities for intervening at an earlier stage to meet the
needs of children and young people in a more efficient way. It would likely have no impact
as it would result in the same services being delivered albeit in a different way.
Commercial
thinking

Reduce spending on independent and non-maintained special school placements by
implementing more commercial commissioning and contract management
arrangements/ Reduce spending on top-up funding to mainstream and special schools by
implementing more commercial commissioning and contract management arrangements
Achieving for Children is also seeking to adopt an even more commercial approach to
commissioning places with independent schools and non-maintained schools. The
commissioning of specialist places is already subject to a number of changes. New
contracts have now been issued to all independent/ non-maintained special schools. These
will deliver enhanced quality and price control. Price negotiations continue with providers.
Achieving for Children have appointed a specialist SEND Commissioning Officer (shared
with Richmond) as part of the existing commissioning team to give the focus and priority
this number of placements and volume of spend warrants. The aim is to better control not
only placement costs but also their quality. This would involve a more forensic breakdown
of charges, outcomes-based commissioning, new contracts and a more proactive
relationship management with key suppliers to negotiate more effectively.
This is unlikely to have an impact on any children or young people as it is more focused on
the relationship between Achieving for Children and the independent/ non-maintained
schools.

24

B97

Review all service level agreements with specialist resource provisions to better control
and manage the placement of pupils within each provision and ensure they deliver good
value for money
As with the proposals above, this is unlikely to have an impact on any children or young
people as it is more focused on the relationship between Achieving for Children and
specialist resource provisions. Work will be undertaken to ensure all specialist resource
provision placements offer good value for money.
Local
provision

The funding and delivery model for alternative education provision is revised to provide a
more targeted and cost-efficient service
Currently, schools can send pupils at risk of exclusion to a Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) to
receive support to prevent them reaching the stage that exclusion is needed at little cost
themselves as the majority of related cost is funded from the high needs block. This
proposal would see schools responsible for funding the pupil to go to the PRU, with the
potential for alternative provision funding to be devolved to schools. This may potentially
lead to more permanently excluded pupils as schools may not have the resources to fund
the placement at the PRU as a measure to prevent exclusion. This could therefore have an
impact on those pupils who are at risk of exclusion. Achieving for Children will work with
schools to try to minimise this impact.
New school places are created in specialist resource provisions and in special schools
Kingston
There is already considerable focus on ensuring sufficient local places for children and
young people with SEND. In March 2018, Achieving for Children led a consultation
proposing a range of expansions of existing provision for children and young people with
SEND, (the consultation can be found here: https://www.Achieving for
Childreninfo.org.uk/pages/local-offer/information-and-advice/send-consultation-hub-and-r
esource-bank/kingston-and-richmond-both-borough-consultations).
In addition, there are plans to provide more Specialist Resource Provision (SRP) places,
which are bespoke spaces within mainstream schools with their own specialist staff, so that
pupils with SEND can be educated locally and benefit from being within a mainstream
school. The intention is to create an additional 114 SRP places in Kingston over the next
three years. This would enable Achieving for Children to offer out of borough pupils the
opportunity to be educated closer to their family, friends and support networks. In
addition, St. Philip’s Special School is expanding with a further 40 places between 2018 and
2020.
There is an improved post-19 education offer in local provision for young people with
SEND/ More young people aged 16 to 25 are engaged in vocational training schemes and
employment-based pathways, including apprenticeships
The intention is to improve the range of provision for children and young people with SEND
both in terms of the local education offer and vocational training schemes and
employment based pathways. The pathways both in relation to education and vocational/
employment schemes will be more aligned to the needs of the young person with a focus
on independence. This could potentially have a beneficial impact on all children and young
people with SEND as it will support the transition to adulthood and give a greater range of
opportunities for young people to follow a pathway more suited to them.

Early
intervention
and
transition

Early intervention strategies enable children’s and young people’s needs to continue to
be met within mainstream schools and post-16 settings
There is a need to identify earlier and intervene more quickly for children and young
people with SEND in schools. The result of this will be that the progress and therefore the
attainment gap between learners with SEND and their peers without will be minimised and
their life chances enhanced. The financial impact of this is that the cost of meeting these
and future needs will be reduced, benefitting not just the DSG but wider services too.

25

B98

Children and young people with SEND are nationally disproportionately represented in
exclusion, Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) and youth crime data. Earlier
intervention will not only save money, but it will also improve the lives of the individuals
and communities involved.
This option is therefore focused on ensuring there is sufficient support in place at an early
stage for children so that they may never need to be issued with an EHCP to access the
support they need to thrive. The emphasis would be on training and equipping staff in
schools to better support the needs of children and young people with SEND, without the
need for an EHCP assessment. This may lead to an increase in the number of pupils
receiving SEN support and a slow down in the number of EHCPs being created.
Achieving for Children would continue to provide advice, guidance and training so that
school staff feel more confident to accommodate the needs of their pupils in a mainstream
setting. For example, School INSET days now include SEND training on an even more
frequent basis, the promotion of Quality First Teaching principles is becoming even more
widespread, and local networks for sharing specialist best practice and providing outreach
support have become more established with the intention of becoming more active than
they currently are. There are also a number of other initiatives being used to take this
agenda forward. These include promotion at Headteacher Partnership, School
Improvement and SENCO Forum meetings. Some individual schools and multi academy
trusts are already taking this agenda forward with increases in their staff SEND training,
and this proactivity needs to become universal.
If this option was accepted, it would be supported by the following actions:
●

●
●

●

Two early intervention panels (one for Early Years, and one for Primary and
Secondary) have been established to sit five or six times per year. These panels
will consider individual cases where class teacher, SENCO, SEN Threshold
Guidance and other interventions (accessed for example via the “SEND Support
Map” due to be launched in July) have been tried without sufficient success, and
an escalation of support is seen as required. The panels will be able to assign a
range of additional interventions to support the school and young person, without
the need for an EHCP. Possible interventions will include support from specialist
inclusion, educational psychology, clinical psychology, and therapy staff.
Resources funded by the Early Years Inclusion Fund may be considered, as will
outreach support provided by specialist resource provisions and special schools.
Schools will be able to apply for extra support on a half-termly basis which would
provide a quicker route to accessing support as the EHCP assessment process can
take 20 weeks.
There is now an inclusion “one stop shop” available to all schools via telephone
9am to 4pm providing expert advice and signposting to additional support.
Support networks are available on social emotional and mental health (SEMH),
with training provided by the Inclusion Service, the Educational Psychology
Service and the Emotional Health Service (clinical psychology). The Inclusion
Service will include secondary behaviour specialists in addition to the current
primary expertise, offering advice, training, coaching and the coordination of
multi agency networks.
Peer to peer audits of SEND practice at secondary level are being established so
that schools within the borough can support one another to become more
inclusive and more equipped to meet the needs of pupils with SEND. The schools
demonstrating the strongest SEND practice will support those schools requiring
more support and help them to undertake an accurate and credible
self-assessment.

As part of this option, further work would also be undertaken to engage with voluntary
sector organisations to identify if they would be able to provide more support to schools

26

B99

too.
It is difficult to quantify how many children and young people this may impact upon but it
should ensure that resources are directed at those children and young people that need it
most and that schools are more competent and confident to support pupils with SEND,
whether they have an EHCP or not. It is likely to be a positive impact.
Assessment
and planning

The programme of annual EHCP reviews leads to more cost-effective provision for
children and young people with SEND/ Improvements to the timeliness and quality of
EHCPs clearly evidence how children’s and young people’s needs can be met within local
provision and reduce the likelihood of costly tribunal-directed placements or provision
All EHCPs are subject to a formal annual review process. The objective of this process is to
review whether the EHCP needs to be amended in any way, including whether it is still
required. Achieving for Children believe that a more robust annual review process would
result in more amendments being made to the content of an EHCP at this point in the
annual cycle, and that the support provided each year would be more evidence based and
bespoke to the evolving needs of the learner. Achieving for Children also believe that the
financial impact of this, net of the investment cost, would be a reduction in expenditure.
Achieving for Children have recently recruited an EHCP Annual Review Officer for Kingston,
who will lead on this work, and are currently recruiting for an Annual Review coordinator
position. The intention will be to ensure that the EHCPs that we produce are still effective
and relevant and focused on encouraging each child and young person to progress towards
greater independence and resilience wherever possible.
In some cases, an annual review could lead to a reduction in support where the evidence
shows that the child or young person no longer needs the existing level of support. In other
cases, it could lead to an increase in support for a child or young person, where existing
support is not considered to be sufficient. Parents, carers and children and young people
will still have the same rights to appeal, should they disagree with changes proposed
through the annual review process.
This has the potential to impact on all children and young people with an EHCP. In that it
seeks to better ensure that EHCPs better meet and align to the needs of children and
young people with SEND, this is likely to have a beneficial impact.

Home to
school travel

* A separate equality assessment is being undertaken to assess the impact of the following
proposals on children and young people with SEND. The information below summarises the
findings:
Implement collection points for children and young people with SEND who travel to
school by bus
Collection points will be used on selected bus routes where pupils are ambulant. It should
reduce some journey times to and from school and help to support children in their
readiness to learn and participate in the school day. It will have a beneficial impact as it will
contribute to supporting pupils to learn independence skills.
Implement targeted independent travel training including options for a payment by
results funding model
The Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice requires all local authorities
to promote the independence and life skills of young people, in particular in their transition
to adulthood. The use of independent travel training is an important mechanism for
supporting young people to become more independent, acquire key life skills, develop
their interests and friendship networks, and increase opportunities for employment.
Participation in independent travel training has historically been steady. The programme
currently offers 30 places across Kingston or Richmond per year it is anticipated that a
greater number of the current cohort of pupils could commence some form of

27

B100

independent travel training from Year 8 onwards; it is therefore proposed to implement a
targeted independent travel training programme for these pupils to increase take-up and
completion from April 2019. As with the proposal above, this would have a beneficial
impact as it would support pupils with SEND to develop the independence to support their
transition to adulthood.
Expand and promote the bursary scheme to encourage and support more parents to
transport their own children to school
The current reimbursement rate is 47 pence per mile. There is low take-up of this option
with just 6% of the current cohort accessing this form of transportation. It is proposed to
increase the reimbursement rate to £1 per mile where it is beneficial and is likely to
increase take up (predominantly on solo routes where only one child is being transported
as this is significantly more expensive than a shared route). This is unlikely to have an
impact as it will voluntary for parents to sign up.
Implement a charging scheme to provide home to school travel for young people aged
over 18
There is no statutory requirement for local authorities to provide home to school travel for
young people aged under five and aged over 16. The proposal is for a charging scheme to
be implemented for those aged over 18. There would be an expectation that parents make
a contribution towards the cost of providing the transport. It would be means-tested to
ensure that low income families will still be able to access a service without enduring
financial hardship. In exceptional cases, school transport may be provided to pupils- this
would be done on a case-by-case basis subject to the usual application, assessment and
appeal process. This may have an impact on some young people with SEND as they may no
longer be eligible to access free transport once they reach 18. However, the SEND
Transport service would work with those affected and with local disability groups to
identify other potential options that would enable the pupil to continue to access
education or vocational schemes.

CONSULTATION
6. What consultation have you undertaken with stakeholders or critical friends about the
key findings? What feedback did you receive as part of the consultation?
Consultation on options
The proposals are due to be considered as part of the Schools Budget setting process for
financial year 2019/20 to be finalised at Full Council on 26 February 2019. Related
consultation and engagement with schools and other stakeholders has been ongoing for
more than twelve months, and has taken a range of forms including Schools Forum
meetings, consultation meetings, workshops and an online survey with parents and carers
and parent carer groups. Most notably these took place in autumn 2017 as part of the
2018/19 budget setting process, in April to July 2018 as part of the SEND Futures
programme and development of a “SEND Vision for 2020”, and in October and November
2018 as part of the 2019/20 budget setting process.
Most recent stakeholder engagement and consultation include:
Activity

Number of sessions

Timeframe

Number participating

Focus groups in schools

12

January 2019

136

28

B101

with children and young
people
1:1 interviews with
young people over 18

-

January 2019

Community drop in
sessions

3

January 2019

26

Online survey

1

12 December 2018 to 20
January 2019

95

Summary of main themes arising in feedback
The key themes arising across all our consultation activity are:
● Support for children and young people with special educational needs is a statutory
duty and must be funded, rather than cutting services the Council should:
○ lobby central government for adequate funding
○ find resources from elsewhere in the Council’s budget/ assets
● More local provision is welcomed, but must be high quality, comparable provision
must be established before any reduction in out of borough/ independent
placements
● Early intervention recognised as impactful but:
○ it must be adequately resourced
○ It cannot and must not replace statutory support
● Annual reviews are important but must be focussed on children and young people’s
needs, not driven by a target to reduce provision
● EHCP Coordinators/ SEN Caseworkers need training and support to produce quality
documentation and support parents to navigate the process; better retention would
be helpful in building relationships
● Achieving for Children and Kingston Council need to regain the trust and confidence
of some parents of children and young people with special educational needs
● Children and young people want teachers and professionals to be honest, supportive
and work together
● Children and young people want their individual needs and learning styles to be
understood and responded to, including appropriate learning environments; a wide
range of interesting and fun lessons and leisure opportunities
● Young people want support post 16, work experience and support to prepare for
adulthood.
The full and detailed consultation summary of responses will be added to the Achieving for
Children Local Offer website when finalised.
Consultation on the equality assessment
The equality assessment has been shared for comment with the Kingston Council Equalities
Lead. Furthermore, it has been reviewed by a number of senior officers in Achieving for
Children to ensure it is robust and comprehensive and provides a full picture of the
potential impact of these proposals.

29

B102

ACTION PLANNING
7. What issues have you identified that require action?
Issue identified
Planned action
Maintaining strong
relationships between
Kingston Council,
Achieving for Children
and Kingston schools

Ensuring parents and
parent representatives
are informed

Lack of ethnicity data in
relation to children and
young people with
EHCPs
Need for greater
consideration of
intersectionality
(children and young
people who fit within
more than one of the
protected characteristic
groups)

Achieving for Children
will continue to work
with the Schools Forum
to ensure positive
relationships are
maintained, even if the
proposals are not fully
supported by the
majority of schools
Achieving for Children
will continue to engage
with the Parent/ Carer
Forum to ensure parents
and parent
representatives are kept
informed of the
developments in SEND
provision in Kingston.
Improve data collection
in relation to the
ethnicity of children and
young people with EHCPs
As part of the Achieving
for Children annual
equality report, consider
intersectionality with
regard to children and
young people with
disability

Lead officer

Director of Finance

Completion
Date
Ongoing

Achieving for
Children
Programme
Director

Ongoing

Head of SEND

Ongoing

Head of Strategy
and Programmes

April 2019

MONITORING AND REVIEW
8. How will the actions identified above be monitored and reviewed and where will the
actions be captured i.e. Business Plan, project plan, service and improvement plan, service
plan poster or Personal Development Plan?
The issues above will be monitored as part of the implementation of the Schools Budget
process, or in the Achieving for Children annual equalities report as referenced above.

PUBLISHING THE COMPLETED ANALYSIS

30

B103

When completed, the equality assessment should be approved by a member of Achieving
for Children Management Team and published on the Achieving for Children website.
Please provide details below:
Approved by
Ian Dodds, Managing Director
Date of approval:
January 2019
Date of publication:
TBC

31

B104

Annex 3

RBK Health & Wellbeing Board
28 March 2019
SEND Transformation Plan
Annex 3, Changes to the RBK SEND Transformation Plan, Nov 2018 to March 2019
Report by Interim Director of Children’s Services
Introduction:
The Draft SEND Transformation Plan was published as a paper for the Children’s and Adults’ Care
and Education Committee on 22 November 2018. The SEND Transformation Plan published with the
papers for the Health and Wellbeing Board on 28 March includes a number of differences to the draft
version. These differences include changes to the financial position (e.g. forecast versus actual), and
changes to the wider contents of the plan including to reflect the findings of the consultation process.
More detail on these two areas are provided below. Importantly the SEND Transformation Plan will
be regularly reviewed at the SEND Partnership Board, and updates published on an iterative basis.
1.

Financial update:
1.1.
1.2.
1.3.
1.4.

1.5.
1.6.
1.7.
2.

Actual expenditure over the past four months has been less than forecast, and forecast
expenditure is also now lower than before.
The average cost of an EHCP has reduced during the 2018/9 financial year and this is
reflected in future forecasts.
The forecast growth in the total number of EHCPs has been reduced from 100 per year
for the next three years to an additional 100, 90 and 80.
The final DSG settlement (income) for 2018/9 is now higher than anticipated in the
autumn. Part of this reflects Kingston’s share (£417k) of the extra £125m revenue
funding for each of 2018/9 and 2019/20 that government announced in December 2018
across all local authorities. This additional funding is assumed to continue in 2020/21
and beyond.
2018/9 underspends in the Schools and Early Years Blocks have been reflected
Previous proposals relating to the movement of funds from the Schools Block to the
High Needs Block have been updated.
Savings relating to the Assessment and Planning Workstream have been reduced.

Responses to key headlines of consultation findings / updates:
2.1.

“Support for children and young people with special educational needs is a
statutory duty and must be funded. Rather than cutting services the Council
should lobby central government for adequate funding and find resources
from elsewhere in the Council’s budget/ assets”
Kingston continues to lobby government for an increase in financial support relating to
SEND. This is directly through bilateral meetings with senior Education Ministers and
Department of Education Officers, via representative organisations such as London
Councils and the Local Government Association, and through joint communications with
neighbouring boroughs and their MPs.
On 12 November 2018 the Education and Skills Funding Agency wrote to local
authorities regarding a consultation on the implementation of new arrangements for

B105
reporting deficits in the Dedicated Schools Grant. The document included the following
sentences:

“DSG is a ring-fenced specific grant, provided outside the local government finance
settlement. It must be used in support of the schools budget for the purposes defined in
the School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations. As funding is ring-fenced,
there is no requirement for local authorities to top-up the grant from general funding or
from non-ring-fenced revenue reserves.”
In addition to this clear directive, like a growing number of other local authorities,
Kingston does not have sufficient spare capacity in it’s wider budgets to permanently
“top up” funding for a sector that is central government’s undisputed responsibility to
adequately resource.
2.2.

“More local provision is welcomed, but must be high quality. Comparable provision must
be established before reductions in out of borough/independent placements are
implemented”
Proposals to increase the number of local specialist places are as shown in the table
below. A process for benchmarking the new provisions against outstanding providers
and popular independent provision has been included in the Plan.

Venue

Specialism

Extra
places

Specialist Resource Provisions
Surbiton Children’s Centre
Nursery School

Social communication needs including autism
and moderate and severe learning difficulties

6

Castle Hill Primary School

Speech language and communication needs
and learning difficulties

16

King Athelstan Primary
School

Social, emotional and mental health

6

Latchmere School

Social communication needs including autism
and mild to moderate learning difficulties

6

Coombe Girls’ School

Communication needs, including hearing
impairment

30

Hollyfield School and Sixth
Form Centre

Social communication needs including autism,
mild to moderate learning difficulties and
sensory and emotional health needs

20

Tolworth Girls’

Emotional health (including girls with autism)

10

Dysart School

Severe and complex learning disabilities

29

St Philip’s

Moderate learning difficulties

40

New Free School

Autistic spectrum disorder

90

Special Schools

Total

253

B106

2.3.

“Early intervention is recognised as impactful but to be successful it must be
adequately resourced, and it cannot and must not replace statutory support”
The requirement to continue to provide statutory support is understood and
acknowledged. The Council has agreed to provide £280k of funding in 2019/20 to
support additional and improved early identification and intervention.

2.4.

“Annual reviews of EHCPs are important and must be focussed on children
and young people’s needs, not driven by a target to reduce provision”
It is expected that the additional resources being allocated to annual reviews will result
in a higher quality review process with more bespoke support and interventions that are
more tailored to the evolving needs of the child or young person. Improved
measurement of the impact of provision on the progress achieved will also allow the
performance of providers to be more closely monitored. Improved annual reviews will
also help better plan transitions and highlight placement challenges. Additional text
about this process has been added to the Plan.

2.5.

“EHCP Coordinators / SEN Caseworkers need training and support to
produce quality documentation and support parents to navigate the process;
better retention would be helpful in building relationships”
A significant programme of training for EHCP Coordinators / SEN Caseworkers is
underway and this will continue throughout the summer term and beyond. The
programme is based on a full self evaluation of the skills of the SEND Team undertaken
in January. The need to improve staff skills is believed to be wider than just the SEND
team, and for example spans the health and school workforce. At the first meeting of
the SEND Partnership Board it was agreed to develop a pan system workforce strategy
and a group is being formed to take this forward.

2.6.

“Achieving for Children and Kingston Council need to regain the trust and
confidence of some parents of children and young people with special
educational needs”
In addition to the process of establishing a new Parent Carer Forum being managed by
Contact (the voluntary sector organisation commissioned by the Department for
Education for this purpose), the Director of Children’s Services is leading on the
establishment of a Parent Consortium in Kingston.

2.7.

“Children and young people want teachers and professionals to be honest,
supportive and work together”
See 2.8

2.8.

“Children and young people want their individual needs and learning styles to
be understood and responded to, including appropriate learning
environments; a wide range of interesting and fun lessons and leisure
Opportunities”
Achieving for Children is continuing to work with schools and other delivery partners to
publicise the findings of the consultation process and improve practice to reflect this.
The use of established networks (e.g. Headteachers, School Improvement and SENCO
Forums) and conferences such as the SENCO (Feb), Early Years (May) and SEND
Futures (June) conferences will support this. AfC’s Participation Officer for Children
and Young People with SEND is working with children and young people to respond to
the information collected in the consultation and will produce a “You said, we did”
summary in the summer term.

B107

2.9.

“Young people want support post 16, work experience and support to prepare
for adulthood”.
Improvements to the post 16 vocational pathways continue to be made. Examples
include:
● this year’s World of Work Roadshow, held on 6 March and attended by over
1000 young people from Kingston and Richmond, included a bespoke SEND
session for the first time, and
● the Council has agreed to two supported apprenticeships to start in 2019

Health & Wellbeing Board

C1

Appendix C

28 March 2019
Ofsted and CQC Local Area SEND Inspection, Written Statement of Action
Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services
Report by Director of Children’s Services

Purpose
To update the Board on progress with the Written Statement of Action
Recommendation:
The Board notes that Ofsted and the CQC have deemed the proposed Written
Statement of Action, submitted in February 2019, to be “fit for purpose”

Key Points
A.

At the meeting on 15 November 2018 the Board requested a report on the “Sign off
Statement” of the Written Statement of Action (WSoA) be brought to the next
meeting.

B.

The proposed WSoA was submitted to Ofsted and the CQC in February 2019.

C.

Ofsted and the CQC wrote to the Director of Children’s Services and the Managing
Director of the CCG on 6 March 2019, confirming that “the statement of action is
deemed to be fit for purpose in setting out how the local area will tackle the
significant areas of weakness identified in the published report letter” .

D.

The WSoA will be published on the Local Offer website.

Context
1.

In September 2018 the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services
and Skills (Ofsted) and Care Quality Commission (CQC) conducted a joint
inspection of the local area of Kingston upon Thames to judge the effectiveness
of the area in implementing the disability and special educational needs reforms
as set out in the Children and Families Act 2014.

2.

As a result of the findings of the inspection it was determined that a Written
Statement of Action was required because of significant areas of weakness in the
local area’s practice. The local authority and the area CCG were jointly
responsible for submitting the WSoA to Ofsted.

3.

The WSoA explains how the local area will tackle the following areas:
● the overall poor quality and monitoring of EHC plans, including contributions
from health professionals
● the timeliness of leaders ensuring that the annual review process and any
subsequent amendments to EHC plans are consistently made in line with the
SEN code of practice
● the strategic leadership and monitoring of the CCG’s work in implementing
the 2014 reforms

C2
● to ensure that there is a productive and positive relationship between parents
and parent representatives, including a parent carer forum.

4.

Actions aimed at addressing these four areas are included within the SEND
Transformation Plan, included as Annex 1 of the item on the SEND
Transformation Plan elsewhere on this agenda.

Proposal and Options
5.

The latest version of the WSoA is attached at Annex 1 to this report. The WSoA
has been updated to reflect comments made by Ofsted and the CQC in their
letter of 6 March.

Consultations
6.

Aspects of the WSoA are included in the SEND Transformation Plan. A
consultation on the draft SEND Transformation Plan was carried out between 13
December 2018 and the 20 January 2019. Details of the consultation
methodology and findings were presented to the Children’s and Adults’ Care and
Education Committee on 7 February 2019 and can be viewed as papers for that
Committee at
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=662&MId=8584.

Timescale
7.

Ofsted and the CQC will monitor the implementation of the WSoA through a
series of monitoring visits undertaken by the DfE and NHS England. Kingston’s
first monitoring visit has already taken place.

8.

Local Areas implementing a WSoA are usually revisited by Ofsted and the CQC
within 18 months of their WSoA being accepted as fit for purpose. Kingston’s
revisit will focus on the progress made, since the original inspection, against
each of the actions in the WSoA.

9.

Where a local area is considered to have made sufficient progress against its
WSoA, monitoring visits from the DfE and NHS England will cease. DfE and NHS
England will determine on a case by case basis the next steps for any local areas
that have made insufficient progress.

Resource Implications
10.

Consideration of resource implications are included within the SEND
Transformation Plan, included as Annex 1 of the item on the SEND
Transformation Plan elsewhere on this agenda.

Legal Implications
11.

None for the purposes of this report.

Risk Assessment
12.

The SEND Transformation Plan, included as Annex 1 of the item on the SEND
Transformation Plan elsewhere on this agenda, includes risk assessments of
proposed actions.

Equalities Analysis
13.

An EQIA has been undertaken on the SEND Transformation Plan. This is
included as Annex 2 of the item on the SEND Transformation Plan elsewhere on
this agenda.

Health Implications

C3

14.

The WSoA and the SEND Transformation Plan incorporate proposals with very
positive implications for the health of children and young people with SEND.
These include the intention to assess needs in a more holistic and regular way,
and to plan and deliver support in a more joined up and coordinated fashion
across the agencies involved. In addition, the focus on early intervention will
mean that in some cases health needs will be considered earlier in the life of the
child or young person than previously, and are likely therefore to have escalated
less before appropriate intervention is realised.

15.

Another aspect of the plan with very positive health implications is the centrality
of enhanced therapy provision within the proposals for an improved local offer.
The WSoA has been co-produced between AfC and the CCG to address the
areas of weakness identified in the SEND inspection. Progress will be monitored
through the engagement of the CCG in the delivery of the SEND Transformation
Plan and through the Kingston CCG Governing Body.

Environmental & Air Quality Implications
16.

No implications arising from the specific recommendations of this report.

Benefits to the Community
17.

Implementation of the WSoA will reassure families that local services are making
progress in implementing the disability and special educational needs reforms as
set out in the Children and Families Act 2014. The monitoring visits will identify
where further work is needed, and help to highlight improvements made to SEND
services in delivering better outcomes for children and young people.

Author of report - Pauline Maddison, Director of Children’s Services
Background documents
Held by Ashley Whittaker, Programme Director, 020 8891 7551
ashley.whittaker@achievingforchildren.org.uk
o

None other than those referred to in this report

C4

Page 1 of 34

Introduction
This document outlines the commitment of Kingston Council, Kingston’s Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Achieving for Children (AfC) to
address the areas of concern which were identified in Kingston’s local area SEND inspection, which took place between 17-21 September 2018.
The document addresses four key areas:
● Significant concern 1: The overall poor quality and monitoring of Education, Health and Care plans, including contributions from health
professionals
● Significant concern 2: The timeliness of leaders in ensuring that the annual review process and any subsequent amendments to EHC plans are
consistently made in line with the SEN code of practice
● Significant concern 3: The strategic leadership and monitoring of the CCG’s work in implementing the 2014 reforms
● Significant concern 4: To ensure that there is a productive and positive relationship between parents and parent representatives, including a
parent carer forum.

The monitoring of the progress towards addressing the agreed significant concerns will take place in a quarterly meeting with the Department for
Education (DfE) and NHS England, and feeding into this our progress will be considered through the Kingston SEND Partnership Board which will be
held on the same day. Other SEN team plans, CCG work plans and internal performance systems will all measure progress and ensure strong
accountability.
In addition, Kingston Public Health will be working with the CCG and AfC partners to ensure that the SEND Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
recommendations are utilised and inform the commissioning intentions of all partners so that resources, provision and activity is based on an
accurate assessment of the SEND population in Kingston.

Page 2 of 34

C5

Our written statement of action has been produced in close partnership with the CCG, AfC and Kingston Public Health so that all key partners are
working together with urgency and determination to address these weaknesses. In addition, we have shared the document with our young people,
and a focus group of parents and carers because we recognise the importance of co-production, shared ownership and commitment across all
elements of the system.

Kingston’s Written Statement of Action is integral to both the Local Area SEND Transformation Plan which has been written and shared with all key
partners and the local health and care plan that is currently in the process of finalization. These plans will energise all partners in the SEND system to
deliver real transformation for our local children, young people and their parents and carers. It also embeds the principles of the 2014 Children and
Families Act.
The Local Area SEND Transformation plan vision for 2020 has five key components
●
●
●
●
●

Children, young people, parents and carers are listened to and engaged.
Local provision is expanded so that children’s education, health and care needs can be met locally.
The whole system, with education, social care and health services at the core, works together and with families.
Provision is high quality and delivered by well trained and supported professionals.
The community is supported to meet the needs of all children and young people by embracing diversity and inclusion, so that all children and
young people with SEND have the opportunity to play, learn and grow-up together locally.

Transformation addresses five key issues over the next 3 years
Developing new approaches to early intervention so that children with SEND are supported to remain in mainstream schools.
Increasing the range & quality of local education, health and care provision for children and young with SEND.
Improving business insight and implementing more commercial approaches to the commissioning of SEND placements and support.
Engaging all stakeholders, including all parents and carers, in reforming the SEND system and changing attitudes and behaviours.
Promoting independence and strengthening transition for children and young people with SEND through school phases and into their adulthoods.

In terms of governance, the SEND Transformation Plan will be overseen by a Strategic SEND Partnership Board which will be chaired by the Chief
Executive of Kingston Council, Ian Thomas. The governance structure below outlines both Education and CCG structures which will oversee the
Written Statement of Action progress and link directly to the SEND Partnership Board and its strategic oversight so that progress is monitored
frequently and effectively.
The six workstreams will deliver some of the activities which are directly linked to the action points from the SEND Local Area inspection.
In particular, Workstream 1 focuses on systemic change and accountability of all partners which links directly to significant concern 3 – CCG
Leadership.
Workstream 3 which builds local provision which meets the identified needs of our children and young people with SEND must incorporate the
therapeutic provision and strategies for increasing confidence for parents and carers in the Kingston Local Offer.
Page 3 of 34

C6

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Workstreams 4 and 5 are inextricably linked to Significant Concerns 1 and 2 and develop SEN systems, processes and engagement with providers so
that our statutory duty for the EHCP process is robust, effective and high quality.
All six workstreams will emphasise the importance of engagement and opportunities for parents, cares and children and people to actively
contribute to SEND improvement across the Local Area. Whilst much of the SEND Transformation and Written Statement of Action focuses on
children with EHCPs, the focus on supporting children receiving appropriate intervention, services and provision at SEN Support level will be
addressed in detail through Workstream 5.

C7

Page 4 of 34

SEND Transformation Governance Structure

C8

Page 5 of 34

In addition to the SEND Partnership Board, governance of the WSOA is also overseen through AfC and CCG internal governance mechanisms:
Achieving for Children
Governance Mechanism

Activity

Significant Concern

Performance, Quality and Improvement Board

Monthly oversight of the written statement of action
through SEN dataset and qualitative discussion across
social care and health partners

1,2,3,4

AfC Senior Leadership Team

Monthly senior leadership team to focus on progress
in SEN team action plan

1,2,3

AfC Workforce Board

Focus on professional development for SEN, social
care and health teams

AfC Director’s Board

Accountable for AfC overall performance

1,2,3,4

Parent Consortium

Termly Update

1,2,3,4

1,2

Governance Mechanism

Activity

Significant Concern

Kingston Clinical Commissioning Group Governing
Body

Accountable for the overall performance of KCCG and
bi-monthly oversight of the written statement of
action through SEN dataset and qualitative discussion
across Social Care and Education partners

1,2,3,4

Kingston and Richmond Integrated Quality
Governance Committees in Common

Monthly focus on the performance, quality and
delivery of the written statement of action

1,2,3,4

Page 6 of 34

C9

Clinical Commissioning Group

Kingston and Richmond Finance Committees in
Common

Responsible for approving financial resources to
support the delivery of the written statement of
action.

1,2,3,4

Parent Consortium

Termly update

1,2,3,4

RAG RATING KEY
RED
AMBER

The action has not yet started or there is significant delay in implementation. The action must be prioritised to bring it back on track to deliver
improvement.
The action has started but there is some delay in implementation. The action must be monitored to ensure the required improvement is delivered.

GREEN

The action has been completed and there is evidence that the improvement has been embedded and sustained.

Initial RAG rating

Current Month
October

RED

RED

AMBER

AMBER

LIGHT GREEN

LIGHT GREEN

DARK GREEN

DARK GREEN

Page 7 of 34

Direction of travel since the previous quarter

C10

LIGHT GREEN The action is on track to be completed by the agreed date. Evidence is required to show that the improvement has been embedded and sustained.

COMPLETED

COMPLETED

TOTAL

TOTAL

C11

Page 8 of 34

Written Statement of Action
Significant Concern 1: The overall poor quality and monitoring of Education, Health and Care plans, including contributions
from health professionals
Aim of this programme of work:
Every EHC plan will be fit for purpose and fulfil statutory requirements under the 2014 Children and Families Act
KPIs / Targets for assessing overall success of the programme:
-

Outcome

Page 9 of 34

Actions

Success measure(s)

Lead Officer Governance Timescale
Forum/Lead

R Progress update
AJanuary 2019
G
I
n
i
t
i
a
l

C12

-

95% of new EHC plans completed by August 2019 in 20 week timescale, and all partners complete assessments in a timely manner
All partners and teams are confident and competent in fulfilling statutory duties for EHC assessment and understand their responsibilities
under the 2014 Children and Families Act
Quality assurance processes for existing EHC plans includes education, health and social care and indicates plans are fit for purpose and
accurately reflect a child / young person’s needs and appropriate education, health and care provision
Feedback from Parents and carers indicates confidence in the assessment process and the quality of final EHC plans
Feedback from Education settings indicates confidence in the assessment process and the quality of final EHC plans

All EHC Plans will be Training and Induction of staff
produced in
Revisit principles of 2014 reforms
partnership with
across AfC, Providers and health
Health, Education
teams - training presentation to
and Social Care and
be shared with all teams.
will be of high quality
and impact positively Cascade learning about SEND 2014
on outcomes for
reforms.
children and young
people with SEND. Training meeting slides revisit
2014 principles.
Evaluate increased knowledge,
confidence and competence in
post- briefing evaluation survey.

SEN team to work in partnership
with health and social care
colleagues to support confidence
of all staff in understanding how
to complete their EHCP
contributions.
EHCP Training programme written
for all new case officers and

Page 10 of 34

2. Health and social care
advice for EHCPs is
provided within the 6 week
timescale – 95% by
September 2019 and
maintained at that higher
level.
3. Increased parental
confidence in EHCPs
measured through
feedback gained after final
plan agreed:
● % who felt that they were
fully engaged in the
assessment and writing of
the plan
● % who felt that the plan
accurately reflected their
child’s education, health
and social care need
● % who felt that the plan
would help their child
make progress towards the SEN Leaders,
outcomes.
the P
 rincipal

Workstream – Training
Assessment
completed
and Planning to wider
teams by
Workstream - 30/4/19
Engagement
Designated
Clinical
Officer, SEN
and Social
care to
complete
more
detailed
training by
30/6/19

Module 1 is being written.
Dates of delivery for Module 1
have been agreed.

Plan for invitations to be sent w/c
29/10/18. Each module will be
delivered 3 times in 3 different
venues. These will then be
evaluated and inform modules 2,
3 & 4.
Date agreed for training input to
Disabled Children’s Team.

Director for Education Services
has drafted first of series of
briefings for all AfC staff, first to
be sent following publication of
SEND Inspection Report This will
be shared with public Health and
CCG for broader circulation.

C13

Write and lead training on process,
specificity, and writing high
quality EHCPs for schools, health
partners and social care - led by
Educational Psychology Service,
Designated Clinical Officer, Social
Care and SEN Leaders.

1. Performance for
Director for
completing EHC plans
Education
within 20 week timescale
Services/Desi
improves from 69% in
gnated
November 2018 to 95% by Clinical
August 2019 and is
Officer
maintained at that level or
higher.

health professionals based on
skills audit and self-evaluation.
EHCP training programme
delivered to
●
School SENCOs
●
Therapists
●
SEN team
●
Social care professionals
●
Health professionals
Education Psychology Service to
write and complete ‘specificity’
training and deliver to all
SENCOs, SEN, Educational
Psychology Service and
Therapists.

5. % of AfC, and Health
colleagues identify
increased confidence and
competence in their role
and contribution to the
EHC process.

Page 11 of 34

Educational
Psychologist
& Director
for
Education
Services

Designated
Clinical
Officer
AfC
Intelligence
team & AfC
Workforce
development
– impact of
training
Designated
Clinical
Officer

C14

Social care to agree content and
roll out to all teams.

4. Feedback from education
setting is gained after final
plan agreed by:
● % who felt that the plan
accurately reflected the
child/young person’s
needs.
● % who felt that the plan
would make significant
improvement to the
children/young person’s
access to teaching, learning
and progress.
● % who felt that the
provisions in the plan
would succeed in ensuring
that the child / young
person reached the
outcome set out in the
plan.
● % of young people who
report that the EHC
assessment process has
been positive and they are
happy with the final plan

Create strong induction
programme for all new EHC
coordinators.

Induction skills audit in place
Induction programme in place.
Feedback from new
appointments collected and
Embed induction skills audit and
used to inform future training
link to fortnightly training
90% attendance at on-going
Lead fortnightly mandatory SEN
fortnightly training.
team training.
Competence and confidence
scales in SEN team increase by
Social Care to include SEN training
30%.
in all staff induction
SEN training for ‘care’ assessment Health Induction programme in
contributions for all Child
place. Health providers
Protection, Referral and
training records show all new
Assessment, CP, Independent
staff in relevant posts have
Reviews, Leaving Care and
received induction training
Permanency teams.
Social care managers initial
training for ‘care’ assessment
Develop an induction module for
completed.
all health commissioned
providers of SEND services.

Director for
Education
Services
& AD SEND
AD Workforce
Developmen
t

Add capacity to SEN team to fulfil SEN structure revised and
quality assurance activity
agreed with SLT and shared
through senior leaders, and to
with team.
implement effective data system
through Business Support team. New roles appointed in Business
Support.

Director for
Education
Services
& AD SEND

Page 12 of 34

Initial planning meeting with
Workforce Development.

Meetings planned with Health
providers from January 2019.

KCCG
Designated
Medical
Officer/
Designated
Clinical Officer

Social care managers training
discussed and agreed at
leadership team meeting –
14/1/19.
April 2019

C15

Synergy database training
completed and implemented
with Intelligence team.
SEN staff feel confident and
competent in using Synergy

January 2019
– Self
-evaluation
finalised
and shared

May 2019

New posts appointed.

February
2019

Meeting with Systems agreed to
January 2019 all team revisit
Synergy basic training, followed
by floor walking and individual
support Business Systems Analyst
/ EHC Coordinator Assistants
Team Leader.

Synergy
deadline
May 19
Feb 19

database. All Synergy
workflows support SEN
activity.

July 19

AfC Specialist school nurses to
Children and young people’s
Associate
undertake training on using the
health needs are identified in Director of
Client information system – Care Care Notes and then
Health, AfC
Notes to ensure care notes are
reflected in the EHCP so their
regularly updated and uploaded.
health needs are met.
Audit indicates that 95% of
care plans completed within
timescale and are of good
quality.

K&R
February
Integrated
2019
Quality
Governance
Committees
in Common

Page 13 of 34

C16

Quality assurance
Review and further develop
processes are
quality assurance overarching
embedded and used framework which will enable all
to drive service
partners to evaluate statutory
improvement
duties and the impact of EHC
assessment on children and
young people’s outcomes.

100% of Child and young
people’s care plans uploaded
on the Care Notes system.

Your Healthcare providing training
programme to all health staff in
Integrated Service for Children
with Disabilities.

AfC PQI Board June 2019

Specialist School nursing staff
are competent and capable
to upload information on
Care Notes.
AfC to employ a
Healthcare/Administration
Assistant to upload backlog of
Care Plans held by specialist
school nurses.

School input from schools and SEN
team – triaged Years 5, 9 & 12
completed by December 2018.

Associate
Director of
Health

Current quality assurance model KCCG Director
updated and in place in
of Quality
partnership with Health and
Social care.
Designated
Clinical
50% audited plans containing
Officer
health information of the

K&R
June 2019
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees
in Common.
2019

Healthcare/admin Assistant
employed and
Backlog care plans currently being
uploaded

Programme of quality assurance
agreed across SEN and school
seconded staff.

Initial discussions held with the
Council for Disabled Children and
agreed that local area will receive

required standard set out in
the quality assurance
framework by June 2019 and
70% by September 2019.

Associate
Director for
Referral and
Assessment

Once
appointed –
April 2019

Designated Clinical Officer role
established to provide strategic
health leadership of SEND
agenda. A key task will be to
95% of audited plans containing Director for
ensure that the health
social care information of the Education
contribution is included in all new required standard by
Services
plans. Designated Clinical Officer
September 2019.
to work with Director for
Education Services to agree
New staff structure in place
content and roll out following
across AfC and KCCG so that
evaluation from quality assurance quality assurance process is
process and next steps, using
embedded.
wide group of health
professionals based on issues
Findings from quality assurance
identified in quality assurance
feed into fortnightly staff
process.
training and ongoing CPD.

Monthly reports highlighting
key lessons/areas for
improvement for managers,
the Health SEND Panel,
Performance Quality and
Innovation Board and SEND
Transformation Board.
KCCG Executive Management
Team and Integrated
Governance Committee.

Designated
Medical
Officer
Designated
Clinical
Officer
Director of
Children’s
Social Care
Head of SEN
Service

Page 14 of 34

Ongoing and
once quality
assurance
agreed in
March 2019

C17

Local Area quality assurance of
existing EHCPs

the support in developing its
approach to quality assurance.

CCG Executive
Management
Team.
AfC SLT and
PQI
Performance
Board
K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance

Committees
in Common
Ensure implementation of the
Health advice is provided in a
revised process to obtain health
timely manner that achieves
(AfC Therapies, HV and SN) input the 6 week timescale.
into EHCPs.

Designated
Medical
Officer

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees
in Common.

The revised process for obtaining
advice was developed in
November 2018. The revised
questionnaire was implemented
from December 2018. The
revised health form is now
included as part of the EHCP
application process as well as
incorporated into the annual
review form

C18

Page 15 of 34

Significant concern 2: The timeliness of leaders in ensuring that the annual review process and any subsequent amendments
to EHC plans are consistently made in line with the SEN code of practice
Aim of this programme of work:
Annual reviews and subsequent amendments for EHC plans will be completed effectively and in line with the statutory duties of the 2014 Children
and Families Act
KPIs / Targets for assessing overall success of the programme:
-

Annual reviews completed in required timescale
All partners understand their responsibilities for the annual review process and are confident and competent to complete the process
Subsequent amendments made and final, revised EHC plans are completed within timescale
The annual review process is used to evaluate the impact of the EHC plan on children and young people’s progress towards agreed outcomes

Actions

Annual reviews and
subsequent
amendments are
completed within
statutory timescale

Synergy upgraded to support
Data will provide intelligence to Director for
overview of annual review process, enhance effectiveness and
Education
numbers and dates. Use this to
timeliness of annual reviews.
Services
triage all annual reviews and
establish model for prioritising to
include independent and out of
borough schools.

Head of
Spring term
Intelligence, 2019
AfC
SEND
Partnership
Board

Initial priority for years 5, 9 and 11 All annual reviews completed and Director for
to be completed by Annual Review Plans amended for Y5/9/12.
Education
officers and KS2/3 Transition
Services &
Teacher.
AD SEND

SEND dataset Triaged by
PQI Board
January
2019

Page 16 of 34

Success measure(s)

Lead Officer Governance Timescale
Forum/lead

C19

Outcome

RAG
Progress update January
Initial
2019

Triage completed, all plans
have been RAG rated and
actions now prioritized

Expand to other year group using
same process of triage and then
activity
Y7, 8
Y2, 3
Y4, 11

All annual reviews have been
completed and where
appropriate EHC Plans amended
within statutory timescale
By September 75%
By January 2010 – 95%

Develop and lead annual review
training for school SENCOs, SEN
Team and health / social care
partners.

Actions
completed
by March
2019

Summer 2019 evaluation identify
increased confidence and voice
of children and young people is
more evident.

Page 17 of 34

Training session 1
completed November
2018

C20

Annual review training
SEN Team,
Workforce
Programme to
programme agreed and in place. Educational Board –
run from
Psychology Workstream November
Training specifically for Colleges
Team
Process
2018 - June
to focus on how we capture the
Associate
2019
Evaluate impact on confidence and voice of young people
Director for
competence of school colleagues.
SEND
Ensure school’s training and
guidance identifies ‘good
practice’ in capturing children
and young people’s views as part
of the annual review process

February 2019

RBK
Produce feedback model for ‘post Feedback model in place
SEN Team
September
Transformation
annual review’ to gather views of 70% positive feedback from
2019
Board
children, young people and parents parents who feel that they have
and education settings.
been fully and engaged and
listened to Education settings
giving feedback state that the
review has been helpful in
ensuring access to learning and
that is has impacted positively
on pupil outcomes.
Feedback identifies how
Participation
effectively we have captured the team with
voice of children and young
schools and
people
colleges

Page 18 of 34

C21

Establish evaluation model for
Evaluation indicates increased
AfC and CQC SLT AfC
annual reviews to assess impact of confidence, knowledge of annual to agree
PQI Board
provision on children and young
review process.
model for
people’s outcomes.
evaluating
Of those randomly audited 80%
impact and
of plans meet the standards set checking
out in the quality assurance
statutory
framework for reviews.
process.
Quality assurance sample
identifies impact on outcomes
for children and young people
and review the health and social
care provision made for the child
or young person and its
effectiveness in ensuring good
progress towards outcomes.
Amend AR1 form so that it
captures the voice of young
people

Evaluate impact of 2 new annual
review officer roles and use to
inform potential growth bid for
additional posts.

RBK
Transformation
Board

Number of annual reviews
attended impact measures.

Improve the timeliness and quality 95% of audited annual reviews
of health advice for the Annual
demonstrate health advice has
Review process.
been reviewed, amended and
updated as appropriate in line
with the SEN Code Of Practice.

Designated
Clinical
Officer

October 2019
January 2020

System devised to assess
numbers attended and
impact

K&R
January 2020
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees
in Common.

C22

Page 19 of 34

Significant Concern 3 - The strategic leadership and monitoring of the CCG’s work in implementing the 2014 reforms
Aim of this programme of work:
To ensure the CCG effectively discharges its responsibilities under the Children and Family Act and demonstrates its contribution to improving
outcomes for children and young people with SEND
KPIs / Targets for assessing overall success of the programme:
- Improvements in the quality health information of the health sections of EHCPs (see KPI for the EHCP section of the WSoA
- Reductions in waiting times for therapy services
- Increases in the number of children and young people accessing therapy services through a reduced threshold
- Feedback from stakeholders on the accessibility and timeliness of health support
- Increased use of personal health budgets
- Compliance with the NICE neurodevelopmental pathway and a reduction in waiting times for diagnostic services
- Improved access to equipment

Page 20 of 34

Timescale
January
20 19

RAG
Initial

Progress update
Role specification
in the process of
being finalised.

Bimonthly
thereafter
January
2019

The formal
statement of
commitment to
improving
outcomes for
children and
young people with
SEND was agreed

C23

Significant Concern 3 - The strategic leadership and monitoring of the CCG’s work in implementing the 2014 reforms
Outcome
Actions
Success measure(s)
Lead
Governance
Officer
Forum
There will be
Agree and appoint the Governing
CCG SEND Executive appointed
KCCG
KCCG
effective strategic
Body SEND Executive to be
and ensures regular bi-monthly
Managing
Governing
leadership and
accountable for the SEND reforms
reports are provided to the KCCG Director
Body
oversight of the
Governing Body on progress of
health
compliance with SEND Statutory
RBK
implementation
responsibilities
Transformatio
and ongoing
n Board
delivery of the
KCCG Governing Body to agree a
Formal statement agreed and
KCCG
KCCG
SEND reforms by
formal statement of commitment to
used to drive SEND service
Managing
Governing
the CCG Governing improving outcomes for children and
improvement and delivery
Director
Body
Body
young people with SEND

at the January
2019 KCCG
Governing Body
meeting
KCCG Governing Body to agree
internal governance arrangements to
ensure strategic oversight and
operational delivery of SEND reforms

Governance framework
established evidencing standing
SEND agenda item with the
governance committee structure

KCCG
Managing
Director

KCCG
Governing
Body

March
2019

The Kingston CCG to receive regular
progress reports on the SEND Written
Statement of Action, the SEND
Transformation programme and KCCG
health specific SEND progress reports

Agreed SEND partnership
framework for monitoring
delivery of the SEND WSoA and
for oversight of service delivery

KCCG
Managing
Director

RBK
Transformatio
n Board
KCCG
Governing
Body

March
2019
Bi-monthly
thereafter

●

●

●

●

Page 21 of 34

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees
in Common.

C24

●

CCG performance review
framework/dashboard based
on balanced score card
developed
Agreed improvement in
partnership trajectories for
the provision of Health
advice, annual reviews and
EHCPs completed within the
6 week timescale by June
2019
Evidence from feedback from
quality assurance audits have
led to service improvements
by September 2019
Increased parental
confidence in EHCPs needs
assessment and annual
review processes by
September 2019
Improvement in the
knowledge and skills of
health professionals about

January 2019
KCCG Governing
Body received
SEND report on
progress with
drafting the
WSoA. First
progress update
report will be
discussed at
March KCCG
Governing Body
meet

●
●

Arrange a KCCG Governing Body
seminar on the SEND reforms

CCG SEND Annual Report to be
received by KCCG Governing Body

Page 22 of 34

CCG Governing body members
attending the seminar report
improved understanding of their
SEND strategic leadership
responsibilities
CCG SEND Annual Report
produced and evidences short
improvements in delivering the
SEND agenda

Increase the number of weekly
Designated Medical Officer sessions
from one to two

Increased capacity to fulfil DMO
SEND strategic responsibilities

DMO to undertake joint working with
the Designated Clinical officer

Oversight and quality assurance
evidences health services input
into EHCPs and annual reviews
are of good quality

Director of
Commissio
ning, KCCG

KCCG
Governing
Body

March
2019

Provisional date
for seminar
agreed

CCG SEND
Executive
Governing
Body/Desig
nated
Clinical
Officer
Director of
Quality
KCCG

KCCG
Governing
Body

July 2019

Annual report
format in the
process of being
finalised

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees
in Common.

January
2019

Funding approved
for increase in
Designated
Medical Officer
sessions at
December 2018
K&R Finance
Committees in
Common.
Designated
Medical Officer
providing
increased sessions
from January 2019

Director of
Quality

C25

Improved quality,
effectiveness and
performance of
SEND Health
services that
ensure local and
national
performance
targets are met

delivering the SEND reforms
and service offers
Improved access to therapy
services by April 2020
Examples of positive
engagement activity with
parent/carers and children
and young people

Establish regular meeting between
CCG SEND Executive lead, Designated
Clinical Officer, Designated Medical
Officer and Lead Children’s Health
Commissioner
Implementing a Peer Support
Programme that includes
●

●
●

●

April 2019

Four Peer reviews completed
with South West London CCGs

Designated
Clinical
Officer

October
2020

Training and development needs
of the Designated Medical Officer
and Designated Clinical identified
as part of the annual appraisal
cycle
Substantive DCO in place
reporting to the Director of
Quality to ensure strategic and
operational implementation of
the SEND reforms 0-25 years.

Director of
Quality

May 2019

Joint working between Kingston
and Richmond Designated
Medical Officers
South West London Peer support
network
Access to the Council for Disabled
Children’s on line network
Participation in the Designated
Medical Officer/Designated
Clinical Officer London Forum

Appoint a Designated Clinical Officer
(DCO) 1wte post to provide
overarching leadership across both
Kingston and Richmond CCGs to
ensure delivery of the SEND reforms

Director of
Quality

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common

April 2019

C26

Support the training and development
of the Designated Medical Officer and
Designated Clinical Officer

Page 23 of 34

KCCG has strategic/operational
assurance and oversight of the
implementation of the SEND
reforms

Funding approved
for 1.0wte DCO to
work across
Kingston and
Richmond CCGs at
Dec 18 K&R
Finance
Committees in
Common. Agreed
DCO to report to
the Director of
Quality.

Job Description
completed.
Recruitment
Commenced.
DCO to lead the quality assurance of
the health contribution of all new
plans and annual reviews

Page 24 of 34

Director of
Quality
Designated
Clinical
Officer

September
2019

C27

Develop tracking systems to ensure
consistent monitoring and delivery of
health advice for the EHC Needs

Oversight and quality assurance
evidences health services input
into EHCPs and annual reviews
are of good quality
50% audited plans containing
health information of the
required standard set out in the
quality assurance framework by
June 2019 and 70% by
September 2019
Increased parental confidence in
EHCPs measured through
feedback gained after final plan
agreed:
%ge who felt that the plan
accurately reflected their child’s
health care needs
Feedback from key health
professionals gained after final
plan agreed by
● %ge who felt that the plan
accurately reflected the
child/young person’s health
needs
● %ge who felt that the health
provisions in the plan would
succeed in ensuring that the
child / young person reached
the outcome set out in the
plan
● Health advice for EHCPs is
provided within the 6 week
timescale – 95% by September

Designated
Clinical
Officer

Designated
Clinical
Officer

June 2019

assessment and annual review
processes

2019 and maintained at that
higher level.
● Health advice is provided for
annual reviews within
statutory timescales

Undertake tracking, analysis and
monitoring of children and young
people on SEN Support

●

Evidence of plans to address
the needs and outcomes of
CYP on SEN support

●

Provide advice and support to
professionals across Health,
Education, Social care, parents and
carers

Undertake a co-designed review of
the health transition pathway to adult
health services with parents / carers
and young people

Page 25 of 34

% of schools, education, health,
social care, professionals
including parents and carers
expressing positive feedback
about the support provided by
the Designated Medical Officer
and Designated Clinical Officer
By July 2019 - 50%
By December 2019 - 75%
By March 2020 - 95%
Health transition pathway
reviewed and improvement
recommendations identified and
implemented

September
2019

Designated
Clinical
Officer

Programm
e of audits
to
commence
from
June2019
From
January
2019

Designated
Clinical
Officer/Desi
gnated
Medical
Officer

Designated
Clinical
Officer

November
2019

C28

Undertake regular audits of health
professionals’ knowledge, confidence
and competence on implementing the
SEND reforms

Recommendations from
analysis of SEN support
plans informs KCCG SEND
2020/21 Commissioning
intentions
%ge of Health colleagues identify
increased confidence and
competence in their role and
contribution to the EHC process

Designated
Clinical
Officer/Lea
d Children’s
Health
Commissio
ner

Designated
Medical Officer is
now able to
provide advice to
professionals
following increase
in sessions

Establish a SWL Designated Medical
Officer/Designated Clinical Officer
network to develop peer review,
provide benchmarking opportunities
and share good practice

Page 26 of 34

Director of
Quality

Local benchmarking is informed
by strategies, information and
support from the London
DCO/DMO forum

Designated
Clinical
Officer

Peer Challenge reviews are used
to inform learning and improve
local decision making.

Designated
Medical
Officer/
Designated
Clinical
Officer
Director of
Quality
Designated
Clinical
officer

Refresh the Council for Disabled
Children SEND self-evaluation Audit
tool

Risk areas identified for the CCG
and co-designed improvement
plan developed with
parents/carers

Utilise the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment to ensure that data
informs commissioning and service
specifications

JSNA informs the 2020/21
Commissioning intentions
for SEND service

Consultant
in Public
Health/Dire
ctor of
Commissio
ning

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common

July 2019

. First meeting of
the benchmarking
network being
planned for June
2019

October
2020

C29

Health
commissioned
services
demonstrate
improved
outcomes for
children, young
people with SEND

% stepped improvement of
young people, parents and carers
reporting a positive experience of
transition to adult health services
to be based on an agreed
partnership baseline
Benchmarking data informs
service improvement supported
by operational plan.

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common
K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common K&R
Finance
Committees in

January
2020

Previous CDC
audit currently
being reviewed

January to
March
2019

A refresh of the
Kingston SEND
JSNA was
published in 2018

and compliance
with reforms

Establish regular SEND Provider Forum
led by the DCO to ensure SEND
reforms are fully embedded in all
health SEND provider services

Provider Forum established with
100% representation from SEND
providers resulting in driving
service improvement

Designated
Clinical
Officer

95% of provider health inputs
into EHCP’s are quality assured
prior to receipt by the SEN team

Common
K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common

From May
2019

% parent/carers and children
report that SEND services
responsive to meeting needs of
CYP with SEND

100% SEND Provider contracts
include a EHCP quality assurance
pathway
100% SEND provider contracts to
include SEND KPIs including the
provision of monthly tracking
information of EHCP requests

Review and update the joint
commissioning arrangements for
SEND Section 75 Agreement with the
Royal Borough of Kingston Upon

Page 27 of 34

● Section 75 updated and
includes documented
agreement of the SEND Joint
commissioning agreements

Director of
Commissio
ning
Children’s
Lead
Commissio
ner

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common

April 2019

Timetable of
service
specifications
developed and
programme of
service
specification
reviews due to
commence
Designated
Medical Officer
draft service
specification
completed

Director of
Commissio
ning

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance

January to
March
2019

C30

Review CCG SEND commissioned
service specifications and provider
contracts to ensure internal quality
assurance processes and pathway in
place to meet statutory requirements
of EHC needs assessments

Effective CCG oversight of SEND
services.
Named SEND leads identified in
all SEND provider contracts

Thames

Commissioning
budgets are used
more effectively to
improve service
access and reduce
waiting times
thereby improving
user experience

Consider the findings from the
Children’s therapy services review
(SALT, Occupational Therapy and
Physiotherapy) across Health and
Education to inform the CCGs and
Councils’ commissioning of SEND
therapy services

A new therapies service offer
agreed by September 2019

●

Planned reduction in existing
waiting times for therapy
services in line with agreed
trajectory following agreed
outcomes of service review

●
●
●
●

●

Consider the findings of review of
therapy services
Undertake review of best practice
service models
Complete demand and capacity
modelling
Therapy thresholds
Reviewed and refresh where
appropriate
Co-design service improvement
and required outcomes with
parent/carers, Children and
young people
Business Case developed

Committees in
Common

Director of
Commissio
ning/AfC

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common.
K&R Finance
Committees in
Common
RBK
Transformatio
n Board

September
2019

A meeting took
place between the
CCG Managing
Director, AFC CE
and Director of
Children Services
to discuss and
agree next steps
regarding

C31

SEND Transformation Commissioning
workstream to establish project to:

●

Page 28 of 34

including Service
Specifications
● Service monitoring provides
assurance and evidence of
improved outcomes
● SEND providers are held to
account through quarterly
contract monitoring meetings
Children’s therapy services plan
developed and agreed by all
partners to inform 2020/21
commissioning intentions

●

Approval of Business Case by
KCCG and Kingston Council
● Commission re-design services
● Additional therapists recruited to
support waiting
● Waiting times monitored at
contract monitoring meetings
Co-design and co-deliver a workshop
to review and improve the 0-5
neuro-development pathway with
parents, carers, children, and key
professionals

Page 29 of 34

NICE compliant pathway in place
by January 2020
● Assessment and diagnostic
waiting time is reduced in
line with the agreed
trajectory
● 75% families report that they
are able to access pre and
post diagnostic information
and support at the right time
● X% increase in families
reporting satisfaction with
the revised
neuro-development pathway
● Revised Service specification
developed and implemented
by April 2020
% increase in the numbers of
personal health budgets agreed
for families in receipt of
Continuing Health Care packages

Director of
Commissio
ning

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common

March
2019

Fast track
assessment
process developed
by DMO

Director of
Quality

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common

March
2020

Currently
implementing
actions to increase
uptake of PHBs

C32

e the uptake of personal health
budgets (PHB)

75% of attendees at the
co-design workshop report
positive engagement and
involvement

Designated
Clinical
Officer

Primary Care is
responsive to the
needs of children
and young people
with SEND

Primary care GPs are aware of
the CCG SEND strategic
leadership responsibilities

Lead
Children’s
Health
Commissio
ner
KCCG
Managing
Director

KCCG
Governing
Body

February
2019

KCCG
Governing
Body

April 2019

April, July,
October
2019,
January
2020
ongoing
May 2019

se CCG Council of Members
seminar/learning events on SEND
reforms to include clarification of
roles and responsibilities

Feedback reports evidence GPs
understanding of SEND
responsibilities

se quarterly primary care feedback on
SEND issues through CCG
communication channels

Feedback reports evidence GPs
understanding and
implementation of SEND
responsibilities

Director of
Primary
Care

KCCG
Governing
Body

Undertake mapping survey of
Kingston GPs to collate primary care
SEND issues

80% response rate to mapping
exercise from GP practices to
inform commissioning of SEND
services

Director of
Primary
Care/ CCG
SEND
Executive
Governing
Body

K&R
Integrated
Quality
Governance
Committees in
Common

C33

Page 30 of 34

outcomes of the SEND Inspection at
Council of Members meeting in
February 2019

Significant Concern 4: To ensure that there is a productive and positive relationship between parents and parent
representatives, including a parent carer forum.
Aim of this programme of work:
To develop effective and proactive partnerships with parents, parent representatives and a Parent Carer Forum that
facilitates effective engagement and co-production in the implementation and embedding of the SEND reforms.

Outcome

Actions

Success Measure(s)

Lead Officer

There will be a
productive and
positive relationship
between the local
authority and CCG and
parents/ carers and
parents
representatives,
including a parent/
carer forum

Positively engage with parents
and their representatives to
scope and develop a local model
which facilitates effective
engagement in co-production and
developments.

Feedback from parents and
their representatives will be
mostly positive, with examples
of good co-production and
engagement activities.

Lead
February
Children’s
2019
Health
Commissioner
and Director
for Education
Services
March 2019

Page 31 of 34

Set up ‘drop in’ sessions for
% of parents of children and
parents and carers to meet senior young people receiving SEND AfC Business
leaders.
support are satisfied with their Support

Timescale

RAG
Progress update
Initial
Initial meeting booked with ‘Contact A
Family’ for November 2018

C34

KPIs / Targets for assessing overall success of the programme:
- Feedback on EHCP and EHCP reviews (which overlap with the success measures in sections 1&2 of the WSoA e.g. % of parents who were satisfied with
their level of engagement in preparing the EHCPs and feel their views were taken into account)
- Feedback from parents of children and young people receiving SEND support e.g. % parents who were satisfied with level of engagement in preparing the
APDR cycle and felt their views were taken into account
- Feedback on the quality of service provision (which overlap with success measures in section 3 on health services)
- % of parents who feel the information, support and advice they receive helps them to participate in the assessment of their child’s need and the planning
of provision to meet these needs
- Number of service developments and processes each year that have been co-produced with parents
- Number of service improvements that have been made as a result of parental feedback and suggestions each year
- Number of parents from under-represented groups who give feedback and are engaged in the development of services

Develop wider models to seek
views of parents and carers
through a variety of activities
which includes a parent panel,
ongoing feedback, and a parent
carer forum.

level of engagement in the
ADPR cycle.

From
February
2019

The local offer will
provide an accurate
and up to date
description of the
available health
Page 32 of 34

Review and refresh the health
Stakeholder reference group
information on the local offer
established including
website
parents/carers/CYP
Work with Public Health to include
health visiting and school nursing

Lead Childrens April to May
Health
2019
Commissioner
KCCG Patient
and Public

C35

% of parents who feel the
information, support and
advice they receive helps them
to participate in the
Develop effective and proactive
assessment of their child’s
partnership with SENDIASS
needs and the planning of
April 2019
through monthly meetings, use of provision to meet these needs. SENDIASS
quarterly feedback to inform
SEN Service
service improvement.
Co-production will result in 8
Manager
activities across the year which
Establish consistent approach and are examples of services and
model for collecting regular
activities developing to meet
feedback across all partners for all the needs of children and
SEN
parental engagement activities
young people.
Leaders/KCCG
e.g. transition meetings, coffee
Evaluation
mornings.
80% of parents attending
ongoing –
drop-in sessions report that
review
Identify specific projects and
they have been positive and
improvemen
commissioning activities where
informative.
t January
parents/ PCF contributions will be
2020
sought
Number of parents from
under-represented groups e.g.
Tamil and Korean who give
feedback and ae engaged in the
development of services.

Specific projects and commissioning
activities where parents/ PCF
contributions will be sought identified as:
Therapies model
Annual Review feedback form
New Free Schools
16-25 local provision
ASD strategy
Terms of Reference and membership of
the group yet to be established.

services that include
clear referral and
access information.

Increased ‘hits’ to the health
section of the Local Offer pre
and post improvements

Engagement
Team

Develop a model for parental
engagement and co-production
that applies for
Policy and service development
e.g. service reviews and design,
commissioning.

Increased attendance and
AD SEND
April 2019
activity – 75% of SEN and
SEN Service
commissioning activity involves Manager
parents
Lead Childrens
Health
Commissioner
Individual levels for parents about
KCCG Patient
EHC process and review and
and Public
transition activities
Engagement
Enhance opportunities for
Team
participation e.g. drop-in
sessions,

Page 33 of 34

80% of parents attending SEN
meetings feedback that it has
been informative and helpful
Number of families from
under-represented groups who
give feedback and are engaged
in the development of the
Service

SEN Manager
Director of
Education
Services
Participation
team

KCCG Patient
and Public

September
2019

C36

Increased
SEN evaluate and update current
opportunities for
models of seeking feedback and
parents and carers to
enhance opportunities for
participate and give
parents to give feedback on
feedback on provision quality of services they receive
to inform future
●Post initial EHCP assessment
activity and
●Transition meetings and
development of
information sessions
services
●Early intervention activity e.g.
SCIP, Earlybird
●SEN support – school to support
consultation at Parent’s Evening
●Specific activities to engage
under-represented groups – use
children’s centres and education
settings, NHS SWL Grass roots

Initial meeting with parents took place
in January 2019

engagement programme
Establish a new Parent
Carer Forum for
Kingston

●Work with Contact to explore
all local options for new Parent
Carer Forum
●Contact to lead local drop in
sessions to gauge interest
●Set up Parent Consortium in first
instance to work alongside the
SEND Partnership Board
●Work with Education Settings to
identify new families who could
be interested and keen to be
involved

Engagement
Team
New Parent Carer Forum
Contact A
established with clear terms of Family AfC
reference and working protocol KCCG
which works alongside Parent
Consortium and other
engagement activity

June 2019

C37

Page 34 of 34

Health & Wellbeing Board

D1

Appendix D

28 March 2018
Board Membership - Representation of Children’s Services
Responsible Portfolio Holder - Leader of the Council

Purpose
To consider a proposal to strengthen the Board representation of Children’s Services.
Recommendations
To Resolve that 1.

A recommendation is made to Council to approve additional representation on the
Board for children’s services and for named alternates to the two positions.

1.

It is proposed to strengthen the representation on the Health and Wellbeing
Board for Children’s Services by adding the Assistant Director for Health
Services, Protection and Early Help, Achieving for Children. This would be in
addition to the Director of Children’s Services (Kingston).

2.

As the Associate Director for Health Services, Protection and Early Help is
currently the named alternate for the Director of Children’s Services, two
nominations are required to provide named alternates for the two positions.
Named alternates are needed as the Board is a committee of the Council.

Timescale
3.

If the proposal is supported by the Board, Full Council will be requested to
approve the membership change and the nominations at the next meeting on 24
April 2019.

Resource Implications - not applicable
Legal Implications - none
Risk Assessment - not applicable
Equalities Impact Assessment - not applicable
Health Implications - not applicable
Environmental & Air Quality Implications - not applicable
Benefits to the Community - not applicable
Background papers - none
Author of report - Marian Morrison, Democratic Services Officer,
marian.morrison@koingston.gov.uk, 020 8547 4623
.

